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T   
he year 2020 will go down in economic 
history as the year of the biggest 
exogenous shock ever recorded to the 
global economy as the propagation of 

the COVID-19 pandemic started to gather speed 
in the second quarter. The IMF estimates that the 
restrictions adopted to respond to the pandemic 
led to an unprecedented synchronised global 
recession, with a 3.5% contraction in output and a 
9.6% plunge in international trade. 

As was the case for other advanced economies, 
France was primarily hit by sharp drops in consumer 
spending and investment, mainly during the 
second quarter. This was the result of the first 
wave of restrictions on personal mobility, as well 
as the disruption of production lines and the 
uncertainty that went with it. Consumer spending 
understandably posted a further dip, when public 
health restrictions were reintroduced at the end 
of the year, but it had seen one of the strongest 

Editorial 
BY EMMANUEL MOULIN  
Director General of the Treasury and 
Chair of AFT

“  Exceptional measures meant that the State’s balance sheet  
ultimately absorbed approximately two-thirds of the shock  

to the French economy  ”

France’s economy in 2020:
resilience to the worldwide 

shock of the COVID-19 
pandemic
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rebounds ever recorded the first time the lockdown 
was eased, whereas investment proved to be more 
resilient than expected during the second half of 
the year. This growth pattern illustrates one of the 
remarkable features of the crisis: as was the case 
in many advanced economies, the public health 
restrictions had a much more severe impact on the 
services sector than they did on industrial output. 

The economic policy response to the crisis initially 
took the form of substantial easing of monetary 
policy, primarily by means of increased asset 
purchases by the central banks of the advanced 
economies. The Fed also cut its key rates to nearly 
0%. This strategy was initially aimed at easing the 
tension seen on the financial markets at the start 
of the second quarter and, later, at maintaining 
favourable market and bank financing conditions, 
specifically by keeping interest rates low. The 
European Central Bank (ECB)’s intervention was 
crucial for curbing the rise in long-term interest 
rates in all of the euro area countries, thereby 
preventing the risk of fragmentation in the euro 
area. The ECB’s enhanced quantitative easing 
policy, including the Pandemic Emergency 
Purchase Programme (PEPP), which stimulated 
demand for safe assets in the euro area, made it 
possible to absorb the increase in sovereign debt 
issuance, including France’s, which was particularly 
large because of the extraordinary fiscal policies 
instituted in response to the crisis.

At the same time, fiscal policy has played a key 
role, complementing the ECB’s monetary policy. 
First of all, an emergency support plan raised funds 
equivalent to slightly more than one-fifth of GDP 
for a short-time working scheme for wage earners, 
a solidarity fund for small businesses, deferment 
of taxes and social security contributions, and 

government guarantees for bank loans to 
businesses. In addition, a €100bn recovery plan 
for the French economy that focuses on the 
environment, competitiveness and cohesion was 
also launched in September 2020 to consolidate 
the emerging economic recovery. The €100bn 
plan includes €40bn in funding from the European 
Recovery Fund, which was created in the third 
quarter. The financial markets welcomed the 
announcement of the fund. 

All in all, these exceptional measures have meant 
that the State’s balance sheet has absorbed an 
estimated two-thirds of the shock to the French 
economy, four-fifths of which had initially 
been borne by the corporate sector. The loss 
of disposable household income was reduced 
substantially to stand at only −1%, despite the shock. 
The negative impact on businesses’ cash holdings 
was also largely offset by the deferment of taxes 
and social security contributions, along with tax 
credits and the short-time working compensation 
scheme. Following a contraction of 8% in 2020, 
France’s economy is expected to rebound with 
growth of 5% in 2021 and return to its pre-pandemic 
activity level in 2022. ■
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I
nitially, 2020 was not expected to be an 
especially ordinary year, since Parliament 
passed an Initial Budget Act with a borrowing 
requirement of €230.5bn. This meant that 

AFT was to carry out a medium- and long-term 

borrowing programme with issuance of €205bn. 

This was already the largest State borrowing 

programme in history, representing an increase of 

€5bn compared to 2019. 

But this amount was to be merely the starting point. 

The severity of the public health and economic 

shock that hit the country led to a sweeping 

revision of the State borrowing plans to cope with 

a recession on a historic scale that not only caused 

government revenue to plummet, but also called 

for the deployment of unprecedented resources 

to prevent the collapse of the country’s production 

capacities. 

The larger fiscal deficit caused by the COVID-19 

crisis led to a series of Supplementary Budget Acts 

that increased the State borrowing requirement 

to €364bn (Supplementary Budget Act of July 

2020). No previous crisis had ever caused such a 

large increase in the State borrowing requirement. 

AFT had to use all of the financing instruments 

at its disposal to meet this requirement, bringing 

the value of the medium- and long-term issuance 

programme up to an unprecedented €260bn. This 

meant increasing the size and number of auctions, 

making an additional syndicated issue, on top of the 

two issues initially planned, and turning to the very 

deep short-term money market. After planning to 

increase outstanding debt by €82.9bn (compared 

to only €10bn in the Initial Budget Act), the actual 

increase in borrowing was limited to €54.7bn 

after a downward revision of the actual borrowing 

requirement at the end of the year. 

At the same time, AFT was asked to support other 

public sector entities faced with larger borrowing 

requirements, including the central agency for social 

security bodies (ACOSS). AFT also worked on deals 

A word 
FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
By Anthony Requin

The historic shock caused  
by the COVID-19 crisis

revealed the resilience of  
the State’s financing system built on  

AFT and its ecosystem
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“   Central banks’ monetary policies will resume their normal 
course and the laws of gravity will apply once again. That is the 

situation we can expect to contend with, and we need to be 
ready for it.   ”

Anthony Requin, Chief Executive of AFT

to assume €136bn in debt with the teams from the 
Social Security Debt Repayment Fund (CADES), 
who are now part of AFT. Parliament passed the 
assumption of this debt in the third quarter and 
the first borrowing operations for this purpose 
raised €20bn towards the end of the year under an 
innovative social bond issuance programme. 

AFT was also able to adapt its practical working 
arrangements in order to carry out its mission under 
the restrictions imposed by pandemic prevention 
measures, lockdowns and the expansion of 
teleworking. These adaptations made it possible 
to ensure business continuity and enabled AFT to 
maintain its activities throughout the year. All of 
its computer equipment and software proved to 
be perfectly reliable so that the State’s financial 
continuity never came under threat. 

However, the overall figures do not show the full 
severity of the shock that hit the financial markets 
in March 2020 and threatened the continued 
existence of the borrowing channels that all 
economic players rely on. Once again, we must 
salute the decisive role played by the ECB, which 
took aggressive action, such as the launch of 
the Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme 
(PEPP) to supplement the existing asset purchase 
programme and its longer-term refinancing 
operations (LTROs) that provide liquidity for the 
banking system. The ECB’s rapid and determined 
response, along with the cooperative joint action of 
European governments and the European Union, 
reassured and stabilised the markets, which meant 
that investors had no difficulty absorbing much 
larger volumes of European governments’ debt 
issuance. 

AFT was able to carry out its borrowing programme 
under unprecedented financial conditions, with 

an average yield of −0.30% over the year in 2020. 

It was also the first time in history that France’s 

medium- and long-term borrowing carried negative 

yields (−0.13%). 

However, it would be a mistake to think that this 

crisis will have a permanent impact on the universal 

laws of the financial economy. Such large deficits 

and borrowing requirements at such low yields 

are only sustainable with the exceptional liquidity 

provided by the central banks and the deployment 

of non-standard policies for the purchase of public 

sector securities. Once the risks of deflation have 

been eliminated in the long term, the central banks 

will resume their normal monetary policies and the 

laws of gravity will apply once again. That is the 

situation we can expect to contend with, and we 

need to be ready for it. 

Many challenges will remain in 2021 to finance 

the government’s measures to respond to the 

pandemic and its economic repercussions, and to 

finance the recovery plan. The following years will 

also bring equally huge challenges as we gradually 

reverse the debt trajectory and consolidate public 

credit. This is essential, if we want to be able to 

deploy the same contra-cyclical response capacity 

to meet a future crisis. 

The State can perform its tasks in the best interest 

of French taxpayers by relying on a proven debt-

management model that is flexible, transparent 

and consistent, as well as on the expertise and 

unwavering commitment of AFT’s staff members, 

whose hard work and dedication in 2020 I would 

like to single out for praise. The resilience that AFT 

has shown throughout this crisis is thanks to them.■
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ABOUT AFT

At the end of 2020, AFT had 47 staff members 
(19 women and 28 men;  

20 contract employees and 27 civil servants). 
AFT’s staff members are notable for the 

diversity of their education and experience. 
They share the same values as the Directorate 
General of the Treasury, namely commitment, 

loyalty, openness and team spirit. All staff 
members adhere to strict commitments with 

regard to professional ethics.
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ABOUT AFT

Managing the State’s cash requirements

AFT manages the State’s cash requirements so that it can meet its 
financial commitments at all times, whatever the circumstances. 

This management role covers the year as a whole, as well 
as day-to-day developments: forecasts of the receipts and 
disbursements of the State and of Treasury correspondents 
are updated constantly; flows into and out of the account are 
monitored in order to be able to meet any temporary cash 
requirements. 

Managing the State’s debt 

AFT is tasked with managing debt in the taxpayers’ best interest. 
Its strategy takes a long-term view, while tracking the market 
closely. This strategy promotes liquidity across the full range of 
AFT’s debt securities, while maintaining full transparency and a 
commitment to combining innovation and security. 

An autonomous, accountable agency with national scope

AFT is an agency with national scope (SCN) that reports to the 
Ministry for the Economy, Finance and the Recovery and the 
Director General of the Treasury. AFT has the required visibility and 
resources to carry out its activities, particularly as regards navigating 
complex financial markets and maintaining close relations with all 
financial stakeholders. 

The fact that AFT reports to the Directorate General of the Treasury 
at the Ministry for the Economy, Finance and the Recovery means 
that it has access to the full range of information it needs to carry 
out its strictly defined tasks. It often works closely with the other 
structures at the Ministry, such as the Budget Directorate and the 
Public Finances Directorate General. 

AFT is staffed by civil servants who are fully conversant with the 
government’s financial procedures and by market professionals 
under contract with the government. Staff members serve in 
operational functions (cash management, market transactions, risk 
management and post-trade procedures, information technology) 
analytical functions (modelling, economics and legal) and 
communication functions. 

Tasks and  
functions

TASKS Financing  
operations 
EXECUTED ON BEHALF  
OF CADES

On 1 October 2017, the staff of France’s Social 
Security Debt Repayment Fund (CADES) and AFT 
staff joined forces to create a centre of excellence 
for the issuance of French government securities. 
As part of this arrangement, CADES has given 
AFT operational responsibility for its financing 
activities. AFT acts in the name of and on behalf 
of CADES, using its own seconded staff. 

The economic crisis following the COVID-19 
pandemic has had a severe impact on social 
security finances with an accumulation of large 
deficits in 2020 that will persist in the coming 
years. Under the circumstances, a constitutional 
bylaw and an ordinary act were promulgated 
on 7 August 2020 to arrange the assumption of 
€136bn in social debt by CADES. The redemption 
date for this debt has been put back from 2024 
to 2033.

Key dates in 2020:

➜  7 August 2020: promulgation of the constitutional 
bylaw and the ordinary act regarding CADES

➜  31 August 2020: approval of the social bond 
issuance process by the CADES board of directors

➜  9 September 2020: first issuance of social bonds
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ABOUT AFT

FUNCTIONS 

To perform its State debt and cash management 
tasks, AFT has a directorate general, a secretariat 
general and the following units: 

1. Cash Unit
• Cash forecasts 

•  Relations with the Banque de France as the Treasury’s 
banker

•  Relations with government authorising officers and 
accountants 

•  Cash management transactions: loans and deposits, repo 
transactions in government securities

2. Debt Unit
• Auctions, syndicated issues, buybacks 

• Relations with the primary dealers 

• Proactive debt management transactions 

• Promotion of Treasury securities to investors 

3. Post-Trade And Risk Monitoring Unit
•  Review and settlement of financial transactions and 

reporting all data to the Ministry’s Budget and Accounting 
Control Department 

•  Redemption and coupon payments 

•  Monitoring of credit, counterparty and settlement risks for 
all financial transactions; management of margin calls 

•  Administrative management of the Public Debt Fund 

4. Research And Strategy Unit
•  Quantitative contribution to the definition and execution of 

the State’s financing strategy 

•  Monitoring of fixed-income markets and relations with 
primary dealers’ strategists 

•  Coordination of working groups with other public sector 
issuers (EU, OECD, etc.) 

•  Secretariat for the AFT Strategic Committee 

5. Macroeconomics Unit
•  Assessing how fixed income markets are affected by the 

macroeconomic and financial climate, fiscal and monetary 
policies and discussions on structural policies

•  Talking with French and foreign investors and market 
stakeholders

•  Relations with rating agencies

6. Green OAT Unit
•  Coordinating the interministerial process to select eligible 

green expenditure for the Green OAT 

•  Tracking the allocation of green expenditure and producing 
the Allocation and Performance Report

•  Contributing to the promotion and reach of the Green OAT

7. Information Technology Unit
•  Administering and operating the information system to 

provide the information technology tools necessary for 
AFT’s tasks

•  Leading projects to implement new software and services

•  Monitoring and applying the information system security 
policy and maintaining information technology resources 
under the business continuity plan

8.  Internal Control, Compliance, Risk Policy and 
Legal Affairs Unit
•  Internal control of transactions, defining the general 

business framework and risk mapping for AFT and CADES

•  Coordination of the AFT Risk Committee’s audit, 
coordination and secretariat functions

•  Management of legal and compliance risks for AFT and 
CADES transactions

•  Management of rules of professional conduct for AFT staff, 
definition of AFT confidentiality policy and monitoring their 
implementation

9. Communications Unit
•  External communications: reporting on AFT’s work 

and assignments and promoting events to the financial 
community and the media

•  Internal communications: monitoring and gathering 
information, creating communication tools

•  Digital communications: managing AFT’s website and 
social media and deploying AFT’s digital presence
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ANTHONY  
REQUIN

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CYRIL  
ROUSSEAU
DEPUTY CHIEF  

EXECUTIVE

STRATEGIC  
COMMITTEE

INTERNAL CONTROL, 
COMPLIANCE, RISK 
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GENERAL

CASH 
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ABOUT AFT

Hongyan Li 
CEO and CIO  
of the State 

Administration of  
Foreign Exchange (SAFE), 

Central Bank of China

Strategic Committee

T
he Strategic Committee assists AFT in the 
performance of its tasks. The committee, 
along with the primary dealers, advises AFT 
on the main facets of the State’s issuance 

policy. The committee acts in an advisory capacity 
to help AFT apply its issuance policy principles. 
The committee members are leading French and 
international figures whose careers, experience 
and in-depth knowledge of how financial markets 
work provide AFT with a broad range of skills and 
expertise. 

More specifically, the Strategic Committee’s role is 
to give its opinion on the principles governing the 
State’s issuance policy and cash management. More 
generally, its role is to advise on any matter related 
to AFT’s business and on areas for improvement. 

The Strategic Committee meets twice a year. The 
meetings are an opportunity to report on AFT’s past 
activity and to set this activity against economic 
developments and present the assumptions that will 
underlie AFT’s work in the future.

Members of the Strategic Committee at 31 December 2020

Chair

Members

Jacques de Larosière
Former Governor of the Banque de France, 
former Managing Director of the International 
Monetary Fund

Marc-Antoine 
Autheman

Former Chair of  
the Board of Directors  

of Euroclear

Laurence 
Boone

Chief Economist  
at the OECD

Günther  
Braünig 

Member of the 
Board of Directors 

of KfW

Satu Huber 
CEO of Elo Mutual 
Pension Insurance 

Company

Assaad J. Jabre
Business consultant, 

former Vice-President of 
the International Finance 
Corporation (World Bank 

Group)

René Karsenti
Chair of the 

International Capital 
Market Association 

(ICMA)

Bertrand de  
Mazières

Director General of 
Finance at the European 

Investment Bank (EIB)

Chow-Kiat Lim 
CEO of Government  

of Singapore Investment 
Corporation (GIC)

Dino Kos
Head of Global 

Regulatory Affairs  
of CLS
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PARTNERS

A
ll the State’s financial flows (expenditure 
and revenue), along with the Treasury 
correspondents’ flows, are centralised 
in real time through a single account 

held with the Banque de France and managed 
by AFT. The single account records all of the 
financial movements executed by more than 5,000 
public accountants, who each use one or more 
transaction accounts. 

This structure enables the Banque de France to 
provide AFT with a centralised, real-time view 
of the Treasury’s single account so that AFT can 
make medium-term and long-term forecasts of 
expenditure and financing in order to optimise the 
State’s cash management.

AFT also relies on Banque de France staff for the 
practical organisation of Treasury security auctions 
and oversight of the settlement process for the 
securities sold.

Acting as an intermediary between AFT and the 
primary dealers, the Banque de France receives 
the primary dealers’ bids and then compiles an 
anonymous summary of the orders and presents it 
to AFT, which uses it to allocate each security.

The Banque de France has developed a computer 
system to perform this task successfully. It is a 
dedicated and highly secure remote bidding system 
for Treasury auctions called TELSAT (Système de 
Télétransmission des soumissions aux adjudications 
du Trésor). Primary dealers use the system to submit 
their bids and AFT uses it to allocate Treasury 
securities. 

The Banque de France provides this service under 
the terms of separate agreements with AFT and 
each primary dealer.

Banque  
de France
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PARTNERS

T
hey advise and assist AFT with its issuance 
policy and debt management, and more 
generally, with any matter concerning the 
smooth operation of markets. 

The members of the primary dealers’ group have 
changed over time. Their ranks grew from 13 in 
1987 to 22 soon after 2000. The latest selection 
numbered 15. Today’s group of primary dealers 
represents the diversity of institutions active on the 
French government debt market: major retail banks, 
specialised institutions, and French and foreign 
institutions. 

As at 31 December 2020, the group of primary 
dealers was made up of 15 institutions from 
diverse areas of the world, including four French 
institutions, two German institutions, three British 
institutions, five North American institutions and 
one Japanese institution. This diversity underlines 
the central role and appeal of French Treasury 
securities on the euro debt market. 

It is the primary dealers’ responsibility to participate 
in auctions, place Treasury securities and ensure the 
liquidity of the secondary market. 

AFT deals with them as necessary for them to 
perform their duties: 

•  Overseeing the proper functioning of primary 
issues 

•  Ensuring the liquidity of the secondary market in 
French Treasury securities and upholding their 
status as some of the euro area’s most liquid 
securities 

•  Promoting the market for Treasury securities 

•  Providing constant and highly pertinent advice 
to AFT on issuance policy, debt management, 
promoting the State’s creditworthiness, hedging 
the State’s financial risks and the workings of the 
fixed-income markets 

These duties are set out in a charter* that governs 
the relations between AFT and the primary dealers, 
who have signed the charter and pledged to 
comply with it. They also undertake to act ethically 
and comply with marketplace best practices when 
carrying out their transactions.

PRIMARY DEALERS 
Primary dealers are  

AFT’s close counterparties for  
all of its market operations.

* www.aft.gouv.fr/en/primary-dealers-presentation
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PARTNERS

Primary dealers’ view of  
the COVID crisis 

“The speed and severity with 
which the COVID-19 crisis was 
propagated to the financial markets 
once again showed the unique and 
robust character of the partnership 
between AFT and its primary 
dealers. As the leading primary 
dealer, BNP Paribas was unwavering 
in its commitment to ensure the 
liquidity of the securities on a daily 
basis, to ensure proper execution of 
transactions, despite the historically 
large amounts, and to provide 
real-time advice for auctions 
and syndicated deals, where we 
acted as lead book runner for all 
transactions.”

“The 2020 crisis was a truly global 
and spectacular crisis in terms 
of public health. It also had an 
unprecedented economic impact 
that was more severe than the 
2008 crisis. On the other hand, 
there were exceptional swings on 
the financial markets, but they were 
eventually checked by government 
and central bank intervention. The 
sharp increase in borrowing all over 
the world actually revealed the 
exceptional resilience of the French 
model established by AFT, which 
was able to provide an appropriate 
and timely response to such 
completely atypical events.”

“Despite severe volatility related to 
COVID-19 and exceptional market 
conditions, AFT managed to carry 
out a record-breaking borrowing 
programme of €260bn in 2020, 
with an average yield of −0.13%, 
compared to 0.11% in 2019, and to 
increase the average duration of its 
bonds at the same time. AFT was 
able to maintain its course through 
this uncertain period, holding 
its auctions every other week as 
usual, thereby proving the strong 
resilience of its financing model and 
the quality of French debt, which is 
seen as a ‘safe haven’ by domestic 
and international investors in times 
of crisis.”

“The rapid deployment of massive 
fiscal support measures in response 
to the COVID-19 crisis by France, 
other sovereign euro area States 
and such European institutions as 
the European Central Bank and the 
European Union made it possible to 
gain the confidence of the markets. 
This meant that resilience of the 
financial markets in 2020 enabled 
them to meet the exceptional 
increase in borrowing requirements, 
which grew by 45% across the 
euro-denominated public sector, 
including a 27% increase for France. 

“All financial market participants, 
issuers, investors and intermediaries 
have shown an unbelievable 
capacity for adaptation in the 
face of a totally unfamiliar 
environment that made them 
have to rethink their operating 
methods. Successfully adjusting 
to these new working conditions 
meant the primary and secondary 
markets were able continue 
operating normally, thereby 
enabling public-sector issuers to 
meet the unprecedented increase 
in their borrowing requirements 
and play their full part as a support 
for society and the economy. The 
successful implementation of 
France’s borrowing programme in 
2020 is a perfect illustration of this 
capacity for adaptation on the part 
of AFT and the primary dealers.”

AFT proved to be responsive, agile 
and flexible, enabling it to carry out 
its whole borrowing programme 
on the best terms. The success of 
the syndicated issues of new OATs 
(€5bn maturing in 30 years) and 
OATis (€3bn maturing in 15 years), 
which had the lowest yield ever 
(0.10%) and a record-breaking order 
book (€16bn) for an inflation-linked 
bond, testifies to AFT’s leading role 
on the euro market. HSBC is proud 
to have worked with AFT on these 
two transactions.”

  They share their experiences of getting through  
the year and dealing with the crisis  
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PARTNERS

“In 2020, the year of the pandemic, 
we had to cope with record-
breaking gross issuance of 
European sovereign bonds. This 
issuance was feasible thanks to 
the ECB’s quantitative easing: the 
launch of the PEPP played a crucial 
role in sustaining market operations. 
Whereas interdealers’ screens went 
blank in March, we posted record 
levels of transactions on electronic 
trading platforms, highlighting the 
critical role that primary dealers play 
in highly volatile markets. EGB yields 
hit historically negative levels (10-
year Bund at −0.85%) and issuers 
launched benchmark bonds for 
new maturities, such as 7 years and 
15 years.”

“Under exceptional circumstances, 
AFT faced an immense need for 
liquidity. This reinforced the primary 
dealers’ task. The experts from 
Natixis and the whole BPCE Group 
worked alongside AFT staff to meet 
the needs of France’s economy 
and businesses. Natixis stepped up 
its commitment and deployed its 
capacities for innovation to meet 
the challenge. Its contribution 
included structuring social bonds 
issued by French public sector 
institutions, participating in every 
auction, as the crisis drove issuance 
volumes up, and the BPCE 
Group’s granting nearly €31bn in 
government-guaranteed loans, one 
year after their launch.”

“The year 2020 was unlike any 
previous year on the debt market, 
in terms of both issuance volume 
and the frequency of issues. The 
bond market remained open 
and functional thanks to the 
support of the central banks and 
coordinated fiscal support from 
European governments. In the 
face of the challenges stemming 
from COVID-19 and a new market 
environment, Morgan Stanley’s 
teams remained operational and 
fully committed to accompanying 
AFT and French agencies through 
this exceptional period. The access 
of sovereign and quasi-sovereign 
European issuers to the bond 
market proved to be very robust, 
despite big increases in their 
borrowing programmes, which 
underscores the creditworthiness 
of sovereign borrowers in the euro 
area.”

“As our customers found their way 
through the uncertainty caused by 
the pandemic, we played a leading 
role on the market by helping them 
meet their needs for financing, 
liquidity and risk management. 
We carried out a number of 
major deals and continued to 
help businesses, banks, financial 
institutions, governments and 
economies rebuild.”

“The debt market showed itself 
to be very robust during the 
COVID-19 crisis, stabilising very 
rapidly, thanks to the virtually 
instantaneous action of the central 
banks on an unprecedented scale. 
The mobilisation and cooperation 
between European States and 
institutions (European Commission, 
ECB, etc.) made it possible to 
avert a potential liquidity crisis very 
quickly, by ensuring a sound and 
deep market. These challenges 
have left us feeling humbler, but 
also stronger and more European. 
Primary dealers played their full 
part and enabled AFT to issue 
volumes that would previously have 
been unimaginable, and to do so 
without incident and on extremely 
advantageous terms for taxpayers.”
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PARTNERS

Since 1999, AFT has published an annual ranking of the most active primary dealers. The assessment of 
primary dealers’ activity considers all of their tasks: bidding at auctions, dealing on the secondary market, 
qualitative aspects of the relationship between the primary dealers and AFT (operational quality, quality of 
advice, and the closeness and stability of the relationship with AFT). 

2020 league table of  
primary dealers

GENERAL RANKING OF THE TOP 10 INSTITUTIONS 
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PRIMARY MARKET 

Ranking of the top 10 institutions for involvement in auctions and buybacks:
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SECONDARY MARKET 

Ranking of the top 10 institutions for market-making activity on the secondary market in French Treasury 
securities:

Ranking of the top 10 institutions for quality of service provided to AFT:
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Investor  
relations

INVESTOR RELATIONS ARE A PRIORITY

T
hroughout the year, AFT holds regular 
meetings with investors (investment 
managers, portfolio managers, economists, 
etc.) to maintain and forge long-term 

relationships both in France and abroad. It uses 
these meetings to promote government securities.

These meetings provide an opportunity to outline 
the State’s issuance strategy, the technical strengths 
of its debt management and to promote a better 
understanding of France’s and Europe’s economic 
situations, economic and fiscal policy and the 
structural reforms underway. Investors can use 
these meetings to give their opinion of France 
and its debt market, thus providing vital feedback 
for policy-makers. This regular groundwork helps 
maintain investors’ positive image of France. The 
State debt investor base is diversified both in terms 
of geography and categories. 

French investors held 49.9% of French State debt 
on 31 December 2020 and non-resident investors, 

including a large share from the euro area, held 
50.1%. The investors are central banks, sovereign 
wealth funds, asset managers, commercial banks, 
insurance companies and pension funds. This 
diversity is an important factor for the security of 
French debt that optimises the State’s borrowing 
costs in all market situations. The French State’s 
unprecedented borrowing terms in 2020, with 
a negative weighted average yield on medium- 
and long-term debt for the first time in its history, 
standing at −0.13%, reflect investor confidence in 
France’s creditworthiness and the technical quality 
of its debt.

However, 2020 saw a change in the nature, 
frequency and circumstances of AFT’s outreach 
to investors. In the first half of the year, worldwide 
restrictions on travel meant that the priority was 
put on adjusting and completing the issuance 
programme. It was not until September that AFT 
arranged its first virtual meetings with investors.
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AFT has conducted an investor survey every year 
since 2002 to assess their opinion of French debt. 

IEM Finance conducted the 18th survey of primary 
dealers’ customers online between 7 September 
and 2 October 2020. The survey considered the 
quality of business relationships and the services 
primary dealers render to their customers, along 
with the customers’ assessment of how well the 
French debt market works. In 2020, 197 investors 
filled in the questionnaire. The respondents 
represented most of the major asset managers 
and insurers, along with many government-funded 
institutions that trade in French debt. 

Investors’ satisfaction with the functioning of the 
French government debt market remains very high. 
The proportion among French investors stood 
at 100% for the fourth year in a row. Across all 
investors, satisfaction is up over the previous year: 
98.9% reported that they were “very satisfied” or 
“satisfied” in 2020, compared to 97.1% in 2019. 

The liquidity of OATs, BTFs and inflation-linked 
bonds is deemed to be “very satisfactory” or “fairly 
satisfactory” by the vast majority of investors. The 
proportions of investors able to assess the liquidity 
of these securities and rating it as satisfactory stood 
at 98.3% for OATs, 94.6% for BTFs and 70.5% for 
inflation-linked bonds. 

In addition to the information provided by AFT, the 
vast majority of investors (96.6%) continue to report 
that they are “satisfied” with the information that 
they receive from French government institutions 
regarding economic policy and public finances. This 
figure stood at 90.1% in 2019. 

The vast majority of investors report that they are 
“very satisfied” or “fairly satisfied” with tap issues 
(93.2%). This figure stood at 94.9% in 2019. 

The proportion of investors who have already 
purchased the Green OAT (OAT 1.75% 25 June 
2039) continued to increase substantially, rising 
from 40.2% in 2019 to 45.8% in 2020. Nearly two-
thirds of these investors reported that they bought 
it for its green appeal. Of the investors giving an 
opinion, 93.9% reported that they were “satisfied” 
with the information published about the Green 
OAT. 

SURVEY CONDUCTED BY IEM FINANCE

learn more...

https://bit.ly/2ApYyTB
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International public  
debt and cash  
management  

working groups

SUB-COMMITTEE ON EU SOVEREIGN 
DEBT MARKETS (EUROPEAN UNION)

WORKING PARTY ON PUBLIC DEBT MANAGEMENT (OECD) 

PUBLIC DEBT MANAGEMENT 
FORUM (IMF)

The Sub-Committee on EU Sovereign Debt Markets 
(ESDM) is a sub-group of the Economic and 
Financial Committee (EFC) of the Council of the 
European Union. It is responsible for coordinating 
issuance policy (timetable and amounts as provided 
for in the 2012 regulations), preparing common 
positions for the various Member States on 
regulatory matters and technical aspects relating 
to the sovereign debt market. It also ensures that 
the information disseminated about the different 
Member States’ debt issues is harmonised. 

This is the group that developed the collective 
action clauses (CACs) for euro area sovereign 
debt in 2012 and that started to revise these legal 
provisions in 2019 (see box, page 22). The group 
meets at least three times a year in Brussels. Its 
meetings were held online in 2020. 

➜  Website:  
http://europa.eu/efc/about-sub-committee

The OECD Working Party on Public Debt Management (WPDM) provides a forum for sovereign debt 
managers to meet and discuss their views, experiences and policies. It publishes standardised statistics and 
reports comparing the management approaches adopted in different countries. The group meets twice a 
year, usually in Paris. 

➜ Website: www.oecd.org/finance/public-debt

The forum meets once every two years, alternating 
between Washington and an IMF member country. 
It is attended by all public debt managers, along 
with representatives from the private sector, 
international institutions and market regulators. The 
aim of the forum is to discuss current public debt 
management issues with regard to developments in 
the economic and regulatory environment. 

Working closely with the World Bank, this group 
helped to review the Guidelines for Public Debt 
Management, an initiative undertaken by the G20 
in 2013. The 2014 forum was organised jointly with 
AFT in Paris. In 2019, the forum met in Tokyo. 

➜  Website: www.imf.org/en/News/
Articles/2019/06/21/pr19232public-debt-
management-forum-tackles-new-instruments-
and-new-investors-in-sovereign-markets

AFT represents France as a member of various public debt and  
cash management working groups, including the EFC’s Sub-Committee on  

EU Sovereign Debt Markets, the OECD’s Working Party on Public  
Debt Management and the IMF’s Public Debt Management Forum.
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GOVERNMENT BORROWERS’ FORUM

PUBLIC SECTOR ISSUER FORUM

AFT also takes part in the World Bank’s Government 
Borrowers’ Forum, an annual event that brings together 
senior civil servants from countries issuing securities 
on international capital markets and the treasurers of 
supranational organisations to share their debt management 
experience and discuss their views on issues of common 
interest on financial markets. Approximately 100 senior debt 
managers from some 40 countries attend the forum. The 
World Bank Treasury provides the secretariat for the forum. 
A different country hosts the forum each year. The 2016 
Government Borrowers Forum took place on 2, 3 and 4 May 
at the French Ministry for the Economy and Finance in Paris 
and was hosted by AFT. The 2020 forum was cancelled 
because of the pandemic.

➜  Website: www.worldbank.org/en/events/2018/10/29/
sovereign-debt-management-forum-2018-is-there-life-
after-debt

AFT also takes part in the European Public Sector Issuer 
Forum. The International Capital Market Association (ICMA) 
provides the secretariat for the forum. The aim of the forum’s 
meetings is to discuss issuers’ practices and issues facing the 
ecosystem that they belong to.

➜  Website: www.icmagroup.org/Regulatory-Policy-and-
Market-Practice/Primary-Markets/primary-market-
committees/public-sector-issuer-forum

COLLECTIVE  
ACTION CLAUSES

Sovereign bonds have specific characteristics and 
may include collective action clauses (CACs) aimed 
at making restructuring procedures more orderly 
and predictable. Several countries have included 
CACs in loan agreements and bond contracts since 
the 1990s. These clauses enable a “super majority” 
of creditors to agree to changes in key payment 
terms in the contract, based on a proposal from 
the issuer. This makes it possible to overcome 
the problems that recalcitrant individual creditors 
(holdouts) can cause in a restructuring process. 
Holding out may enable particularly stubborn 
creditors to obtain better terms, but it entails major 
negative consequences for the debtor countries 
and, in the worst cases, it can compromise the 
restructuring process. In 2011, the EU Member 
States in the euro area decided to include “double-
limb” CACs, with dual aggregation thresholds for 
creditors’ votes, in sovereign bonds issued in 2013 
and thereafter. In 2018, following the finalisation 
of a new international standard at the initiative of 
the ICMA, which was promoted by the G20 and 
the IMF in 2014, the Eurogroup proposed that the 
euro area leaders should work towards introducing 
CACs with a single aggregation threshold for 
creditors’ votes (“single-limb CACs”) as part of the 
euro area governance reform. Consequently, this 
commitment was included in the 2019 draft of the 
revised European Stability Mechanism Treaty. As 
was the case in 2012, the EFC Sub-Committee on 
EU Sovereign Debt Markets drafted the single-limb 
collective action clauses. These CACs are slated to 
come into force on 1 January 2022, once the new 
ESM Treaty has been approved and implemented. 
They will apply to every bond with over one-year 
maturity issued by euro area Member States. Bonds 
issued between 1 January 2013 and the entry into 
force of the future CACs will still be subject to the 
current system of double-limb CACs, which will 
also apply to future tap issues of these bonds.
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Key figures for 2020

50.1% 
Non-residents’ holdings of negotiable debt securities 

at end-2020 at market value

€2,001bn
NEGOTIABLE DEBT 

OUTSTANDING AT END-2020

−0.13%
WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELD 

OF MEDIUM-  
AND LONG-TERM FIXED- 

RATE SECURITIES

AVERAGE RESIDUAL 
MATURITY 

OF DEBT AT END-2020

OUTSTANDING
 INTEREST-

 RATE SWAPS  
AT END-2020

€1bn 

8 years
73 days 
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2020  
highlights

17 JANUARY

Creation of the OAT 0.00% 25 February 
2023, a new three-year benchmark bond.

27 JANUARY 

Syndicated launch of the OAT 0.75% 25 May 
2052 with an order book of €26.5bn and 
allocation of €5bn. The yield at issue of 0.727% 
was the lowest ever recorded for the syndicated 
launch of a 30-year OAT.

18 MARCH

Amendment of the State borrowing programme 
as part of the presentation of the 2020 
Supplementary Budget Bill. Medium- and long-term 
issuance in 2020, net of buybacks, was increased to 
€210bn.

15 APRIL

Amendment of the State borrowing programme 
as part of the presentation of the second 2020 
Supplementary Budget Bill. Medium- and long-
term issuance, net of buybacks, will stand at 
€245bn.

26 MAY

Syndicated launch of the OAT 0.50% 25 May 2040 
with an order book of €51bn and allocation of 
€7bn. The yield at issue of 0.525% was the lowest 
ever recorded for the syndicated launch of a  
20-year OAT.

23 JANUARY

The amount of eligible green expenditure 
in 2020 to be funded by potential issuance 

of the Green OAT 1.75% 25 June 2039 was 
announced at €8bn.

28 FEBRUARY

Publication of the 2019 league  
table of primary dealers.

12 APRIL

Creation of the OAT 0.00% 25 February 
2026, a new five-year benchmark bond.

29 MAY

Creation of the OAT 0.00% 25 November 
2030, a new 10-year benchmark bond.

18 MAY

Two amendments were introduced in the 
2020 indicative State financing programme 

presented on 11 December 2019, with the 
creation of a new 20-year bond and the 

holding of a second auction in August.
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10 JUNE 

Amendment of the State borrowing 
programme as part of the presentation of the 
third 2020 Supplementary Budget Bill. Medium- 
and long-term issuance, net of buybacks, will 
stand at €260bn.

6 JULY 

Publication of the second Allocation 
and Performance Report on green bond 
expenditure in 2019, in keeping with the 
transparency commitments made when the 
bond was launched.

28 SEPTEMBER 

AFT announced that the forecast amount of 
its 2021 borrowing programme under  
the terms of the 2020 Budget Bill would  
stand at €260bn.

6 NOVEMBER 

Findings of the 18th survey of primary 
dealers’ customers conducted by  
IEM Finance: investor satisfaction with  
the way the French government debt  
market works remained high, with 100% of 
French investors and 98.9% of all investors 
reporting that they were “very satisfied” or 
“satisfied” in 2020.

9 DECEMBER

AFT announced its indicative  
borrowing programme for 2021.

12 JUNE 

Creation of the OAT€i 0.10% 
 1 March 2026, a new five-year  

benchmark bond linked to  
euro area inflation.

8 JULY 

Syndicated launch of the OATi 0.10%  
1 March 2036 with an order book of  

€16bn and allocation of €3bn.  
The yield at issue of −0.630% was  

the lowest ever recorded for  
the syndicated launch of  

an index-linked OAT.

4 NOVEMBER 

Amendment of the State  
borrowing programme as part of  

the presentation of the fourth 2020 
Supplementary Budget Bill.  

Issuance of medium- and long-term debt,  
net of buybacks, will still come to €260bn.

27 NOVEMBER

The independent Green OAT Evaluation Council 
published the second Green OAT impact 

evaluation report on the subsidy to the National 
Forestry Commission (ONF).
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T
he AFT Secretariat General provided 
support for the entire agency throughout 
the crisis, communicating and enforcing 
health safety rules and implementing new 

ways of working.

AFT did everything it could to ensure the continuity 
of its crucial tasks for the 2020 auction programme, 
the implementation of the recovery plan, the 
preparation of the 2021 borrowing programme 
and the first phase of the assumption of €136bn in 
social debt by CADES. This meant ensuring that it 
could perform its tasks safely and in compliance 
with COVID-19 prevention measures and social 
distancing requirements.

The entire agency managed to adapt very rapidly, 
right from the start of the pandemic. Before the 
lockdown, AFT instituted two shifts. The teams 
working these shifts did not mix in order to limit 
contagion risks and carry on their work under 
optimum safety conditions.

Working from home was implemented rapidly 
with the help of AFT’s IT team. Each staff member 
was provided with a dedicated portable computer 
system for performing all of the tasks necessary for 
managing the State’s debt and cash holdings.

AFT’s internal organisation was adapted from 
month to month based on the latest pandemic 
developments. The agency reconciled the 
security of its operations with public safety and 
the operating rules it is subject to. These rules 
were adapted to the operating constraints of each 
position and communicated by AFT management 
and the secretariat general.

Adapting working conditions  
at AFT during the  

pandemic
AFT had to cope with the COVID-19  

crisis in 2020.
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Yields

➜ WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELD ON MEDIUM-AND LONG-TERM DEBT ISSUES

Yields from 1998 to 2020
Weighted yield on medium- and long-term debt issues

Source: AFT

F
rance continued to enjoy exceptionally low 
yields on its State debt in 2020.

The gross nominal value of medium- and 
long-term debt issuance in 2020 stood at €289.5bn, 
consisting of €269.4bn in fixed-rate bonds (OATs) 
and €20.1bn in index-linked bonds (OATis and 
OAT€is).

The average yield on medium- and long-term debt 
issuance (excluding index-linked bonds) stood at 
−0.13% in 2020, compared to 0.11% in 2019 and 
0.53% in 2018. The average yield for the period from 
1998 to 2008 was 4.15%, followed by 1.52% for the 
period from 2009 to 2018.
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Economic and  
financial environment

T
he announcement on 13 December 2019 
of an official signature date for the first 
phase of a trade agreement between 
the United States and China breathed 

new life into the stock market recovery, which 
had been flagging as global economic growth 
slowed down. Then, the gradual confirmation 
between the beginning of the year and the end 
of February 2020 that the COVID-19 epidemic 
had become a pandemic triggered a wave of 
panic that roiled financial markets because of the 
associated uncertainty. In addition to the surprise 
and uncertainty created by this unprecedented 
exogenous shock, restrictive public health measures 
caused most economies to shut down, starting with 
China and then all advanced economies, followed 
by emerging economies.

Global trade was paralysed in stages, initially by 
China’s shutdown, but the main impact of the 
pandemic was a drop in aggregate demand, mainly 
in the household sector, where savings increased as 
goods and services became unobtainable.

Household and corporate investment were also 
affected, as the uncertainty and unavailability 
created by the pandemic in the real economy led 
to the prospect of weaker demand. It was also felt 
on the financial markets, where bank loans and 
market financing became harder to find and more 
expensive. This supply shock was initially viewed as 
a temporary phenomenon, but the persistence of 
the pandemic after the second quarter meant that 
some of the demand effects became longer lasting.

However, emergency measures implemented by 
central banks in an immediate response to the 
pandemic, followed by extremely accommodative 
fiscal policies, triggered a strong rebound for 
all asset classes, and for equities and bonds 
in particular. Just the announcement of these 
measures was enough to make equity indices 
rebound and return to, or even surpass in some 
cases, their pre-pandemic levels, reaching values 
that have not been seen since the late 1990s. 
The global drop in sovereign yields and corporate 
spreads increased sovereign and corporate bond 
prices, whereas speculative assets, such as Bitcoin, 
soared as the “by weight” prices for traditional safe 
assets, including gold, slipped.
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AN UNPRECEDENTED RECESSION AS DOMESTIC DEMAND COLLAPSES

T
he French economy suffered a historically severe recession in 2020, with output shrinking by 8.2% 
over the year. This was triggered by the sudden introduction of public health restrictions, especially 
restrictions on travel and closures of businesses. Logically enough, this led to a sharp drop in 
household consumption, which contracted by 7.0% over the year, with the exception of the third 

quarter, when these measures were temporarily relaxed. The impact of the resulting initial uncertainty shock 
was amplified by tension on financial markets. This also caused a sharp drop in investment, which contracted 
by 10.3% over the year. Most of the drop occurred in the first half of the year, as investment proved to be 
more resilient than expected during the second half. All in all, the negative contribution that domestic 
demand made to the recession is estimated at 7.1 percentage points of GDP and the negative contribution of 
external trade is estimated at 1.5 percentage points of GDP (see Chart 1).

France’s economy proved to be more resilient than expected,  
thanks to an extraordinary economic policy response to  

unprecedented uncertainty and supply shocks.
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➜ CHART 1: FRANCE’S REAL GDP GROWTH AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO GROWTH

 Imports
 Public expenditure
 Real GDP (YOY)

 Exports
 Private investment

 

 Private expenditure
 Public investment
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As was the case in most advanced economies, the impact of the pandemic shock in France varied in strength 
and duration depending on the sector. In the second quarter of 2020, the initial contraction in the service 
sector, as measured by the Purchasing Managers’ Index, was approximately twice as severe as it was in the 
manufacturing sector. The recovery of the latter lasted into the second half of the year, whereas the service 
sector saw a fresh contraction in the fourth quarter as public health restrictions were imposed again (see 
Charts 2 and 3).
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➜ CHART 2: PMI – MANUFACTURING SECTOR
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➜ CHART 3: PMI – SERVICE SECTOR
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Similarly, the impact on the labour market was 
greatest in the service sector, particularly for traded 
services, which saw most of the job losses (see 
Chart 4). The shock brought with it a strong, but 
transitory, easing of the prevailing labour market 
conditions, which have now returned to the level 
seen in the mid-2010s. And yet, the rise in the 
unemployment rate was relatively moderate. It rose 
to 9% in the third quarter, before falling back to 
8% under the effect of an increase in the average 
employment rate, which then continued to recover 
in the fourth quarter.
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➜  CHART 4: JOB CREATION BY SECTOR 
 (YEAR-ON-YEAR, CHANGE IN THOUSANDS)
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MASSIVE FISCAL RESOURCES MOBILISED TO SUPPORT  
THE REAL ECONOMY

T
he ECB focused on easing the tensions that emerged on financial markets starting 
in March with the aim of maintaining favourable financial conditions and low interest 
rates in particular. Meanwhile, in the second quarter, France mobilised nearly €500bn, 
equivalent to one-fifth of its GDP, in the form of emergency measures to support 

households and businesses. The measures included a short-time working scheme for wage-
earners, a solidarity fund for small businesses, deferrals of taxes and social security contributions 
for businesses, and government guarantees for bank loans to businesses. The measures 
contributed substantially to reducing lost income for households, including self-employed 
workers, and to easing cash constraints affecting businesses (see Charts 6 and 7). The State’s 
balance sheet ultimately absorbed two-thirds of the shock. Initially, the corporate sector had to 
bear four-fifths of this shock.
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➜  CHART 5: INCOME LOSSES RELATED TO THE CRISIS IN 2020

 Corporations
 General government

  Households’ losses of property income 
(dividends)

  Households and NPISHs (non-profit 
institutions serving households)

At the end of 2020, a €100bn recovery plan focusing on the environment, competitiveness and cohesion 
was also launched to consolidate the gradual recovery of the French economy. This amount is equivalent 
to nearly 5% of GDP, with 40% of the funds coming through the European recovery fund. The aim of the 
plan is to boost growth by 1.5 points over the next three years so that it returns to its 2019 level by 2022. The 
plan also aims to help create 160,000 more jobs. This means that growth should rebound by 5.0% in 2021 
and by 3.5% in 2022, when the potential growth rate should return to its pre-crisis trend level of 1.3%, after a 
contraction of 0.3% in 2020.
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•  The Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) is the key component of the strategy of abundant liquidity aimed at stabilising the 
financial markets and safeguarding the monetary policy transmission mechanisms.

The ECB announced the creation of the PEPP in mid-March. This programme, which was destined to become a key component of the 
ECB’s strategy, featured unprecedented scale and flexibility. It grew from €750bn on 18 March 2020 to €1,850bn on 10 December. The 
aims of the programme are to provide liquidity for financial markets, stabilise financial conditions for the economy and preserve the 
monetary policy transmission channels. The vocation of the programme is to make the presence of the ECB felt on financial markets. 
Its calming effects are both psychological and practical with regard to the financial crisis.

•  The common euro area budgetary instrument is a new, but temporary, instrument aimed at easing pressure on national budgets to allow for 
an ambitious European fiscal policy.

Fiscal flexibility was one of the first key components of the European Commission’s response to the pandemic at the end of March 
2020. The activation of the general escape clause included in the Stability and Growth Pact as part of the “six-pack” reforms of the rules 
applying to Member States’ public finances meant that the European Union Member States benefited from a temporary suspension of the 
budgetary criteria and were thus enabled to respond adequately to the economic shock. Furthermore, in April, the Eurogroup meeting 
ended with the adoption of a €540bn fiscal support plan to provide guarantees for the EIB’s loans to small and medium-sized enterprises 
(€200bn), to increase the intervention capacity of the European Stability Mechanism (€240bn) and to create SURE, the European solidarity 
instrument managed by the European Commission to cover short-time working benefits (€100bn). SURE refinances national short-time 
working benefits schemes by issuing social bonds. SURE is an unprecedented response to the crisis. For the first time in its history, the 
European Union created an instrument for the specific purpose of ensuring that the overall fiscal stance of the bloc is simultaneously 
contra-cyclical. The European Commission issued a total of €31bn in bonds on the market in the last two months of 2020 in order to 
finance the instrument.
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➜  CHART 6:  
SURE

The European Council 
approved €90.6bn in 
financial assistance for  
18 member countries

€bn

Unprecedented European initiatives
IN RESPONSE TO THE ECONOMIC SHOCK CREATED  
BY THE PANDEMIC
The economic policy response to the most severe crisis in the 
European Union’s history was appropriate and targeted, relying on 
close interaction and coordination between monetary and fiscal 
policies aimed at bolstering confidence and stabilising aggregate 

demand in order to prevent a disruption of the economic outlook. 
The more specific aim of national fiscal policies was also to contain 
the social and economic costs of the COVID-19 crisis.
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•  Next Generation EU: European solidarity for a long-term vision

The French and German initiative for Europe-wide recovery that was 

launched in May 2020 laid the groundwork for what would become 

Next Generation EU. Starting this year, €750bn in new European 

expenditures will feature two innovations: they will be financed by 

issuing European debt securities, and €390bn (slightly more than half 

of the total expenditures) will be grants. The Recovery and Resilience 

Facility (RRF) accounts for 90% of the budget for the NextGenEU plan. 

The RRF has €672bn to be distributed as loans and grants to support 

European countries’ reforms and investments. The European Union’s 

2021–2027 Multiannual Financial Framework has been increased by 

€1,074bn to cover these additional liabilities. The increase is to be 

financed from the EU’s own resources. For the first time in its history, 
Europe has laid the groundwork for a European budget. Even 
though it is supposed to be temporary, it complements national 
fiscal stabilisers at a critical time.

CENTRAL BANKS HAVE COMPLEMENTED THE FISCAL STIMULUS PLANS 
THAT FOLLOWED UP THE EMERGENCY SUPPORT PLANS IMPLEMENTED 
IN THE SECOND QUARTER BY MAINTAINING AND STRENGTHENING 
THEIR ALREADY VERY ACCOMMODATIVE STANCE.

I
n the United States, the Federal Reserve rapidly 

opted for monetary easing measures back 

in March 2020 to prevent liquidity and, more 

generally, credit from drying up as part of the 

effort to ensure the smooth operation of financial 

markets. The Fed Funds Rate, which is the overnight 

market interest rate, fluctuates in a corridor 

bounded by the interest rate on excess reserves 

(IOER) and the repo rate. These rates fell by more 

than 100 basis points to 0% and 0.25% respectively. 

The interest rate measures were backed up by 

further measures to sustain market liquidity and 

good financial conditions. Such measures included 

purchasing assets on the markets, to the tune of 

$120bn each month, providing facilities for direct 

lending to the real economy and purchasing 

$600bn in corporate debt through a securitisation 

fund backed by the US Treasury. In addition to this 

enhanced coordination of monetary and fiscal 

policies, the Federal Reserve made sweeping 

changes to its objectives back in the third quarter of 

2020, and its reflation strategy has been deferred to 

2023 or later. The changes included placing the full 

employment objective ahead of the price stability 

objective in the pursuit of its dual mission and 

making a sustainable recovery in wage growth for 

the most vulnerable workers the top priority. 
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The European Central Bank initially increased 
the amount allocated for its conventional asset 
purchase programme by €20bn to a total of €120bn 
per month. Then, at the height of the crisis on 
sovereign markets, after the spread between Italian 
and German yields widened, the ECB announced 
the introduction of a facility that has become the 
core of its crisis strategy. This is the Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) for 
corporate and sovereign bonds. The scale and 
flexibility of the programme are unprecedented. Its 
scale increased from €750bn to €1,850bn, which 

is equivalent to 11.3% of the euro area GDP. The 
aims of the programme are to provide liquidity for 
financial markets, stabilise financing conditions for 
the real economy and safeguard monetary policy 
transmission mechanisms. The programme has also 
been backed up by easing of pricing conditions 
for targeted longer-term refinancing operations for 
banks (TLTRO III), as well as easing of the collateral 
policy for repo transactions, with a 20% reduction in 
haircuts and the eligibility of negotiable bonds with 
ratings of BB or better.
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➜  CHART 7: 
CENTRAL BANK 
BALANCE 
SHEETS AS A % 
OF GDP

➜  CHART 8: 
ECB ASSET 
PURCHASE 
PROGRAMME

(€bn)
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 Bank of Japan (right-hand scale)

  Pandemic Emergency 
Purchase Programme
  Public sector purchase 
programme
  Private asset purchase 
programme
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Central banks counter the risk of  
FRAGMENTATION OF FINANCIAL MARKETS

In contrast to the 2008 financial crisis, which was triggered by 
factors within the financial sector itself, the pandemic shock was 
exogenous and so severe that it affected global financial markets. 
Rapid action to safeguard the stability of financial institutions was 
both necessary and successful. In keeping with their implicit 
mandate, central banks once again responded rapidly and actively 
to stabilise the financial system so that credit continued to flow to 
households and businesses, thereby safeguarding their monetary 
policy transmission mechanisms.

Central banks achieved this by adapting their measures to the 
specific characteristics of the economic shock and its repercussions 
for the financial system, venturing further into the domain of non-
standard monetary policy measures. Some central banks merely 
expanded the measures already in place, while others innovated. 
For example, many central banks also changed their asset purchase 
policies to include a broader range of corporate debt securities, in 
addition to their massive purchases of government debt.

The Fed’s interest rate cuts of 100 basis points in mid-March had 
a positive psychological effect, but it was not enough. The impact 
of the central banks’ response grew much stronger when they 
resumed their traditional role, dating back to 2008, as lenders 
of last resort, providing the liquidity needed to correct market 
dysfunction. For this purpose, the ECB introduced the Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) to supplement its existing 
asset purchase programme. For its part, the Fed announced an 
unlimited asset purchase programme.

Central banks also introduced or reactivated non-standard 
monetary policy tools to encourage banks to continue playing 
their full part in financing the economy, especially in the euro area, 
where bank financing is still a major component of financing for 
the economy, as well as in the United States. Borrowing terms were 
eased with interest rates based on targeted longer-term refinancing 
operations in the euro area and on the Main Street Loan Facility in 
the United States. The quality requirements for assets provided as 
collateral for repo transactions with market participants were also 
eased so that the banking system had access to larger loan facilities.

More frequent asset purchases or purchase commitments 
(forward guidance), including some with no time limit, eased 
the pressure on banks, given their symbiotic relationship with 
the markets. For example, the Fed’s purchases of US Treasury bills 
helped to ease pressure on banks’ lines of credit.

Once again, the US dollar’s predominant role in global finance 
meant that the Federal Reserve had to act as an international 
lender of last resort, as was the case several times during the 2010s. 
The Fed opened foreign currency swap lines for 14 central banks in 
both advanced market economies and in countries with emerging 
market economies. It reactivated many lines that had expired after 
the previous global financial crisis.
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The Bank of England (BoE) cut its policy rate 
to 0.1%, down from 0.75% before the crisis, and 
maintained its asset purchases at the same levels 
as before (£20bn for purchases of corporate debt 
and £875bn as the objective for purchases of 
government bonds). The BoE also indicated that 
it was discussing procedures for negative policy 
rates. This discussion is ongoing and has given rise 
to intense internal debates because of the potential 
collateral impact on the banking system. 
However, this possibility, which has often been 
considered by the markets and the external 
members of the BoE Monetary Policy Committee, 
has continued to be ruled out by the bank’s 
Governor, who has called for a more general 
discussion about the net benefits to be expected 
from such a measure. The BoE has also relied on 
forward guidance, indicating that it had no intention 
of tightening up its monetary policy in the absence 
of any significant progress on narrowing the output 
gap and meeting its inflation target.

The Bank of Japan (BoJ) has not changed its policy 
rates, but it has greatly increased its asset purchases 
and its supply of liquidity, with the doubling of its 
objective for purchases of exchange traded funds 
(ETFs), in particular. All in all, Japan’s monetary 
policy has been very accommodative, with slightly 
negative short-term rates and an explicit target of 
nearly zero for long-term rates. In addition, the BoJ 
has introduced programmes for exceptional direct 
loans to businesses that are most exposed to the 
pandemic.

The People’s Bank of China (PBoC) has responded 
to the crisis with more liquidity for the banking 
system and meeting financing needs with repo 
transactions. Furthermore, the key seven-day 
reverse repo rate, which is the Chinese central 
bank’s channel for managing the liquidity supply to 
banks, was cut by 10 basis points. A medium-term 
lending facility (MLF), which provides special loans 
to the real economy, was also introduced for this 
purpose. In this respect, the PBoC has periodically 
explained that it focuses on maintaining a balance 
that suits its dual objective of supporting the 
economy and ensuring financial stability.
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Financial  
markets 

EQUITIES MARKETS: A REBOUND SUSTAINED BY FISCAL AND 
MONETARY POLICY ANNOUNCEMENTS

A
fter a sharp drop between the end of 
January and the end of March triggered 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, international 
financial markets made a spectacular 

recovery that was sustained by fiscal and monetary 
policy announcements. Market performance 
became more uneven with the resurgence of the 
pandemic in some regions, which undermined 
the especially optimistic economic scenario that 
markets had initially envisaged. The indices trended 
downward in Europe, where the CAC 40 lost 8.1% 
in 2020 and the Eurostoxx index declined by 6.3%. 
Meanwhile, the market rose in Japan, where the 
Nikkei gained 16.0%. The rebound in the United 
States continued at a rapid rate until the fourth 
quarter, when doubts about the soundness of  
the recovery emerged. This was especially true  
for tech stocks, as market participants anticipated  
a reflation cycle in the United States. American  
stock markets posted the largest initial losses,  

with the S&P 500 dropping by 34% between  
mid-February and mid-March, and then climbed 
back up to near the historic peaks attained before 
the crisis. The S&P 500 posted the strongest 
recovery compared to the second quarter, ending 
2020 with a 14.6% gain. The British stock markets 
suffered most because of the uncertainty about 
Brexit. The FTSE 100 lost 15.0% in 2020. The Nikkei 
index recouped all of its losses in 2020 and ended 
the year with a 16% gain. The Shanghai stock 
market rose by 12.6% in 2020. 

After rising strongly in the United States and Europe 
between mid-February and mid-March, volatility 
stabilised at lower levels in the third quarter, but has 
since been slightly higher than its historical pre-
pandemic average in the United States and the  
euro area.
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CAC 40 -8.1%

DAX 2.5%

FTSE 100 -15.0%

FTSE MIB (Milan) -6.7%

IBEX (Madrid) -16.7%

Eurostoxx 50 -6.3%

European Banks -25.7%

Nikkei 16.0%

Shanghai 12.6%

Hong Kong -4.6%

Dow Jones 5.3%

S&P 500 14.6%

Source: Bloomberg

➜  CHART 10: GLOBAL 
STOCK MARKET 
INDICES AND ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE IN 
2020

➜  CHART 9: VOLATILITY INDICES 
(VIX, V2X)
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FIXED-INCOME MARKETS: CENTRAL BANK ACTIONS LEAD TO LOWER 
AND LESS VOLATILE LONG-TERM INTEREST RATES

I
n early 2020, financial markets showed signs 
of strong risk aversion as the COVID-19 crisis 
unfolded. In March 2020, the decline in liquidity 
on bond markets spread to affect government 

securities, including France’s OATs, even though 
they are typically a preferred safe haven in uncertain 
times. As market participants sought to increase 
their cash holdings, these safe assets were sold 
off, leading to strong price volatility, even on the 
US Treasuries market. The German sovereign bond 
market also saw strong volatility, with 10-year Bund 
yields rising by more than 40 basis points during the 
initial phase of the pandemic in March.

As the economic outlook grew gloomier, as 
did financial conditions indicators, the financial 
markets experienced disruption and fragmentation, 
pushing the yield curve higher. Financial conditions 
tightened at a critical moment when the economy 
needed continued access to affordable funding. 
In this respect, all of the asset purchase measures 
announced in March by central banks, including 
the ECB, helped to reduce volatility on bond and 
money markets and to open these markets up 
again. This led to a significant and lasting narrowing 
of spreads in the euro area and, more generally, a 
loosening of financial conditions.

Just before the PEPP was announced, the spreads 
against German 10-year yields were very wide, 
standing at 66 bp for France, 279 bp for Italy, 
147 bp for Spain, 414 bp for Greece and 170 bp 
for Portugal. They subsequently narrowed so that, 
by the end of September, they stood at 28 bp for 
France, 139 bp for Italy and 77 bp for Spain.

2
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➜  CHART 11: 
FRANCE: 
SOVEREIGN 
YIELD CURVE
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKETS: STRONG VOLATILITY IN THE FACE  
OF UNCERTAINTY LEADS TO PORTFOLIO REALLOCATION

T
he global spread of the pandemic boosted 
safe haven currencies, including the dollar, 
the yen and the Swiss franc, in the midst 
of a flight to quality that abated in the third 

quarter, before resuming with the resurgence of 
pandemic risks at the end of September. Market 
perceptions of a risk of scarcer dollar liquidity arose 
in the second quarter of 2020, leading the Fed to 
open and then expand its swap lines to meet strong 
international demand for dollars (see Box 2). Then, 
as lockdowns were gradually lifted, perceptions 
of diminishing pandemic risks in Europe in the 
third quarter and a coordinated pan-European 
monetary and fiscal stimulus policy led to a strong 
appreciation of the euro against the dollar. The 
stronger euro lost steam in the fourth quarter, 
however, with a resurgence of the pandemic in 
Europe and confirmation of the outlook for reflation 
in the United States (see above). At the same time, 
the euro also appreciated by 9.4% against the dollar 

over the year on the strength of market participants’ 
favourable reception of the common fiscal 
response in Europe (SURE, NextGenEU, Recovery 
Fund). 

The combined effects of easing political risk in the 
United States and the affirmation of a new fiscal 
policy to stimulate demand following Joe Biden’s 
election as President of the United States in the 
fourth quarter lead to a generalised decline in 
the dollar. The Bloomberg dollar index was down 
by 7.4% since the beginning of the year. Sterling 
also lost considerable value because of surging 
uncertainty about the spread of the pandemic in 
the United Kingdom. It then gained strength as the 
uncertainty surrounding Brexit dissipated, posting a 
4.0% rise against the dollar in 2020. The traditional 
safe haven currencies appreciated against the dollar 
in 2020. The Swiss franc gained 9.7% and the yen 
rose by 5.2%.

3

Source: Bloomberg

➜  CHART 12: 10-YEAR YIELD IN FRANCE AND GERMANY (%/YEAR)
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COMMODITIES MARKETS: OIL PRICES COLLAPSE 
AS DEMAND DECLINES

O
il markets saw unprecedented volatility 
in 2020. There were short periods in 
March and in April with negative prices, 
down to −$37.63 for a barrel of WTI. 

Ebbing demand and the corresponding increase in 
supply fed fears of a glut, with high production and 
abundant stocks. On the demand side, lockdowns 
hit the transport sector, a huge consumer of 
petroleum products, particularly hard. On the 
supply side, the initial disagreement between Russia 
and Saudi Arabia persisted in OPEC+, resulting 
in record production in the Arabian Peninsula. 
Consequently, OPEC+ reached a bold agreement 
in mid-April to cut daily oil production by 9.7 million 
barrels, followed by a further cut of 7.7 million. 
The gradual lifting of lockdowns in the advanced 
countries marked the start of rebound in demand, 
even though fears persisted of potential hysteresis 
effects in some sectors, such as air transport, as the 
third wave of the pandemic took off at the end of 
2020. 

The price of gold increased steadily through most 
of 2020, reaching and then exceeding $2,000 
per ounce for the first time in history, peaking at 
$2,075 on 7 August. The price actually dipped by 
12.4% in the first half of March as many investors 
liquidated their gold positions to fund margin calls 
or to make up for losses incurred on other assets 
in their portfolios. Gold played its traditional role as 
a safe haven asset for investors, as rates of return 
plummeted in response to central banks’ measures. 
At its peak, gold was up by nearly 40% from the 
beginning of 2020. A significant slide started in gold 
prices after the end of the year, as some investors 
switched from gold to Bitcoin, seeing the latter as 
“digital gold” and a safe haven asset equivalent to 
its physical counterpart. All in all, the price of gold 
posted a 24% annual increase, whereas Bitcoin 
tripled in value in 2020.

4

Source: Bloomberg

➜  CHART 13: EXCHANGE RATES OF LEADING CURRENCIES AGAINST THE 
DOLLAR IN 2020 (%)
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RATING AGENCIES

I
n 2020, France’s Fitch, S&P and 
Moody’s ratings were stable  
(AA for Fitch and Standard & 
Poor’s, Aa2 for Moody’s). In 

October 2020, DBRS downgraded 
France’s sovereign rating by one 
notch to AA-High. According 
to the agency, the downgrade 
was warranted because of the 
suspension of the structural reform 
programme and the structural 
impact of the health and economic 
crisis on France’s public finances. 

S&P’s outlook for France’s 
sovereign rating remained stable. 
Fitch changed the rating outlook 
for France from stable to negative 
in May 2020 because of the 
substantial deterioration of its 
public finances and the economic 
slowdown expected in 2020. 
Meanwhile, Moody’s announced 
that its outlook had been changed 
back to stable, after having been 
raised to positive in May 2018.

➜  CHART 14: LEADING COMMODITY PRICES 
OVER ONE YEAR
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➜  CHART 15
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1. France’s sovereign ratings from other agencies were as follows: Scope: AA, stable outlook; R&I: AAA, stable outlook; JCRA: AAA, stable outlook; 
Creditreform: AA, stable outlook.

LONG-TERM SHORT-TERM OUTLOOK

Moody's Aa2 / Stable

Standard & Poor's AA A-1+ Stable

Fitch AA F1+ Negative

DBRS AA-high R-1 (high) Stable

AGENCY DATE

Moody's 26 February 2021 – 27 August 2021

Standard & Poor's 2 April 2021 – 1 October 2021

Fitch 7 May 2021 – 5 November 2021

DBRS 16 April 2021 – 15 October 2021

➜ FRANCE’S SOVEREIGN RATING
Since 2011 

➜  RATING TABLE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 20201

➜ FRANCE’S SOVEREIGN RATING UPDATES IN 2021

Source: Bloomberg, rating agencies, AFT
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The State’s cash  
management strategy

PERFORMANCE 

MANAGING THE STATE’S CASH HOLDINGS 
IS A CORE PART OF AFT’S MISSION

A
FT ensured the financial continuity of the French State in 2020, 
despite the COVID-19 crisis. The day-to-day balance on the 
State’s single account remained in credit and the transactions 
made through the account were completed properly. For this 

purpose, AFT produces successive 12-month cash and debt forecasts.

T
he State’s cash holdings are centralised in a single account 
with the Banque de France. This account is used to record 
all of the transactions on nearly 5,000 transaction accounts 
held by some 3,400 government accountants. It aggregates 

transactions under the State budget, the transactions of Treasury 
correspondents, meaning other entities that deposit their funds in the 
Treasury Account (primarily local authorities and government-funded 
institutions), and AFT’s transactions (redemption of bonds at maturity, 
interest payments, investments, margin calls, etc.).

AFT ensures that the State’s cash position is always adequate to settle 
the financial transactions posted to the Treasury Account under the 
most secure conditions. For this purpose, AFT monitors the execution 
of revenue and expenditure flows on the Treasury Account with the 
Banque de France in real time. The average daily volume of cash 
flowing in and out of the account came to €19.6bn in 2020.

Starting in March 2020, cash management was conducted in a 
very uncertain environment. The forced halt of some economic 
activity and government support measures had three consequences: 
higher expenditure, lower revenue and greater recourse to market 
financing to offset the fiscal deficit (see page  47). AFT had to adjust its 
forecast of flows in and out of the Treasury Account regularly, in close 
consultation with its external partners, including the social security 
and unemployment insurance systems. It participated in framing 
each new Supplementary Budget Act, since it is AFT’s responsibility to 
compile the State’s cash flow statement, which balances the sources 
and applications of funds, and debt service. It is also tasked with 
translating Parliament’s decisions into cash flows, with the help of the 
administrations concerned.

TREASURY 
ACCOUNT 
CREDITS AND  
DEBITS IN 2020

Source: AFT

AFT: DEBT AND 
CASH MANAGEMENT 
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The pandemic affected proactive cash 
management. AFT’s management of cash holdings 
relies on daily forecasts to assess the amounts 
needed to cover upcoming transactions. AFT 
provides proactive management of the State’s 
cash resources to ensure sound stewardship of 
public monies. Temporary cash surpluses may 
be invested in interbank market transactions, 
with due consideration of counterparty risk. 
These transactions take the form of unsecured 
deposits or repurchase agreements involving 
government securities. In the early days of the 
crisis, back in March 2020, demand rose sharply 
as banking counterparties sought cash. The 
abundance of cash on the European interbank 
market following the central bank’s intervention 
meant that counterparties were less interested in 
the loans offered by AFT. This loss of interest had 
repercussions on AFT’s investment activities. The 
daily amount invested averaged approximately €9bn 
over the year.

At the same time, AFT gave itself the option 
of creating a reserve of securities in the 
Government Debt Fund (CDP) to be used as 
collateral for accessing cash on the repo market. 
This responsive and secure facility enjoys a deep 
market. It supplements the other short-term cash 
management instruments, which are Treasury 
bills and cash lines of credit. The increased 
borrowing requirements in the second quarter of 
2020 demonstrated the importance of diversified 
funding sources for the State. Repos, or repurchase 
agreements, are transactions by which cash is 
borrowed in exchange for an equivalent amount 
of securities provided as collateral. The lender has 
the option of reselling the securities received as 
collateral, and the securities can also be used as 
collateral for central bank refinancing. This facility 
gives AFT the same tools as other government 
debt agencies, such as the British Treasury or the 
German Finance Agency. 

E
ntities that are required1 or authorised to 
deposit their cash holdings on the Treasury 
Account are called Treasury correspondents. 
Their deposits on 31 December 2020, 

excluding “Invest for the Future” accounts, 
amounted to €156bn. Transactions made on 
Treasury correspondents’ accounts have a direct 
impact on the Treasury Account. AFT oversees 
daily reporting of advance notifications of cash 
transactions from Treasury correspondents, which 
enables it to determine the settlement dates 
and amounts of transaction flows posted to the 
Treasury Account as accurately as possible. More 
specifically, local authorities and government-
funded institutions are required to notify AFT 
of any financial transaction amounting to more 
than €1m by 4pm on the previous day. In 2020, 
the percentage of such transactions notified in 
advance stood at 98.5% for local authorities and 
government-funded institutions. These results are 
slightly better than the performance target set out 
in the Budget Act.

During the 2020 crisis, the government extended 
the obligation to deposit funds on the Treasury 
Account to include some entities that had 
previously been exempted for historical reasons. 
Order 2020-1496 and Implementing Decree  
2021-29 of 14 January will make it possible to 
pool the funds of new public and private entities 
providing public services in the Treasury Account, 
thereby reducing the need to raise market 
financing.

TREASURY CORRESPONDENTS’ 
DEPOSITS CONTINUE TO 
CONTRIBUTE TO FINANCING 
RESOURCES 

1. Under the terms of the decree on government budget and accounting management of 7 November 2012, most public sector entities are required  
to deposit their funds with the Treasury. This requirement applies in particular to local authorities, government-funded institutions and hospitals.  
The decree came into force on 30 June 2014.
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Responding to the crisis: 
adapting borrowing policy  
to the various adjustments  

to the Budget Bill

LARGEST BORROWING  
PROGRAMME SINCE  
THE LIBERATION

CENTRAL BANK SUPPORT 

The 2020 Initial Budget Act identified €230.5bn in 
borrowing requirements. This primarily corresponds 
to the deficit to be financed and the redemption 
of maturing securities in any given year. The 
emergency measures increased the deficit forecast 
by raising expenditure to support the economy 
and by reducing tax revenue. The borrowing 
requirement increased from €246bn in the first 
Supplementary Budget Act to €325bn in the 
second, and then to slightly more than €360bn in 
the third and fourth.

Consequently, outstanding borrowing from the 
two main sources – the medium- and long-term 
borrowing programme (MLT, securities with 
maturities of two years or more) and short-term 
borrowing (BTF, maturities under one year) – also 
increased. The MLT programme increased from 
€205bn to €210bn under the first Supplementary 
Budget Act, then to €245bn under the second and 
ultimately to €260bn under the third. Outstanding 
short-term borrowing was expected to increase 
by €82.9bn to nearly €190bn. However, the 
increase was only €54.7bn in 2020 because of cash 
issuance premiums on medium- and long-term 
debt, as yields remained low, and even negative on 
maturities up to nearly 20 years.

T
he strong support of the European  
Central Bank enabled the market to  
absorb the additional issuance, even 
though the amounts were already large.  

On 18 March 2020, the ECB announced the 
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) 
worth €750bn. This amount was raised to €1,350bn 
on 4 June 2020 and ultimately reached €1,850bn 
on 10 December 2020. This support maintained 
favourable financial conditions for sovereign 
borrowers facing increased borrowing requirements 
due to the pandemic.

AFT managed the State’s cash holdings and implemented a  
borrowing programme under exceptional circumstances,  

with unprecedented levels of hazard and borrowing,  
yields and operational constraints resulting from the lockdown.

Uncertainty in March drove French yields up by 
more than 70 basis points until the European 
Central Bank announced the Pandemic Emergency 
Purchase Programme (PEPP). This announcement 
led to a steady fall in yields for the rest of the year 
(−0.34% for 10 years) and a narrowing of the spread 
vis-à-vis the German Bund from 66 basis points to 
23 basis points.
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ADAPTING THE PROCEDURES FOR 
IMPLEMENTING THE BORROWING 
PROGRAMME

A
FT increased the issuance amounts at each auction 
to meet this sudden need for funding. The average 
issuance amount at auctions of long-term securities 
rose from €9.5bn in 2019 to €10.5bn in 2020. More 

importantly, the optional August auctions were held in 2020 
and raised €19.5bn. AFT also undertook three syndicated issues 
in 2020, compared to the historical average of one or two. 

In keeping with its policy of responding to demand, AFT 
also increased the average maturity of its issuance to meet 
the demand from investors seeking returns in a low-yield 
environment. The average maturity increased from 8.1 years in 
2012 to 11.1 years in 2019 and then to 11.5 years in 2020. 

AFT also reduced and even halted buybacks of securities with 
maturities under two years during the first half of the year, 
which boosted the State’s cash position. Buybacks resumed 
in July for a total of €29.5bn in 2020, which smoothed out 
redemptions in 2021 and 2022.

The medium- and long-term borrowing programme grew to 
the equivalent of 11.8% of France’s GDP in 2020, compared 
to 8.2% in 2019. The previous high was 9.4% in 2010 and the 
average since 2012 had been 8.2%. The proportion of Treasury 
bills in France’s debt increased from 5.9% in 2019 to 8.1%. This 
proportion had reached 18.7% in 2009, showing that there is 
still some margin remaining in case of a new shock.

€260bn
MEDIUM-  

AND LONG- 
TERM ISSUANCE 
 (OAT) IN 2020

70 bp
VARIATION IN  
10-YEAR YIELD  

BETWEEN 3 MARCH  
AND 18 MARCH 2020, 

A PERIOD OF EXTREME 
VOLATILITY

+€131.5bn
INCREASE IN THE STATE’S 

BORROWING REQUIREMENT 
BETWEEN THE 1ST AND  
4TH SUPPLEMENTARY  

BUDGET ACTS

€136bn 
DEBT TRANSFERRED  

FROM ACOSS TO CADES 
BETWEEN 2020 AND 2024

Key 
FIGURES
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MANAGING THE IMPACT OF  
THE CRISIS ON SOCIAL SECURITY 
FINANCING

T
he central agency for social security bodies 
(ACOSS) saw a very sudden and alarming 
worsening of its financial situation in the first 
half of the year as a result of a sudden drop 

in revenue. A borrowing plan was worked out with 
AFT and other Treasury departments using various 
borrowing mechanisms. AFT, acting on behalf of the 
Minister for the Economy, Finance and the Recovery, 
led work on transferring ACOSS debt to the Social 
Security Debt Repayment Fund (CADES) in order to 
increase the ACOSS borrowing capacity. The Minister 
of Health then continued the work in Parliament, 
resulting in the passage of Act 2020-992, which 
transfers €136bn in ACOSS debt to CADES. The 
transfer transactions started in September 2020 and 
had moved €20bn in debt by the end of the year.

IN €BN
2020 
INITIAL 
BUDGET ACT

SUPPLEMENTARY 

BUDGET ACT 1 

(23 MAR. 2020)

SUPPLEMENTARY 

BUDGET ACT 2 

(15 APR. 2020)

SUPPLEMENTARY 

BUDGET ACT 3 

(23 JUL. 2020)

SUPPLEMENTARY 

BUDGET ACT 4 

(30 NOV. 2020)

OUTTURN 
2020

Borrowing requirements

Redemption of medium- and  
long-term debt

136.4 136.4 136.2 136.2 136.1 136.1

Of which medium- and long-term debt  
redemption (par value)

130.5 130.5 130.5 130.5 130.5 130.5

Of which index-linking supplements 
paid at maturity

5.9 5.9 5.7 5.7 5.6 5.6

Redemption of other debts 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5

SNCF Réseau - redemptions  1.8 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7

Deficit to be financed 93.1 109.0 185.5 225.1 223.3 178.1

Other cash requirements -1.3 -1.5 0.7 0.7 0.4 -6.9

TOTAL 230.5 246.1 324.6 364.2 362.0 309.5

Funding sources

Issuance of medium- and long-term 
debt, net of buybacks

205.0 210.0 245.0 260.0 260.0 260.0

Funds allocated to the Public  
Debt Fund to reduce debt

2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net change in outstanding short-term  
government securities

10.0 27.5 64.1 82.9 53.7 54.7

Change in correspondents’ deposits 6.4 0.0 0.0 1.8 15.0 27.8

Change in cash available in the 
Treasury’s account 

3.6 4.1 9.0 9.0 11.0 -63.4

Other cash sources 3.5 4.5 6.5 10.5 22.3 30.4

TOTAL 230.5 246.1 324.6 364.2 362.0 309.5

BENEFITS OF CENTRALISING 
GOVERNMENT CASH HOLDINGS 

T
he increase in Treasury correspondents’ 
deposits on the Treasury Account (primarily 
from local authorities and government-funded 
institutions) also contributed to increasing 

financing resources, but the State cannot know the 
amount of these resources in advance since these 
entities manage their cash holdings autonomously. 
Nevertheless, the cash centralisation policy 
contributed nearly €28bn at the end of the year. The 
government reinforced this policy. It was empowered 
by Parliament to issue orders requiring some entities 
that had previously been exempt to deposit their cash 
holdings on the Treasury Account. This resulted in the 
publication of Order 2020-1496 and Decree 2021-29 
on the centralisation of certain entities’ cash holdings 
in the Treasury Account.

Source: AFT, DGFiP
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The State’s debt  
management strategy

PERFORMANCE

NET MEDIUM- AND LONG- 
TERM ISSUANCE CAME  
TO €260BN IN 2020

REGULAR AND  
TRANSPARENT AUCTIONS 
REMAINED CENTRAL TO  
THE STATE FINANCING  
STRATEGY DESPITE  
MARKET VOLATILITY AT  
THE HEIGHT OF  
THE CRISIS

A
FT is tasked with raising sufficient funds 
on the markets to finance the State while 
keeping the debt burden to taxpayers 
down to a minimum under optimum 

conditions of security. AFT bases its financing policy 
on the consistency and transparency of its issuance 
and announces the issuance schedule on a yearly 
basis. It regularly taps every segment of France’s 
debt curve and ensures that the market is as deep 
and liquid as possible to keep issuance costs to a 
minimum.

This amount was the result of:

➜  €289.5bn of medium- and long-term 
borrowing, including €20.1bn of securities 
linked to French and euro area inflation (OATi 
and OAT€i)

➜  less €29.5bn in buybacks of securities set to 
be redeemed in 2021 (€22.8bn) and in 2022 
(€6.7bn)

The average yields at issue were negative for 
the first time ever in 2020, averaging −0.13% for 
medium- and long-term issues, excluding index-
linked securities. This is down from the positive 
yield of 0.11% recorded in 2019, despite the 
unprecedented rise in the borrowing requirement 
(see table opposite).

A
FT published its indicative financing 
programme on 11 December 2019, setting 
the main guidelines for 2020. 
 

In accordance with the auction schedule:
➜  Issuance of long-term OATs, meaning bonds 

with a residual maturity of more than eight 
years, took place on the first Thursday of each 
month.

➜  Issuance of medium-term OATs, with a residual 
maturity of between two and eight years, and 
index-linked bonds took place on the third 
Thursday of the month.

➜  Except in December, when only one auction 
was held. In contrast to previous years, 
August was treated as a normal month, with 
two auctions of fixed-rate securities and one 
auction of index-linked bonds.
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WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELDS
1998–2008 

AVG
2009–2017 

AVG
2018 2019 2020

SHORT TERM
All BTFs 3.15% 0.09% -0.60% -0.58% -0.56%

Of which 3-month BTFs 3.10% 0.05% -0.60% -0.57% -0.57%

MEDIUM AND 
LONG TERM

Fixed-rate issues with maturities of more than 
one year (excluding index-linked securities)

4.15% 1.63% 0.53% 0.11% -0.13%

of which 10-year fixed-rate issues (excluding 
index-linked securities)

4.44% 2.14% 0.81% 0.23% -0.12%

TOTAL ISSUES 3.73% 0.87% 0.10% -0.12% -0.30%

WEIGHTED AVERAGE YIELDS Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020 Q4 2020

SHORT TERM
All BTFs -0.60% -0.49% -0.57% -0.65%

Of which 3-month BTFs -0.60% -0.50% -0.57% -0.66%

MEDIUM AND 
LONG TERM

Fixed-rate issues with maturities of more than one year 
(excluding index-linked securities) 

-0.07% -0.05% -0.21% -0.26%

of which 10-year fixed-rate issues (excluding index-linked 
securities) 

-0.13% 0.04% -0.17% -0.29%

TOTAL ISSUES -0.22% -0.23% -0.36% -0.42%

➜ FINANCING CONDITIONS 
Figures as at 31 December 2020

AFT ADAPTED TO  
THE UNPRECEDENTED  
CRISIS AND CONTINUED  
ITS FLEXIBLE ISSUANCE POLICY  
TO BEST MEET CHANGING  
MARKET DEMAND

T
he unprecedented increase in France’s State 
borrowing requirement triggered by the pandemic 
was a major development in 2020, as was 
the case in all of the euro area countries. This 

requirement rose by €131.5bn, from €230.5bn in the Initial 
Budget Act to €362.0bn in the fourth Supplementary 
Budget Act. To meet these exceptional circumstances, 
AFT first increased the outstanding amount of short-term 
borrowing (BTFs) since the financial conditions on the 
short-term market are much more stable and favourable 
than they are on the market for medium- and long-term 
securities (OATs). The planned rise in BTFs outstanding was 
increased successively from €10bn in the 2020 Budget 
Bill to €27.5bn in the first Supplementary Budget Act, to 
€64.1bn in the second, to €82.9bn in the third, before 
being cut back to €53.7bn in the fourth Supplementary 
Budget Bill; it ultimately stood at €54.7bn in the outturn. 
The medium- and long-term borrowing programme 
(OATs) was revised upward, as the ECB’s support, as well 

as a better understanding of the virus, 
helped to dissipate uncertainty. The 
programme was increased from €205bn 
in the Initial Budget Act to €210bn in the 
first Supplementary Budget Act and to 
€245bn in the second, before stabilising 
at €260bn from July 2020 onward.

Alongside the national governments’ 
support plans, the ECB helped to stabilise 
financial markets by announcing a 
special support programme (the PEPP). 
The initial programme amount was 
€750bn in March. This was increased 
to €1,350bn and then to €1,850bn in 
December 2020. More importantly, the 
ECB stated that the support provided 
to countries could be differentiated 
to prevent fragmentation of the euro 
area. This meant that volatility on 
sovereign bond markets diminished 
sharply in April. Credit spreads between 
countries narrowed and yields fell sharply 
throughout 2020.

Source: AFT
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AFT met investor demand for longer dated 
securities in a low-yield environment, where even 
20-year bonds could carry a negative yield at the 
end of December 2020. The average issuance 
amounts for auctions of long-term securities with 
residual maturities of eight years or more increased 
from approximately €9.5bn in 2019 to €10.5bn in 
2020, whereas the average amounts for medium-
term securities were unchanged.

AFT also continued its efforts to maintain excellent 
liquidity for all of its securities. Many different means 
were used for this purpose.

➜  As it does every year, AFT consulted 
systematically with primary dealers before 
holding auctions so that the selection of 
securities to be issued was tailored to meet 
final investor demand.

➜  To ensure uniform liquidity in every segment 
of the yield curve for government bonds, AFT 
continued to tap “off-the-run” issues in 2020, 
in addition to tapping benchmark bonds. 
The aggregate amount of such issuance was 
€110.8bn, or 41.1% of gross issuance, excluding 
index-linked bonds.

➜  The two optional August auctions and optional 
December auction were all held to enhance 
the regularity with which Treasury issues are 
tapped in the course of the year. This meant 
that AFT held 33 auctions of medium- and 
long-term fixed-rate bonds and index-linked 
bonds in 2020.

➜  Lastly, AFT bought back €29.5bn in short-term 
securities to smooth out debt redemption over 
several years. This enabled AFT to provide a 
liquid market for securities maturing in 2021 
and 2022.

W
ith negative yields persisting, AFT 
decided to extend the maturity of its 
two-year benchmark bond, as it has 
done since 2015. The new maturity is 

set at 25 February 2023. AFT also issued a new five-
year OAT, maturing on 25 February 2026. 

These two new OATs carried negative yields when 
they were first issued and have zero coupons. 

AFT created a new 10-year benchmark bond 
maturing on 25 November 2030 with a zero 
coupon and a yield at issue that was only slightly 
positive at 0.07%. 

AFT undertook the syndicated launch of a new 
30-year bond, the OAT 25 May 2052, at the end of 
January 2020, in a time when yields and volatility 
declined sharply (see page 55).

In May, AFT adapted to rising borrowing 
requirements with the syndicated launch of a new 
20-year benchmark bond, the OAT 0.50% 25 May 
2040 (see page 55).

FIVE NEW FIXED-RATE  
BENCHMARK OATs WERE  
CREATED IN ACCORDANCE  
WITH THE INDICATIVE STATE  
FINANCING PROGRAMME
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DEMAND FOR LONG-TERM  
BONDS GREW IN 2020,  
LEADING TO LONGER  
AVERAGE MATURITY  
COMPARED TO 2019

I
nvestors continued to invest substantial funds 
in long-dated securities offering more attractive 
returns while yields were at historic lows, and 
even negative for residual maturities up to  

20 years at the end of 2020, after starting the year 
with a 0% yield on 10-year maturities.

This meant that the average maturity at issue of 
medium- and long-term OATs, which reflects 
final investor demand on the market for Treasury 
securities, increased in 2020 to 11.5 years, 
compared to 11.1 years in 2019. Issues with 
maturities of more than eight years accounted for 
more than 60% of the AFT issuance programme, 
excluding index-linked securities. 

The longer average maturity reveals a shift in 
investors’ positions to the longer end of the yield 
curve, as yields fell in 2020.

AFT CONFIRMED ITS STATUS  
AS A BENCHMARK ISSUER  
IN THE EURO AREA WITH  
THE CREATION OF A NEW  
30-YEAR BENCHMARK BOND

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC 
TOTAL  
2020

2 Y 4.2 3.4 3.0 2.3 3.1 16.1

3–4 Y 3.2 4.8 2.2 3.1 1.5 3.3 18.1

5 Y 3.9 3.2 2.4 4.7 7.2 7.9 5.6 3.4 5.1 5.3 48.8

6–8 Y 2.5 3.8 2.3 3.0 3.4 4.8 2.4 7.5 2.2 1.9 33.6

10 Y 6.5 5.9 6.2 9.0 10.8 8.8 6.7 9.0 5.7 6.8 7.0 82.3

15 Y 2.0 4.0 4.0 2.6 7.0 4.9 2.0 4.9 5.6 37.0

30 Y + 50 Y 7.3 1.3 1.7 3.1 2.2 3.1 2.2 3.5 2.7 4.0 2.4 33.4

i/€i 2.2 1.8 0.6 1.4 1.6 3.0 4.3 1.0 1.4 1.2 1.7 20.1

TOTAL 
GROSS 
ISSUANCE

28.6 23.5 20.4 25.5 34.9 27.7 32.5 19.5 23.1 22.8 23.3 8.0 289.5

I
ssuance at the longest end of the French yield 
curve (30 years or more) stood at €33.4bn in 
2020, up slightly from €30.6bn in 2019 but 
significantly from €13.4bn in 2018. This amount 

accounts for 13% of gross medium- and long-term 
issuance in 2020, unchanged from 2019, compared 
to 7% in 2018.

In addition to tapping existing issues, on 28 January 
2020 AFT created a new 30-year bond, the OAT 
0.75% 25 May 2052 and, on 27 May 2020 it created 
a new 20-year bond, the OAT 0.50% 25 May 2040. 
The new bonds fill out the long end of the yield 
curve and provide investors with the liquidity they 
want for these maturities.

➜  GROSS ISSUANCE BY AFT IN 2020
 (€bn)
Source: AFT
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T
he outstanding amount of short-term 
securities (BTFs) rose from €106.9bn 
at the end of 2019 to €161.6bn at the 
end of 2020, accounting for 8.1% of 

total negotiable debt. BTFs were used to meet 
the unprecedented increase in State borrowing 
requirements during the pandemic because of 
the strong stability of financial conditions on that 
market.

As a general rule, three benchmark securities (three-
month, six-month and one-year maturities) were 
sold at weekly BTF auctions and they encountered 
strong demand. Minor use was made of the ability 
to tap off-the-run securities to ensure liquidity for 
BTFs of all maturities and meet investor demand 
transmitted by primary dealers.

Given the ECB’s negative interest rate policy, with 
the deposit facility rate at −0.50%, BTF auctions 
produced an average yield of −0.56% over the year 
as a whole. These yields were very similar to those 
seen since 2018. More specifically, the very strong 

T
he average residual maturity of French 
sovereign debt stood at 8.2 years at the  
end of 2020, as it did at the end of 2019.  
It was the highest figure recorded since the 

creation of AFT. The average maturity of debt was 
sustained by the longer average maturity of new 
issues, which was offset by a big increase in BTFs 
outstanding, which rose by €54.7bn in 2020.

Maintaining a long average residual maturity for 
France’s debt makes debt service more resilient to 
a potential increase in interest rates and mitigates 
refinancing risk.

DEMAND FOR BTFs  
REMAINED VERY FIRM

AVERAGE RESIDUAL  
MATURITY OF FRENCH  
DEBT SETS A NEW RECORD

➜  SHARE OF BTFs IN DEBT OUTSTANDING
Residual maturity in years and share in % at year-end
Source: AFT

 Share of BTFs in outstanding debt (left-hand scale)
 Average residual debt maturity (right-hand scale)
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demand for high-quality collateral enabled AFT to 
auction its BTF securities all through 2020 at yields 
lower than the ECB’s deposit facility rate.
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O
n 28 January 2020, AFT conducted the syndicated launch 
of the OAT 0.75% 25 May 2052. When the book-building 
process was completed, total demand stood at €26bn, with 
€5bn allocated.

The bond was issued with a real yield of 0.73%, which was the lowest 
real yield at issue ever recorded during similar syndicated launches by 
AFT.

NEW 30-YEAR  
BENCHMARK OAT

Lead book runners
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 North America
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 Other Europe

 Asia & Middle East 

The allocation illustrated 
the diversity of the investor 
base for France’s debt at 
this end of the yield curve 
(see charts opposite). The 
bond was tapped at six 
auctions in 2020, bringing 
its outstanding amount up 
to €19bn at the end of the 
year.
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O
 n 27 May 2020, AFT conducted the syndicated launch 
of the OAT 0.50% 25 May 2040. When the book-building 
process was completed, total demand stood at €50bn, 
with €6.9bn allocated. The bond was issued with a yield 
of 0.53%.

NEW 20-YEAR  
BENCHMARK OAT

Lead book runners
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The allocation illustrated the 
diversity and quality of the 
investor base for this bond.
Nearly 400 final investors 
subscribed to the deal, 
setting a new record for an 
OAT.
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O
n 8 July 2020, AFT conducted the syndicated launch of the 
OAT 0.10% 1 March 2036. When the book-building process 
was completed, total demand stood at €16bn, with €3bn 
allocated. The bond was issued with a real yield of −0.63%.

NEW 15-YEAR BENCHMARK  
FRENCH INFLATION  
INDEX-LINKED BOND

Lead book runners
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The allocation illustrated 
the diversity of the investor 
base for this bond (see 
charts opposite). The bond 
was also tapped twice at 
auctions in 2020, bringing 
the outstanding amount up 
to more than €4bn at the 
end of the year.
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Green OAT 
THE SAME OUTSTANDING AMOUNT AS OATs WITH SIMILAR MATURITIES

T
he Green OAT (OAT 1.75% 25 June 2039), 
with inaugural issuance of €7bn in January 
2017, has seen its outstanding amount rise 
steadily since then. Successive tap issues 

raised this figure to €9.7bn at the end of 2017, 
€14.8bn at the end of 2018, €20.7bn at the end of 
2019 and €27.4bn at the end of 2020. France has 
confirmed its standing as one of the leading green 
bond issuers on the world stage, which reflects its 
role as a driving force for the implementation of the 
Paris Climate Agreement of December 2015.

Each year, the funds raised by Green OAT issues 
are used to finance a set of environmentally 
positive projects under the State budget to mitigate 
climate change, anticipate the associated risks, 
preserve biodiversity and fight pollution. The various 
ministries select the potentially eligible expenditures 
in their budgets. Each year, this selection is 
submitted for validation by an interministerial 
steering committee working under the aegis of the 
Prime Minister. The benchmark for this process 
is the new Greenfin certification which, in 2019, 
replaced the previous TEEC (Energy and Ecological 
Transition for the Climate) certification, created in 
2015.

The expenditure financed by the Green OAT is 
tracked to ensure it is green, in keeping with the 
commitments France made when the bond was 
first issued. The third Allocation and Performance 
Report was published in July 2020. This report 
presents the expenditure financed by issuance in 
2019 (see page 59). In November 2020, the third 
environmental evaluation report on eligible green 
expenditure focusing on the National Forestry 
Commission was published (see page 60). These 
evaluations contribute to effective steering of public 
policy and constitute one of the contributions that 
the Green OAT makes to France’s climate initiatives. 

The funds raised are reported in the accounts in 
the same way as funds from a conventional OAT 
and managed in compliance with the general 
budget rule. However, the amount issued cannot 
exceed the amount of eligible green expenditure. 
Therefore, the amounts appropriated under the 
State budget constitute a cap on Green OAT 
issuance in any given year. The allocation reports 
are used to verify the nominal equivalence between 
this source of funds and the uses made of it during 
the budget year. 

There were three auctions of Green OAT tap issues 
in 2020: one in February raised €2.0bn, one in April 
raised €2.6bn and one in July raised another €2.1bn, 
for a total of €6.7bn. This issuance was a response 
to strong demand and raised the outstanding 
amount to more than €27.4bn at the end of 2020, 
as mentioned above. In this way, the Green OAT 
has grown in less than four years to the same size 
as OATs with similar maturities. This contributes to 
its good liquidity, in keeping with the commitment 
that AFT made to the market when the bond was 
first issued in 2017. The Green OAT also contributes 
to deepening the market for green bonds. It is a 
liquid, risk-free asset that enables managers in this 
market segment to diversify their portfolios and 
potentially acquire higher-risk green investments. 

In accordance with the timetable that has not 
changed since 2018, the allocation of the funds 
raised in 2020 is detailed in a special report to be 
published in the third quarter of 2021.
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RELEASE OF THE GREEN OAT ALLOCATION AND  
PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2020

A
n annual report details the allocation of 
the funds raised by the Green OAT and the 
performance of the programmes funded. 
The fourth Allocation and Performance 

Report was published in July 2020. This report, 
along with those from previous years, can be 
viewed on AFT’s website. The report details all the 
expenditure funded by issuance in 2020, which 
totalled €6.7bn.

Independent third-party audits verified the tracking 
of the expenditure and its green credentials. 
Based on the procedures performed, KPMG 
was able to provide limited assurance about the 
allocation of funds, the appropriateness of the 
Green OAT framework document and its proper 
implementation. In addition, the rating agency 
Vigeo Eiris renewed its “reasonable” assurance, its 
highest rating, about the green credentials of the 
expenditure funded by issuance in 2019. 

Some of the eligible green expenditure from 2019, 
amounting to €1.8bn, was not funded by issuance 
in that year. In accordance with generally applicable 
best practices and the provisions of the Green 
OAT framework document, these expenditures 
were carried forward and included in the 2020 
eligible green expenditure, but the 2020 issuance 
was mainly used to fund 2020 expenditure items 
(€4.9bn). The disbursements under the various 
eligible programmes in 2020 totalled €7.9bn. The 
€4.9bn allocated from 2020 Green OAT issuance 
covered 62% of this expenditure. That left a 
remainder of €0.6bn, which was included in the 
amount of eligible green expenditure for 2020.

The €6.7bn raised in 2019 was divided between 
the different eligible programmes in proportion to 
the expenditure volumes they represent. As was 
the case in previous years, expenditure on climate 
change mitigation accounted for the largest 
share at 72%, followed by expenditure on climate 
change adaptation at 13%. Biodiversity expenditure 
accounted for approximately 7% of the total and 
the fight against pollution accounted for slightly 
less than 8%. The allocation by economic sector 
shows that construction accounts for 46% of the 
expenditure, especially with the share of the energy 
transition tax credit in the eligible green expenditure 
and the take-up of the MaPrimeRenov’ bonus for 
energy-saving renovation work. 

The presentation of the allocation of funds comes 
with a performance evaluation of the programmes 
concerned in very general terms. The evaluation is 
primarily based on data from budget documents, 
with supplementary environmental data, where 
available, such as data on air quality and acreage 
under organic crops. The report also focuses on the 
various expenditure items funded sector by sector, 
highlighting their relevance to the objectives set out 
in the Green OAT framework document, which are 
in turn aligned with several of the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals.
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THE GREEN OAT EVALUATION COUNCIL CONDUCTED A STUDY OF  
THE NATIONAL FORESTRY COMMISSION

I
n addition to the Allocation and Performance 
Report, expenditure funded by the Green OAT 
is evaluated for its environmental impact, in 
accordance with the commitments France 

made when the Green OAT was first issued. This 
evaluation work is carried out through successive 
analyses of different programmes. The objective 
is to evaluate each expenditure item at least once 
before the 2039 maturity of the OAT. The impact 
studies are overseen by an independent evaluation 
council, which defines the methodology and 
monitors the evaluation process. 

The council members are qualified individuals of 
international standing. The Chair is Manuel Pulgar-
Vidal, Peru’s former Minister for the Environment 
and the WWF Global Climate and Energy Practice 
Leader. The other members are: Mats Andersson, 
Vice Chair of the Global Challenges Foundation 
and former CEO of AP4, Sweden’s fourth national 
pension fund; Nathalie Girouard, Head of the 
Environmental Performance and Information 
Division of the Environment Directorate at the 
OECD; Karin Kemper, Senior Director for the 
Environment and Natural Resources Global Practice 
at the World Bank; Thomas Sterner, Professor of 
Environmental Economics at the University of 
Goteborg; Eric Usher, Head of the Secretariat of the 
United Nations Environment Programme Finance 
Initiative. Ma Jun, Director of the Center for Finance 
and Development and Special Adviser to the 
Governor of the People’s Bank of China, resigned 
from the Council in September 2020 and the 
process for appointing a replacement was initiated. 
The Council also includes two observers: Sean 
Kidney, co-founder and CEO of the Climate Bond 
Initiative, and Nicholas Pfaff, Senior Director, Market 
Practice and Regulatory Policy at the International 
Capital Markets Association. 

The council met four times using video 
conferencing in 2020. These meetings took place in 
March, June, September and November. Following 
its 2018 report on the energy transition tax credit 
(CITE) and its 2019 report on the French Waterways 
Office (VNF), the council decided to evaluate 
the environmental impact of the subsidy for 
public service obligations granted to the National 

Forestry Commission (ONF). This work resulted 

in the third Green OAT Environmental Evaluation 

Report2 published at the end of November 2020. 

The council solicited the expertise of independent 

reviewers to ensure that its evaluation complied 

with academic best practices. These reviewers were 

Marion Vinot-Gosselin (INRAE) and Jean-Luc Peyron 

(ECOFOR).

The report concluded that the ONF’s management 

activities have a potential, albeit limited, impact 

on climate change mitigation, stemming in large 

part from the promotion of lumber as a substitute 

for construction materials with a larger carbon 

footprint. The report also highlighted the very 

positive contribution that the ONF makes to climate 

change adaptation through preventive actions 

regarding such hazards as forest fires, and its 

positive results in protecting biodiversity. 

In this report, the Green OAT Evaluation Council 

sought to apply the sustainable management 

criteria defined in the European Union taxonomy. 

The alignment of eligible green expenditure with 

the EU taxonomy is to be evaluated in stages. This 

process could raise some methodological problems 

resulting from a lack of statistical data, or from 

the fact that the taxonomy does not yet cover all 

economic sectors. This is nonetheless a medium-

term objective, which is to bring the Green OAT 

into line with the European green bond standards 

now being drafted.

2. The report, along with the Evaluation Council’s terms of reference and opinion can be found on AFT’s website: 
www.aft.gouv.fr/files/medias-aft/3_Dette/3.2_OATMLT/3.2.2_OATVerte/2020_ONF_UK.pdf 
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A SECOND GREEN OAT IS IN DEVELOPMENT

S
ince its creation, the specific features of the 
OAT 2039 have been set out in a framework 
document that describes the criteria for 
selecting eligible green expenditure items. 

This expenditure serves environmental objectives 
and is associated with specific sectors, including 
construction, energy, transport, living resources, 
adaptation, pollution and eco-efficiency. Eligible 
green expenditure items are identified each 
year on the basis of the Initial Budget Act by an 
interministerial working group that reports to the 
Prime Minister.

A green budgeting exercise, conducted by means 
of a systematic review of all State expenditure and 
its environmental impacts, identified new areas 
for eligible green expenditure in 2020, including 
expenditure on official development assistance and 
expenditure on environmental science research. 
Parliament also eliminated the “Energy Transition” 
earmarked account as of 1 January 2021 under 
the 2020 Budget Act. Government support for 
renewable energy sources, which had been funded 
by a tax paid into the earmarked account, is now 
part of eligible green expenditure. The National 
Recovery and Resilience Plan launched in 2020 
also includes a major green component. Much of 
this plan is likely to be refinanced by the European 
Union through its Recovery and Resilience Facility, 
but some clearly identified expenditure will be 
eligible green expenditure, with care taken to avoid 
double counting.

All in all, much of the groundwork was laid in 
2020 for expanding the scope of eligible green 
expenditure. The Green OAT Evaluation Council 
was asked for its opinion on a proposal for a such a 
change and said that it was in favour. After the 2021 
Initial Budget Act was passed, the interministerial 
working group validated this approach. The scope 

of eligible green expenditure was expanded from 
€8bn to €15bn, setting the stage for a new Green 
OAT, assuming that the demand for both bonds 
can be met with satisfactory liquidity. The creation 
of a new green maturity on the OAT yield curve 
also became a matter for consideration as the 
outstanding amount of the OAT 2039 approached 
€30bn.

Under these circumstances, the Minister for the 
Economy, Finance and the Recovery, Bruno Le 
Maire, took the opportunity of Climate Finance 
Day on 30 October 2020 to announce that France 
would issue a new green bond in 2021. AFT stated 
in its indicative State financing programme that 
the new Green OAT will be issued with a maturity 
of approximately 20 years, as was the case for the 
previous Green OAT.
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Internal control and  
risk management 

A BROAD CONTROL  
FRAMEWORK

TASKS OF THE AFT INTERNAL 
CONTROL, COMPLIANCE,  
RISK POLICY AND LEGAL  
AFFAIRS UNIT

A
FT must comply with stringent control 
criteria. The agency is legally required to 
answer parliamentary questions, especially 
concerning the groundwork for budget 

acts. AFT is also subject to a number of audits, 
including by the Government Audit Office (two 
audits per year for accounting matters and one for 
the Budget Outturn Report). 

These controls also include action by specialised 
audit firms to validate the quality and probity of 
accounting information, to issue opinions on the 
monitoring of prudential measures or to conduct 
annual internal audits.

AFT has elected to comply with the obligations 
stipulated in the Order of 3 November 2014 on 
the internal control of businesses in the banking 
sector that can be applied to the agency. All 
these measures mean that AFT has permanent 
mechanisms for assessing and controlling all the 
risks generated by market and cash management 
transactions.

A
FT has an Internal Control, Compliance, 
Risk Policy and Legal Affairs Unit that is 
independent from its operating functions. 
This unit oversees AFT’s internal control 

system, organises audits, manages the risks 
associated with financial transactions and the 
selection of counterparties. The unit coordinates 
the various control and audit tasks in these areas.

The scope of this control and risk monitoring 
function has widened because of the diversity of 
AFT’s transactions, the payment circuits used and 
the growing number of international counterparties.

The unit is also tasked with drafting risk 
management policy for the approval of AFT General 
Management and that of the Directorate General 
of the Treasury, along with any other measures 
that enhance risk monitoring. The unit is also 
responsible for managing legal and compliance 
risks, ensuring the validity of AFT’s contracts, 
monitoring regulatory developments, managing the 
rules of professional conduct for employees and 
managing the confidentiality policy.

Together with the line functions, the unit regularly 
updates AFT’s general activity framework, which 
sets management, organisation and control 
standards and which is approved by the Director 
General of the Treasury. The unit is also responsible 
for monitoring AFT’s business continuity plan. 

In addition, it provides coordination and secretariat 
services for the AFT Risk Committee, which was 
inaugurated in 2019 based on the provisions of 
the Order of 3 November 2014, as adapted to the 
structure of AFT. The purpose of the committee is 
to enhance the formalisation of some of the work 
and decisions regarding risk management and 
internal control, but it also brings in experts from 
outside AFT for their views on these matters and 
priorities for future action. The committee members 
include senior managers from the Treasury and 
external contributors with the requisite expertise. 
The committee meets once a year.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

T
he legislation governing AFT requires it to 
submit an annual audit report to Parliament 
on financial risk management and the 
prudential procedures implemented. 

In recent years, AFT has relied on the expertise of 
a specialised external audit firm to conduct the 
audit. The audit assesses the appropriateness of 
AFT’s procedures with regard to its activities and 
the associated risks by considering five angles with 
reference to the regulatory provisions applying to 
financial institutions:

➜  Transaction and internal procedures 
supervision system

➜  Accounting organisation and information 
processing

➜  Risk and result measurement systems

➜  Risk supervision and management systems

➜  Documentation and reporting system

The assessment gives ratings ranging from  
one to four:

➜  One: the existing mechanism satisfactorily 
covers identified risks generated by AFT’s 
transactions

➜  Two: the existing mechanism needs to be 
extended to cover identified risks

➜  Three: the existing mechanism has substantial 
shortcomings requiring immediate corrective 
action to cover the identified risks

➜  Four: the existing mechanism does not 
cover the identified risks generated by AFT’s 
transactions

This external assessment is one component of the 
first performance indicator presented to Parliament 
during the budget preparation process. It considers 
the quality of AFT’s control system (see page 110). 

It is supplemented by data on the number of 
incidents or violations of the general framework. 
This data allows for qualitative and quantitative 
tracking of various incidents, which are broken 
down into three categories:

➜  Violations of powers of signature

➜  Violations of risk limits

➜  Violations of transaction procedures

It is an internal quality measurement of AFT’s 
organisation and compliance with requirements.
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A second indicator that is submitted to Parliament (see page 110) measures the number of execution 
incidents occurring in AFT’s transactions to ensure rapid detection of problems or incidents that could disrupt 
the proper execution of debt and cash management transactions.

This indicator relies on the day-to-day record of execution incidents.

UNIT
2018

ACTUAL
2019

ACTUAL
2020

ACTUAL

2021
APP TARGET  

2021

Incidents that decreased the balance at 
the Banque de France

Number 1 2 2 0

Incidents that increased the balance at 
the Banque de France

Number 5 23 5 0

Other incidents with no impact on the 
balance at the Banque de France

Number 44 63 76 0

These operating incidents may have affected the 
smooth execution of transactions, but none of the 
incidents recorded in 2020 led to any threat to the 
State’s financial continuity.

“Other incidents” that have no impact on the 
Treasury Account balance are the most frequent. 
These are mainly one-off minor technical incidents 
occurring in the internal or external information 
systems and the communications networks used 
to manage operations. They sometimes lead to 
delays in processing flows of funds or transactions. 
The increase seen in 2020 stems in part from the 
COVID-19 crisis and implementation of teleworking 
at AFT and in its ecosystem.

The incident record, which relies on the 
comprehensiveness of controls and the granularity 
of the risk indicators used, is part of a continuous 
improvement approach with regard to the 
quality of internal and external operations. It is 
AFT’s responsibility to reduce the number of 
incidents, regardless of their source. This ensures 
accountability on the part of all of the operators 
concerned, and not just AFT personnel.

UNIT
2018

ACTUAL
2019

ACTUAL
2020

ACTUAL

2021
APP TARGET 

2021

Incidents or violations of the general 
activity framework

Number 0 0 0 0

External rating of the internal control 
function: Transaction and internal 
procedures supervision system

Rating 
between 1 

and 4
2 1 1 1

External rating of the internal control 
function: Accounting organisation and 
information processing

Rating 
between 1 

and 4
1 1 1 1

External rating of the internal control 
function: Risk and result measurement 
system

Rating 
between 1 

and 4
1 1 1 1

External rating of the internal control 
function: Risk supervision and 
management system

Rating 
between 1 

and 4
1 1 1 1

External rating of the internal control 
function: Documentation and reporting 
system

Rating 
between 1 

and 4
1 1 1 1
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*On 1 January 2020, AFT assumed €25bn of SNCF debt, as set out in the 2020 Budget Act. The arrangement relies on matching loans made through the Public 
Debt Fund (CDP). Two matching loan contracts were signed between SNCF Réseau and the CDP, with financial terms (maturities, interest rates, calculation 
bases, etc.) that mirror each other exactly. Then, in the second phase, the State took SNCF Réseau’s place as the CDP’s debtor under the terms of a novation 
arrangement, thereby relieving SNCF Réseau of the corresponding debt. The relations between the SNCF and its debtors have not changed. Each repayment 
made by the SNCF will give rise to a payment from the State to the CDP and then a payment from the CDP to the SNCF until the debt is fully repaid in August 
2119. The SNCF had 400 loan contracts with its creditors, including loans in ten different currencies, hedged by financial derivatives. These were aggregated into 
123 synthetic loans assumed by AFT. In 2020, the redemption of SNCF Réseau debt assumed by the State amounted to €1.7bn. 
A second phase with the assumption of €10bn in SNCF debt is to take place on 1 January 2022.

Post-trade management  
and transaction  
risk monitoring

T
he Post-Trade Operations Unit’s activities and risk 
monitoring focus on State debt redemption and interest 
payments, processing AFT’s cash and hedging transactions, 
and risk management and monitoring for all financial 

market transactions. The unit also manages the Government Debt 
Fund and administers its market transactions. 

The Post-Trade Operations Unit is France’s auctioneer for emissions 
trading on the European platform for greenhouse gas emissions 
allowance trading. In this capacity it supervises the auctions and 
proper execution of transactions. It tracks carbon allowance 
transactions and prices on the market each month. 

The Unit also represents AFT within the securities industry trade 
association and takes part in European projects and initiatives 
relating to market infrastructure in close cooperation with the 
Banque de France and the European Central Bank. 

It tracks final settlement yields on the secondary market for 
government securities on a regular basis, since this yield is a 
component in the liquidity of the debt.

In 2020, the Post-Trade Operations Unit processed and executed 
more than 1,900 market transactions, including 600 cash 
management transactions, 750 short-, medium- and long-term 
borrowing transactions, 25 hedging transactions with forward 
financial instruments on behalf of other State bodies, and more 
than 500 transactions as part of the assumption of the SNCF debt.*

The Post-Trade and Risk Monitoring Unit also finalised the new 
framework for AFT’s dealings with primary dealers that had 
initially been located in the United Kingdom, following the United 
Kingdom’s invocation of Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty (Brexit).

POST-TRADE 
ACTIVITIES 
ARE ORGANISED 
AROUND FOUR MAIN 
TASKS:
1. State debt redemption and interest 
payments, as well as processing all AFT 
transactions initiated by the Cash Unit and 
the Debt Unit (back-office).

2. Market risk management and monitoring: 
The Post-Trade Operations Unit, working 
with the Internal Control Unit and Senior 
Management, regularly tracks the main 
market risks that AFT monitors: credit risk, 
exposure concentration, commitment risk, 
settlement risk and counterparty risk. It 
also monitors compliance with limits on a 
daily basis. The unit constantly reviews risk-
monitoring techniques to keep pace with 
changes in the financial environment and 
AFT’s evolving needs.

3. Management of margin calls: All 
forward trades, derivatives and repurchase 
agreements are governed by bilateral 
contracts that establish mechanisms to 
mitigate AFT’s exposure to counterparty risk 
in the performance of its tasks. The Post-
Trade Operations Unit handles the margin 
calls for all of these transactions to reduce 
AFT’s residual counterparty risk exposure.

4. Administrative management of the 
Public Debt Fund (CDP).
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Financial review –
AFT’s financial statements
On the management of negotiable debt securities and cash,  

hedging the State’s financial risks and managing  
the debts transferred to the State

FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance sheet items

I .

ASSETS NOTES

AMOUNTS (in €m)

31 
DECEMBER 

2020 

31 
DECEMBER 

2019
CHANGE

CURRENT ASSETS (EXCLUDING CASH) 1

Prepaid expenses on financial debts 1.2 7,044.32 7,995.22 -950.90

Discounts on OATs 7,044.32 7,995.22 -950.90

Expenses on financial debt 159.42 140.37 19.05

OAT issuance expense 159.42 140.37 19.05

Other claims 1.7 0.94 0.01 0.93

Margin calls provided for repurchase agreements - - -

Accrued interest - - -

Margin calls provided for forward financial instruments - - -

Accrued interest 0.94 0.01 0.93

CASH MANAGEMENT 2

Bank funds -49.89 -14.56 -35.33

Accrued interest on the State’s account with the Banque de France -49.89 -14.56 -35.33

Other cash items 2.2 - 15,300.00 -15,300.00

Unsecured loans on the interbank market - 15,300.00 -15,300.00

Accrued interest - - -

Repurchase agreements - - -

Accrued interest - - -

Investment securities 2.1 - 4,999.91 -4,999.91

Securities purchases - 5,000.00 -5,000.00

Prepaid interest - -0.09 0.09

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED EXPENSES 3

Deferred income – off-balance sheet commitments 5.37 16.00 -10.63

Interest payable on interest rate swaps for macro-hedging 3.2 5.37 5.39 -0.02

Interest payable on interest rate swaps for micro-hedging 3.3 - 10.61 -10.61
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LIABILITIES NOTES

AMOUNTS (IN €M)

31 DECEMBER 
2020 

31 DECEMBER 
2019 

CHANGE

FINANCIAL DEBT 1

Negotiable debt securities 2,017,579.24 1,839,366.45 178,212.78

Treasury Bonds (OATs) 1.1 1,855,648.57 1,732,235.71 123,412.87

Par values 1,819,300.64 1,689,758.64 129,542.00

Capitalised interest - - -

Index-linking supplements 20,077.39 26,131.79 -6,054.39

Accrued coupons at issue 374.13 335.02 39.11

Accrued interest 15,896.41 16,010.25 -113.85

Discount Treasury bills (BTFs) 1.3 161,930.66 107,130.75 54,799.92

Par value 161,608.00 106,933.00 54,675.00

Prepaid interest 322.66 197.75 124.92

Other loans 1.6 24,549.07 1,448.88 23,100.19

SNCF loans assumed via the CDP 24,179.96 1,407.07 22,772.88

Accrued interest 369.11 41.81 327.31

NON-FINANCIAL DEBTS 1 -

Prepaid income on financial debts 1.2 105,218.55 85,233.19 19,985.35

Issue premiums on OATs 105,218.55 85,233.19 19,985.35

Other debts 1.7 30.08 97.58 -67.50

Margin calls received on repurchase agreements - - -

Accrued interest - - -

Margin calls received on forward financial instruments 29.76 97.36 -67.60

Accrued interest - - -

Accounts payable 0.32 0.22 0.10

CASH MANAGEMENT 2

Other cash items 2.2 - 0.39 -0.39

Unsecured loans - - -

Accrued interest - 0.39 -0.39

Repurchase agreements - - -

Accrued interest - - -

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED EXPENSES 3

Payables – off-balance sheet liabilities 0.94 0.79 0.14

Interest payable on interest rate swaps for macro-hedging 3.2 0.94 0.79 0.14

Interest payable on interest rate swaps for micro-hedging 3.3 - - -
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Income statement

TABLE OF NET EXPENSES NOTES
AMOUNTS (IN €M)

31 DECEMBER 
2020 

31 DECEMBER 
2019 

CHANGE

FINANCIAL DEBT

Negotiable debt securities

Interest 4.1 -33,822.34   -35,575.90   1,753.55

Interest expense on OATs -34,653.94   -36,219.26   1,565.32

Net interest income on BTFs 831.60 643.37 188.23

Amortisation of premiums and discounts 4.1 9,757.34 8,013.66  1,743.68

Amortisation expense for discounts on securities issued -1,140.68 -1,274.00 133.33

Amortisation income from premiums on securities issued 10,898.01 9,287.66 1,610.35

Index-linking of OATs 4.1 781.64 -1,788.22 2,569.86

Net index-linking expense 781.64 -1,788.22 2,569.86

Buybacks or swaps -549.57 -1,254.53 704.96

Net expense -549.57 -1,254.53 704.96

Commissions and fees related to debt management 4.2 -12.78 -11.48 -1.30

Net expense -12.78 -11.48 -1.30

Net financial expense on financial debts -23,845.71   -30,616.46   6,770.75

OTHER FINANCIAL DEBTS

Loans and forward financial instruments assumed for third parties

SNCF loans assumed via the CDP -807.03 -79.48 -727.55

Interest expense on borrowing -829.08 -98.63 -730.46

Interest expense on forward financial instruments - - -

Interest income on forward financial instruments 22.05 19.15 2.90

Expense related to the revaluation of contracts in foreign currencies - - -

Income related to the revaluation of contracts in foreign currencies - - -

Net financial expense on other financial debts -807.03   -79.48 -727.55

FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Interest expense on forward financial instruments -3.88   -3.74 -0.15   

Other net expense or net income on forward financial instruments 1.14   1.45 -0.31   

Interest income on forward financial instruments 28.50   28.48 0.02

Net financial income on forward financial instruments 25.76   26.19 -0.44   

CASH MANAGEMENT

Interest expense -558.31   -237.38   -320.92   

Net interest expense on bank liquidity 4.3 -520.30   -198.51   -321.79   

Interest expense on unsecured lending and borrowing on the interbank 
market 

-31.93   -35.36   3.43   

Interest expense on unsecured lending and borrowing – other euro area States -0.05   -1.02   0.97   

Interest expense on unsecured lending and borrowing – supranational agencies -3.56   -0.24   -3.33

Interest expense on margin calls for repurchase agreements -     -0.00   0.00   

Net interest expense on repurchase agreements -     -0.18   0.18   

Interest expense on securities purchases -2.46   -2.08   -0.38   

Interest income -     0.01   -0.01   

Net interest income on bank liquidity 4.3 -     -     -     

Interest income on unsecured lending and borrowing on the interbank market -     0.01   -0.01   

Interest income on unsecured lending and borrowing – other euro area States -     -     -     

Interest income on margin calls for repurchase agreements -     0.00   -0.00   

Net interest on repurchase agreements -     -     -     

Interest income on securities purchases -     -     -     

Net financial expense on cash management transactions -558.31   -237.37   -320.93   

NET EXPENSE -25,185.30   -30,907.12   5,721.83  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

II.1 – Overview

AFT was created by the Order of 8 February 2001 
as an agency with national scope reporting to the 
Directorate General of the Treasury. Its mission is to 
manage the State’s debt and cash holdings under 
optimum security conditions and at the lowest 
long-term cost for taxpayers.

Since 2006, AFT has also been responsible for 
hedging certain financial risks on behalf of other 
ministries or other departments of the Ministry for 
the Economy, Finance and the Recovery. Therefore, 
in addition to managing the government’s debt and 
cash positions, it also carries out ancillary industrial 
and commercial transactions.

Budget transactions relating to AFT’s management 
tasks are recorded in two trading accounts:

➜  Budget transactions arising from management 
of the State’s debt and cash holdings are 
recorded in Trading Account 903 “State Debt 
and Cash Management”, which was opened 
under the terms of Article 22 of Constitutional 
Bylaw 2001-692 on Budget Acts of 1 August 
2001.

II .
➜  Budget transactions relating to hedging 

the State’s financial risks, other than those 
recorded in Trading Account 903, are recorded 
in Trading Account 910 “Hedging the State’s 
Financial Risks”, which was opened under the 
terms of Article 54 of the 2006 Budget Act 
2005-1719 of 30 December 2005.

This means that all of the transactions conducted 
by AFT are recorded in the State’s accounts and 
finalised in the State’s general account.

AFT’s financial statements are derived directly 
from the State’s general account. They present the 
balance sheet and income statement items relating 
to AFT’s transactions:

➜  The balance sheet items from the State’s 
general account for transactions relating to the 
management of the State’s negotiable debt 
and cash holdings

➜  The income statement items that show the 
impact of AFT’s transactions on debt service

➜  A summary of off-balance sheet commitments 
relating to hedging the State’s financial risks.

Off-balance sheet items

* The transactions arising from oil swaps are carried out by the Finance Ministry Accounts Department on behalf of the Armed Forces Fuel Department. 
They are recorded as off-balance sheet transactions (see Note 3.5).

COMMITMENTS UNDER THE TERMS OF  
CLEARLY SPECIFIED AGREEMENTS

NOTES

AMOUNTS (IN €M)

31 DECEMBER 
2020 

31 DECEMBER 
2019 

FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3

Interest-rate swaps

   Macro-hedging 3.2 1,000.00   1,000.00   

   Micro-hedging 3.3 -     500.00   

Forward currency contracts 3.4 2,209.45   2,440.78   

Oil swaps* 3.5 121.53   123.55   

OTHER LIABILITIES

Cash lines of credit 2.3 6,000.00   6,000.00   

SNCF Réseau loans assumed via the CDP 1.6 -     25,000.00   
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However, the financial statements presented 
here do not include transactions on Treasury 
correspondents’ accounts or transactions relating 
to non-negotiable debt, even though these 
transactions are part of Trading Account 903  
in budgetary terms.

II.2 – Highlights of 2020

The dominant events in 2020 were the COVID-19 
crisis and the exceptional borrowing measures 
taken by governments and backed up by non-
standard monetary policy programmes. The leading 
central banks’ massive interventions stabilised 
markets and maintained abundant liquidity to 
prevent financial conditions from tightening up. 
In March 2020, the ECB initiated an emergency 
programme to cope with the pandemic. Its 
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) 
consists of purchases of debt securities for an initial 
total of €750bn, which has now been raised to 
€1,850bn. This programme comes on top of the 
bank’s existing quantitative easing arrangements, 
which are the asset purchase programme that 
started in 2015 and targeted longer term refinancing 
operations (TLTROs).

Despite the large increase in governments’ 
borrowing requirements linked to the pandemic and 
lockdowns, AFT enjoyed very favourable borrowing 
terms in 2020. These terms were the combined 
result of the ECB’s extremely accommodative 
monetary policy and investors’ increased appetite 
for the most liquid and safest assets. The average 
yield on AFT’s medium-term and long-term 
issuance stood at −0.13%, compared to 0.11% in 
2019. The cost of short-term borrowing remained 
negative throughout 2020, standing at −0.56% on 
average, compared to −0.58% in 2019.

Three syndicated bond launches took place in 
2020. The first syndicated bond was the OAT 0.75% 
May 2052, a new 30-year benchmark bond. Total 
demand for the launch reached a record of more 
than €26.5bn, with €5bn allocated. In May, the 
inaugural issue of the OAT 0.50% May 2040 saw 
€7bn allocated, for total demand of nearly €51bn. 

The launch in early July of the OATi 0.10% index-
linked bond maturing in March 2036 attracted total 
demand of nearly €16bn, with €3bn allocated.

II.3 – Accounting principles and methods

1 – Accounting principles 

The key accounting principles underpinning the 
State accounting standards and used for these 
financial statements are outlined below. 

The lawfulness principle states that the accounts 
comply with the rules and procedures in force. 

The probity principle states that the rules and 
procedures in force have been applied to present a 
true and fair view of the situation and the materiality 
of the events recorded.

The true and fair view principle states that the 
information provided is sufficient in all material 
aspects and gives the reader satisfactory 
knowledge. This principle means that 
supplementary information must be provided in 
the notes to the financial statements when the 
application of an accounting rule is not adequate to 
provide a true and fair view. 

The accrual principle states that expense and 
income must be attached to an accounting period 
and must be reported in that period only. 

The going concern principle states that the State 
will continue to conduct its activities for the 
foreseeable future. 

The consistency principle ensures the continuity 
of accounting methods and the consistency of 
accounting information over successive periods. 
This is necessary for comparing periods. Changes 
to accounting policies and methods should only be 
made if they help give a truer and fairer presentation 
of the financial statements. Any change that has a 
material impact on the results should be explained 
in the notes to the financial statements  (see the 
provisions of Standard 14 – “Changes in accounting 
methods, changes in accounting estimates and 
adjustments”). 
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The full disclosure principle states that the financial 
statements must be intelligible, material and 
accurate.

2 – Accounting standards

The accounting standards are set out in the 
State Accounting Standards Manual (RNCE) that 
was adopted by the Order of 21 May 2004, and 
last amended by the Order of 24 July 2018, as 
amended.

Standard 10 – “Cash items” and Standard 11 – 
“Financial debts and forward financial instruments” 
are of particular relevance for AFT’s transactions.
The latest amendment to these standards was 
introduced by the Order of 23 September 2015, 
published in the Official Journal on 25 September 
2015, which implemented the relevant Notices 
2015-06 and 2015-07 with immediate effect.

These standards apply to balance sheet items 
and the expense and income arising from the 
transactions are covered by Standard 2 “Expense” 
and Standard 4 – “Operating income, trading 
income and financial income”.

3 – Recognition and measurement procedures

3.1 – Rules and methods applying to balance 
sheet items

3.1.1 – Cash management

Assets and liabilities are first recognised at their 
acquisition cost, excluding ancillary charges. 
Various ancillary assets and liabilities are attached to 
each asset and liability item. 

Cash position: The cash position refers to all assets 
that are by nature immediately convertible to cash 
at their par value. The cash position is recognised in 
the financial statements for the accounting period 
in which the corresponding assets are acquired:

➜  Transfers received and automatic credits and 
debits are recognised when they are posted to 
the bank account.

➜  Transfers sent and in transit are recognised 
when the transfer order is issued.

The cash position may generate positive and/or 
negative returns, but accrued interest is recognised 
for the net amount, which may be negative, and 
attached to the relevant asset.

The cash position in foreign currencies is converted 
to euros at the end of the accounting period on the 
basis of the last spot exchange rates of the period. 
Currency translation adjustments are recognised in 
the income statement for the period.

Investment securities are the financial instruments 
defined in the Monetary and Financial Code (Articles 
L.211-1 and L.211-2). They are recognised during 
the accounting period when they were acquired 
and ancillary acquisition costs are recognised as an 
expense. At the end of the accounting period, the 
difference between the book value (represented by 
the market value) and the cost may show unrealised 
capital gains or losses. Unrealised capital losses are 
recognised as impairment of assets and they are 
not offset against unrealised capital gains.

In the case of securities with prepaid interest, the 
difference between the purchase price and the par 
value of the securities corresponds to the financial 
income recognised in the income statement. 
Securities may generate positive and/or negative 
returns, and the net amount of accrued interest, 
which may be negative or positive, is attached to 
the relevant asset.

Other cash items are securities that can be realised 
in the very short-term with no risk of a change in 
value, such as:

➜  Claims arising from repurchase agreements 
in State securities or equivalents or from 
unsecured lending and borrowing

➜  Debts arising from reverse repurchase 
agreements in State securities or equivalents or 
from unsecured lending and borrowing

➜  Debts arising from the use of cash lines of 
credit
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These claims and debts are recognised when 
the funds are transferred and for the amount 
transferred. Claims and debts arising from 
unsecured lending and borrowing are recognised 
for the nominal amount deposited. Liabilities arising 
from cash lines of credit are recognised for the 
proportion of the authorised amounts actually 
drawn. Any drawing on a cash line of credit will 
have an impact on the financial commitment 
received in the off-balance sheet.

3.1.2 – Financial and non-financial debts

3.1.2.1 – Negotiable debt securities

The government’s financial debts are recognised in 
the accounts:

➜ if they constitute a definite debt

➜ if they can be measured reliably

Financial debts are recognised in the financial 
statements for the period in which the securities 
were issued or the loans were contracted and the 
corresponding funds were received or taken over 
on behalf of third parties.

The debts are recognised at their redemption value, 
which generally corresponds to their par value.

Negotiable government securities include the 
various instruments listed below. 

Capitalisation OATs: The counterpart to the annual 
interest payments is recognised as part of the financial 
debt payable at the end of the accounting period. 

Index-linked securities (OATi and OAT€i, linked 
to the consumer price index) are recognised at 
their redemption value, which corresponds to their 
index-linked par value at the time of issue, at the 
end of each accounting period and at maturity. 
If the par value of an index-linked security is 
guaranteed to be the redemption value,  
the liability recognised cannot be less than 100%  
of the par value.

The index-linking supplement at the time of the 
issue of index-linked securities is recognised as 
either a gain corresponding to the portion of the 
index-linking supplement collected by the State, 
or as a loss corresponding to the proportion of the 
index-linking supplement paid by the State. This 
supplement is recognised in a separate liability 
account from the par value.
The index-linking supplements calculated over the 

life of the securities are recognised as financial 
expenses if the index rises or as financial income if 
the index falls.

Since the last BTAN was redeemed in July 2017, AFT 
has issued medium- and long-term securities only 
in the form of OATs, OATis and OAT€is.

Fixed-rate discount Treasury bills (BTFs): The 
difference between the issue price and the par 
value is recognised as a financial expense in the 
income statement. Securities may generate positive 
and/or negative yields, and the net amount of 
accrued interest, which may be negative or positive, 
is recognised as a liability. 

Securities with annual coupons (OATs): Accrued 
interest is recognised in the income statement at 
the end of the accounting period.

3.1.2.2 – Premiums, discounts, related 
expenses and accrued interest  
at the time of issue

Premiums and discounts: New issues of fungible 
securities are attached to the existing securities 
and the price of the new tranches is adjusted to 
suit market conditions. The difference between 
the issue price and the par value is a premium or 
a discount that reduces or increases the State’s 
financial expense.

Premiums are recognised as prepaid income under 
non-financial debt on the liability side of the balance 
sheet and discounts are recognised as prepaid 
expenses under current assets on the asset side 
of the balance sheet. Premiums and discounts are 
recognised in the income statement at the end of 
the accounting period using the actuarial valuation 
method over the life of the security. Premiums 
and discounts that have not been amortised must 
be recognised in the income statement on the 
redemption date. Extraordinary premium and 
discount payments are recognised for securities 
buybacks, using the “first-in-first-out” method.
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Issuance expense: This expense includes 
commissions paid to financial intermediaries 
(underwriting commissions on OAT auctions 
for retail investors, syndication commissions on 
syndicated bonds).

They are initially recognised as prepaid expenses 
on the asset side of the balance sheet. They are 
amortised in the income statement using the 
straight-line method over the life of the relevant 
issues. Straight-line amortisation is used because 
it does not produce significantly different values in 
the income statement from those obtained using 
the actuarial valuation method.

Accrued interest at issue: If the issue date of a 
security is different from the coupon date of the 
tranche, the subscriber pays the interest accruing 
between the annual coupon payment date  
and the date of issue. The interest accruing 
between the coupon payment date and the issue 
date is paid and recognised as an account payable 
on the liability side of the balance sheet.

3.1.2.3 – Securities buybacks

When a security buyback occurs, the difference 
between the buyback value and the par value, 
which may be index-linked, including the 
unamortised portion of the premium or discount 
as of the buyback date, is recognised as financial 
expense or income in the income statement.

3.1.2.4 – Debts assumed for third parties

Debts assumed for third parties are recorded on 
the balance sheet as the counterpart to a financial 
expense equal to the redemption value of the loan, 
plus, as appropriate, ancillary items, such as accrued 
interest on the date the debt was assumed.

3.1.2.5 – Borrowings in foreign currencies

Borrowing is recognised at the par value on the 
date the funds are received using the exchange rate 
of that day. At the end of the accounting period, the 
par value of the borrowing is recognised using the 
exchange rate of that day and currency translation 
adjustments are recognised as an unrealised gain or 
loss in the income statement. 

Accrued interest in foreign currencies is recognised 
at the current exchange rate and recorded in the 
income statement at the end of the accounting 
period. Accrued interest at maturity is recognised in 
the income statement at the exchange rate on the 
payment date.

3.1.2.6 – Adjustments

No adjustments were made to the starting balance 
for 2020.

3.1.3 – Forward financial instruments

Forward financial instruments are contracts under 
which one of the counterparties undertakes 
vis-à-vis the second to deliver or take delivery of 
an underlying asset, or to pay or receive a price 
differential on or before a given expiry date. 
The notional amounts of the contracts are not 
recognised on the balance sheet, regardless of 
whether they are to be paid at maturity. However, 
they are reported in a note to the financial 
statements. The accounting treatment depends on 
whether the transaction is classified as a hedging 
contract.

3.1.3.1 – Hedging transactions

A hedging transaction consists of matching an asset 
or liability and a hedging instrument to mitigate 
the risk of an adverse impact on the State’s future 
income or financial flows. Recognition of a forward 
financial instrument used in a hedging operation is 
symmetrical to the hedged asset or liability on the 
balance sheet and in the income statement.

Realised and unrealised income and expense, 
along with the cash settlements, are recognised 
in the income statement symmetrically to the 
recognition of income and expense on the hedged 
asset or liability. Changes in the value of hedging 
instruments are not recognised on the balance 
sheet, unless partial or full recognition of the 
changes ensures symmetrical recognition of the 
hedged asset or liability. The different hedging 
strategies are listed below.
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Macro-hedging swaps: The State implements this 
management strategy over the entire life of financial 
debt to reduce the average interest expense in the 
long run, in exchange for an average increase in the 
variability of this expense in the short term. 

Forward currency purchases and oil hedging 
contracts: AFT hedges foreign currencies and oil 
on behalf of other departments of the Ministry for 
the Economy, Finance and the Recovery or other 
ministries. These transactions are classified as 
hedging transactions in the State’s general account 
and the impact of the hedging is recognised 
symmetrically in the income statement for the 
hedged asset or liability.  

Since AFT does not manage the hedged assets 
and liabilities, the impact of the forward financial 
instruments is not recorded in its own financial 
statements. The notes to the financial statements 
report only contracts with external counterparties 
and their market value, along with the transactions 
conducted during the accounting period and their 
result.

3.1.3.2 – Transactions that cannot be 
classified as hedging transactions

When a transaction cannot be shown to be a 
hedging transaction, it is recognised as an isolated 
open position. Changes in the value of the relevant 
forward financial instrument are recognised on the 
balance sheet as a counterpart to an item under net 
financial expense in the income statement.

3.1.3.3 – Margin calls paid and/or received 
on forward financial instruments

Margin calls are made to secure repurchase 
agreements and forward financial instrument 
transactions to hedge against counterparty risk. 
A margin call is paid or received, depending on 
whether the value of the instrument rises or falls. 
Margin calls are recognised as claims or debts since 
the State or the counterparty must repay them.  
They are recognised for the amount corresponding 
to the change in the value of the instruments, up to 
a limit set by contract. These sums bear interest.

3.2 – Rules and methods applying to income 
statement items

3.2.1 – Recognition criterion

3.2.1.1 – Expenses

Financial expense is generated by financial debt, 
forward financial instruments and cash.

In the case of interest recognised as a financial 
expense, the prorated interest accruing to the third 
party is recognised.

Losses recorded as financial expense are 
recognised when they are realised, except in the 
case of losses on forward financial instruments used 
for hedging, which are recorded when the income 
on the hedged liability or asset is recognised, 
starting on the expiry date of the contract.

For discounts recorded as financial expense, 
the portion of the discount for the period is 
calculated using the actuarial valuation method and 
recognised.

3.2.1.2 – Income

Financial income is earned on financial debt, 
forward financial instruments and cash. 
It does not include currency translation gains from 
transactions other than those related to the State’s 
financing and cash management.

The income from such gains is recognised in the 
period when it accrues to the State, provided that 
the income for the period or the income from the 
transaction can be measured accurately.

For financial income in the form of interest, the 
prorated interest accruing to the State during the 
period is recognised.
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Currency translation gains arising from financial debts and forward financial instruments denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised: 

➜  when the gains are realised, in the case of financial debt, cash and forward financial instrument 
transactions that are not classified as hedging transactions.

➜  when the expense on the hedged liability or asset is recognised, starting on the expiry date of the 
contract, in the case of gains on forward financial instruments used for hedging.

The amortised portion of premiums calculated for the period using the actuarial valuation method is 
recognised.

II.4 – Notes

1 – Financial and non-financial debts

1.1 – Change in medium- and long-term negotiable financial debt

At 31 December 2020, financial debt stood at €1,855,648.57m, compared to €1,732,235.71m in 2019, marking 
an increase of €123,412.87m.

CHANGES IN MEDIUM- AND LONG- 
TERM NEGOTIABLE DEBT SECURITIES IN 2020  

(in €m)

OATs TOTAL 
LONG-TERM 
SECURITIES

FIXED-RATE 
OATs

VARIABLE-RATE 
OATs

Long- and medium-term negotiable debt securities  
at 31 December 2019

 1,504,510.06    227,725.65    1,732,235.71   

  - of which par value  1,489,494.50    200,264.14    1,689,758.64   

  -  of which index-linking supplements, interest,  
accrued coupons and similar debt

 15,015.56    27,461.50    42,477.06   

Change in par value(1)  129,874.00   -332.00    129,542.00   

Increases  269,386.00    20,123.00    289,509.00   

  - of which auctions   257,386.00    17,123.00    274,509.00   

  - of which syndicated  12,000.00    3,000.00    15,000.00   

Reductions  139,512.00    20,455.00    159,967.00   

  - of which redemptions  110,248.00    19,175.70    129,423.70   

  - of which buybacks  29,264.00    1,279.30    30,543.30   

Change in accrued interest and similar debt(2)  155.05   -6,284.18   -6,129.13   

Increases  15,170.61    1,495.74    16,666.35   

  - of which index-linking supplements  -  395.81    395.81   

  - of which accrued and capitalised interest   14,803.79    1,092.61    15,896.41   

  - of which accrued coupons  366.81    7.31    374.13   

Reductions  15,015.56    7,779.92    22,795.48   

- of which index-linking supplements  -      6,450.21    6,450.21   

- of which accrued and capitalised interest   14,689.11    1,321.15    16,010.25   

- of which accrued coupons  326.45    8.57    335.02   

Change in long- and medium-term negotiable  
debt securities(1)+(2)  130,029.05   -6,616.18    123,412.87   

Long- and medium-term negotiable debt  
securities at 31 December 2020

 1,634,539.11    221,109.46    1,855,648.57   

- of which par value  1,619,368.50    199,932.14    1,819,300.64   

-  of which index-linking supplements, interest,  
accrued coupons and similar debt

 15,170.61    21,177.32    36,347.93  
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1.2 – Premiums and discounts on OATs

Premiums are recorded as liabilities on the balance sheet and discounts as assets in the form of prepaid 
income or expenses to be amortised over the life of the security.

1.3 – Short-term negotiable debt securities

Fixed-rate Treasury bills (BTFs) are the instruments used for short-term borrowing. At 31 December 2020, BTFs 
represented debt of €161,608m, up by more than 51% or €54,675m compared to 2019.

AMORTISATION OF PREMIUMS AND DISCOUNTS ON OATs (in €m)

PREMIUMS

Items from “prepaid 
income”

At 31 December 
2019(1) Issue premiums(2) Amortisation of 

issue premiums(3)

At 31 December 
2020 
(1)+(2)-(3)

  - fixed-rate OATs  72,687    28,465    9,039    92,113   

  - variable-rate OATs  12,546    2,418    1,859    13,105   

Total premiums  85,233    30,883    10,898    105,218   

DISCOUNTS

Items from “prepaid 
expenses”

At 31 December 
2019(1) Issue discounts(2)

Amortisation 
expense for 
discounts(3)

At 31 December 
2020 
(1)+(2)-(3)

  - fixed-rate OATs  7,524    190    1,054    6,659   

  - variable-rate OATs  472    -    86    386   

Total discounts  7,996    190    1,141    7,045  

CHANGE IN THE PAR VALUE OF SHORT-TERM NEGOTIABLE DEBT SECURITIES IN 2020 
(in €m)

Short-term negotiable debt securities at 31 December 2019  106,933.00   

Increases  353,011.00   

  - of which auctions  353,011.00   

Reductions  298,336.00   

  - of which buybacks  -     

  - of which redemptions  298,336.00   

Change in par value  54,675.00   

Short-term negotiable debt securities at 31 December 2020  161,608.00  
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1.4 – Maturity structure of negotiable debt securities

1.5 – Market value of negotiable debt securities

1.6 – Debts assumed for third parties

SNCF-SAAD

The 2007 Supplementary Budget Act authorised 
the assumption of the SNCF’s debt in the special 
debt account (SAAD), through contracts with the 
Public Debt Fund (CDP). This debt comprised euro-
denominated loans (€6,346m) and foreign-currency 
loans (€1,515m) hedged with forward financial 
instruments.

Only one loan assumed for a third party remained 
outstanding at 31 December 2020 for the amount 
of €907.07m.

The balance of the outstanding positions at 
31 December 2020 corresponds to the debts 
presented below:

MARKET VALUE OF NEGOTIABLE DEBT 
SECURITIES AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 

(in €m)

BREAKDOWN BY MATURITY

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR IN €M

1 TO 2 YEARS 
IN €M

2 TO 5 YEARS 
IN €M

MORE THAN 5 
YEARS IN €M

Long- and medium-term 
negotiable debt securities

 1,819,300.64  117,475.00  160,353.94    469,440.12  1,072,031.58

  - fixed-rate OATs   1,619,368.50  102,354.00  140,500.94    422,122.12  954,391.44

  - variable-rate OATs   199,932.14  15,121.00  19,853.00    47,318.00  117,640.14

Short-term negotiable  
debt securities

 161,608.00  161,608.00  -  -  -

BTFs  161,608.00  161,608.00  -  -      -

Total negotiable debt 
securities 

 1,980,908.64  279,083.00  160,353.94  469,440.12  1,072,031.58

MARKET VALUE OF NEGOTIABLE DEBT SECURITIES AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in €m)

SECURITIES
VALUE EXCLUDING ACCRUED 

INTEREST
ACCRUED INTEREST TOTAL VALUE

OATs  2,233,079    16,270    2,249,349   

BTFs  161,972    -    161,972   

Total  2,395,051    16,270    2,411,321  

SNCF BORROWING AND FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ASSUMED VIA  
THE CDP AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (IN €M)

BONDS OR FORWARD  
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MATURITY 
DATES

AMOUNTS

AMOUNTS BY MATURITY
ACCRUED 
INTERESTLESS THAN 1 

YEAR
1 TO 5 YEARS 

11 August 2023  907.07    -      907.07    31.31   

Total  907.07    31.31  
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SNCF BORROWINGS AND FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ASSUMED THROUGH THE CDP
AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in €m)

INDEX-LINKED AMOUNTS
AMOUNTS BY MATURITY

ACCRUED INTEREST
LESS THAN 1 YEAR 1 TO 5 YEARS MORE THAN 5 YEARS

23,272.88 1,264.38 6,263.56 15,744.95 337.81

Total financial debt  23,610.69  

SNCF Réseau

Article 229 of the 2020 Budget Act 2019-1479 of  
28 December 2019 stipulates that:

I –    The CDP shall be authorised to contract any 
euro-denominated lending or borrowing 
with SNCF Réseau up to the limit of €25bn 
in principal to be reimbursed, including the 
specified index-linking supplements in the case 
of borrowing linked to inflation.

 II –   The State shall be authorised as of 1 January 
2020 to assume the rights and obligations 
relating to the loans contracted with the CDP 
by SNCF Réseau up to the limit of €25bn 
in principal to be reimbursed, including the 
specified index-linking supplements in the case 
of borrowing linked to inflation.

III –  The transactions carried out under the 
provisions of II of this article shall be recorded 
directly in the SNCF Réseau balance carried 
forward and shall not give rise to the 
collection of any taxes or duties of any nature 
whatsoever. 

The assumption of the debt is to be implemented 
using technical procedures that are analogous 
to the ones used in 2007 for the assumption of 
the SNCF-SAAD debt. These procedures involve 
contracting matching loans for €25bn with identical 
characteristics between the CDP and SNCF Réseau. 
The novation of one of the loan contracts, in 
accordance with the Order of 30 December 2019 
enacting the assumption of the SNCF Réseau debt 
by the State, substitutes the State for SNCF Réseau 
as the debtor to the CDP. As a result, the State 
meets the principal and interest payments each year 
under the terms of the loan contract between it and 
the CDP, and the latter does the same with regard 
to SNCF Réseau. 

The off-balance sheet commitments of €25bn 
posted on 31 December 2019 were carried forward 
to 1 January 2020. The statement of debt at  
31 December 2020 can be found below:
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1.7 – Margin calls

The net amount of deposits received as a result 
of margin calls stood at €29.76m at 31 December 
2020. 

2 – Cash management

2.1 –  Investment securities

This item stood at zero on 31 December 2020. 
In the course of the year, this item corresponded 
primarily to commercial paper that the State 
bought from ACOSS. In 2020, the State purchased 
€17,500m in interest-bearing commercial paper.

2.2 – Other cash items

The bulk of these items are short-term investments 
made to optimise cash management, including 
deposits on the interbank market. These 
investments consist of very-short-term lending. 
All of the deposits on the interbank market had 
been returned on 31 December 2020. 

2.3 – Cash lines of credit

AFT has lines of credit with primary dealers worth 
a total of €6bn that it may use for the purpose of 
securing the balance on the Treasury’s current 
account with the Banque de France.

MARKET VALUE OF FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (in €m) 

FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS PAR VALUE MARKET VALUE 

Interest-rate swaps 

  Macro-hedging  1,000    25   

  Micro-hedging  -    -   

Forward currency contracts  2,209   -94   

Oil swaps  122   -11  

3 – Forward financial instruments

3.1 – Market value of forward financial instruments

3.2 – Proactive debt and cash management (macro-hedging)

Since September 2002, the programme to reduce the average life of debt through interest-rate swaps has 
been suspended due to market conditions, in particular low long-term interest rates. Consequently, no 
transactions were conducted in 2020 that increased the portfolio of swaps. Therefore, the balance on this 
item stood at €1,000m on 31 December 2020, as it did in previous years.

3.3 – Micro-hedging interest rate swaps

The amounts relate to interest-rate swaps for the assumed SNCF debt. The only loan hedged by an interest 
rate swap was a €500m loan that was paid back in 2020. Therefore, this item showed a zero balance on  
31 December 2020.
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3.4 – Foreign exchange hedging

This item relates to forward exchange transactions 
consisting of purchases or sales of foreign currencies 
at exchange rates that are fixed from the outset and 
where the period between the trade date and the 
settlement date is longer than the usual two days. 
AFT conducts such transactions on behalf of others 
and they do not have any impact on these financial 
statements. 

In 2020, forward purchases of foreign currencies for 
euros settled for a total value of €744.69m against a 
total of $821.23m and CHF35m. 

The table below shows the amounts of foreign 
exchange transactions outstanding at the end of 
the accounting period: 

CLOSING 
DATES 

EUROS payable to 
Primary Dealers in 

exchange for foreign 
currency receivables 

(in millions)

US DOLLARS   
receivable from 
Primary Dealers 

and payable to final 
beneficiaries (in 

millions)

CHF receivable from 
Primary Dealers 

and payable to final 
beneficiaries (in 

millions)

Spot market value 
in €m

UNREALISED GAIN 
OR LOSS in €m 

31 December 
2019 

 2,440.78    2,831.13    35.00    2,553.19    112.42   

31 December 
2020 

 2,209.45    2,578.58    35.00    2,134.02   -75.43  

3.5 – Oil swaps

Oil swap contracts are recognised as off-balance 
sheet items by the department requesting the 
hedge and the financial transfers are carried out 
by the Finance Ministry Accounts Department. 
Therefore, they have no impact on these financial 
statements and are mentioned for informational 
purposes only. 

AFT hedges oil supplies for the Military Fuel Unit 
(SEA) at the Ministry of Defence. Since 2012, 
commodity swaps have been used for hedging, 
instead of the call options previously used. The 
swap contracts used as a hedge against oil price 
fluctuations exchange a fixed price set out in the 
contract against a variable price corresponding to 
the average market price over one month. 

There were new trades involving underlying 
purchases totalling €81.3m in 2020. 

4 – Financial expense and income

4.1 –  Financial expense on negotiable debt 
securities

Three elements make up the financial cost of the 
State’s negotiable debt securities: interest payments, 
amortisation of issue discounts and premiums, and 
index-linking supplements.

a)  Interest is prepaid at the time of issue for BTFs, or 
paid on the annual coupon dates for OATs.

The total interest expense on negotiable securities 
stood at €33,822.34m in 2020. It was €1,753.55m 
less than in 2019. The variation stems primarily from 
falling coupon yields on medium- and long-term 
bonds issued in recent years. 

b)  The issue discount or premium, which is the 
difference between the issue price and the 
par value, is the result of the difference in 
the coupon yield of the bond and the yield 
demanded at the time of issue. Amortisation of 
the premium or discount is recognised in the 
income statement over the life of the bond. The 
total financial expense (amortisation and coupon 
payments) corresponds to the yield demanded 
at the time of issue (see 3.1.2.2 – Accounting 
principles and methods).
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Amortisation of premiums and discounts resulted 
in net financial income of €9,757.34m in 2020. This 
marks an increase of €1,743.68m compared to the 
equivalent income in 2019. The increase results 
in part from the large issue premiums recorded 
in recent years, which increased the stock of 
premiums to be amortised. 

c)  The index-linking income or expense 
corresponds to the variation in the principal 
amount to be redeemed, which depends on 
changes in an index. The two indices used for 
government bonds are the French consumer 
price index excluding tobacco and the euro area 
consumer price index. (NB: Index linking means 
that the yields at issue of such bonds are lower 
than those of other bonds. Index-linked yields 
are “real” yields that do not include the inflation 
premium of nominal yields.) 

Net index-linking expense stood at +€781.64m 
in 2020, which corresponds to net income. This 
expense continued to diminish, shrinking by 
€2,569.86m with the impact of the COVID-19 crisis. 

4.2 – Commission and fees related to debt 
management 

This item records syndication commission 
paid to the primary dealers that are members 
of syndicates. This commission is amortised 
over the life of syndicated bonds. This item also 
includes fees charged by Euroclear, which is the 
depositary for the securities issued by the State, and 
communication expenses directly related to debt 
management. 

4.3 – Interest income and interest expense on 
the current account with the Banque de France

The State holds a single account with the Banque 
de France, which is broken down into different 
operating accounts. The Banque de France pays the 
State interest on the daily balance on the current 
account. The European Central Bank’s Decision 
(EU) 2019/670 and Guideline (EU) 2019/671 of  
9 April 2019 defined the following procedures for 
the remuneration of general government entities’ 
deposits with national central banks: 

➜  Below a jointly defined threshold, the rate of 
remuneration for overnight deposits is the euro 
overnight index average (EONIA), which will be 
replaced by the euro short-term rate (€STR) in 
2022.

➜  Deposits in excess of a jointly defined 
threshold not exceeding 0.04% of GDP are 
remunerated at 0% on any day in the year. If 
the deposit facility rate is negative, it will be 
applied to these deposits. 

➜  If the market rate indicated in the first item 
above is lower than the rate applied under the 
terms of the second item above, all deposits 
shall be remunerated at the market rate. 

Since 1 July 2019, the daily balance on the State’s 
single account with Banque de France has earned 
the unsecured overnight market rate up to a 
threshold of €819.8m in 2020. The net expense 
relating to interest on the Banque de France 
account stood at €848.29m in 2020.

II.5 – Events since closing

None.



82  I  AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT   AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT  I  83 

KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

Statistical  
report

➜ NON-RESIDENT HOLDINGS
Source: Banque de France

IN% AT YEAR-END 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Total securities 67.0% 64.0% 61.9% 63.5% 63.6% 61.9%

Medium-and long-term 
issuance (BTANs & OATs) 

64.2% 61.8% 60.7% 61.5% 61.5% 60.0%

Short-term issuance (BTFs) 83.9% 79.6% 72.0% 79.9% 82.1% 82.8%

IN% AT YEAR-END 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total securities 58.3% 54.6% 52.7% 53.6% 50.1%

Medium-and long-term 
issuance (BTANs & OATs) 

56.3% 52.2% 50.3% 51.8% 48.8%

Short-term issuance (BTFs) 88.6% 90.4% 91.5% 87.1% 68.1%

NEGOTIABLE STATE DEBT

NEGOTIABLE STATE DEBT 

Outstanding, residual maturity and non-resident holdings

➜ NEGOTIABLE STATE DEBT 
Source: AFT, Banque de France

Amounts at year-end 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Outstanding debt (in €m) 1,228,971 1,312,980 1,386,154 1,457,220 1,527,562

Medium-and long-term issuance (BTANs 
& OATs) 

1,041,833 1,135,184 1,219,554 1,283,377 1,352,277

   - of which index-linked securities(1) 159,433 165,914 173,030 173,660 189,258

Short-term issuance (BTFs) 187,138 177,796 166,600 173,843 175,285

Outstanding interest rate swaps (in €m) 15,562 12,500 10,450 6,900 5,800

Residual maturity (before swaps) 
7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 6 years

68 days 57 days 37 days 5 days 363 days

Residual maturity (after swaps)
7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 6 years

60 days 52 days 34 days 2 days 362 days
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Amounts at year-end 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Outstanding debt (in €m) 1,576,372 1,620,597 1,686,112 1,756,400 1,822,805 2,001,014

Medium-and long-term issuance (BTANs 
& OATs) 

1,423,699 1,486,672 1,559,639 1,643,500 1,715,872 1,839,406

   -  of which index-linked securities(1) 190,390 199,528 201,742 219,584 226,396 220,054

Short-term issuance (BTFs) 152,673 133,925 126,473 112,900 106,933 161,608

Outstanding interest rate swaps (in €m) 5,800 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Residual maturity (before swaps) 
7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 8 years 8 years 

47 days 195 days 296 days 336 days 63 days 73 days 

Residual maturity (after swaps) 
7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years 8 years 8 years 

47 days 195 days 296 days 336 days 63 days 73 days 

Non-resident holdings (%) 61.9% 58.3% 54.6% 52.7% 53.6% 50.1%

(1)  For these securities, the outstanding debt on a given date is equal to the par value multiplied by the index-linking coefficient for that date;  
at end-2020, the index-linking commitment stood at €20.1bn.

Negotiable debt outstanding 

Par value: €1,980.9bn at end-2020 (up by €184.2bn 
compared with end-2019): 

Par value with index-linking supplement: €2,001.0bn 
at end-2020 (up by €178.2bn compared with  
end-2019) including: 

➜  €1,839.4bn in medium- and long-term debt 
(OATs) 

➜  €161.6bn in short-term debt (BTFs)

Renewal of medium- and long-term debt 

Renewal in 2020 of 9.5% of the debt outstanding at 
end-2019

(€160bn redeemed or bought back out of €1,690bn 
outstanding at end-2019) 

Average residual maturity

8 years and 73 days at end-2020 

Swaps

€1bn outstanding at end-2020 

The swaps programme was still suspended. 

Non-resident holdings 

50.1% at end-2020

NEGOTIABLE STATE DEBT FIGURES
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Redemptions in 2020 

Fixed-rate securities: €110.2bn in redemptions (par 
value) 

Index-linked securities: €20.2bn + €5.6bn in index-
linking supplements 

Issuance in 2020

34 auctions in 2020 

Three syndicated issues (for the inaugural issuance of 
the new OAT 0.75% 25 May 2052, OAT 0.50% 25 May 
2040 and OATi 0.10% 1 March 2036)

Fixed-rate securities: €269.4bn (par value) 

Index-linked securities: €20.1bn (par value) 

Average bid-to-cover ratio:* 2.18 
* Bid amount to amount auctioned, before non-competitive tenders 

Buybacks in 2020

€29.5bn (par value)

MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEBT FIGURES

NEW BONDS ISSUED IN 2020 

TWO NEW FIXED-RATE MEDIUM-TERM OATs 

2 years OAT 0.00% 25 February 2023 

5 years OAT 0.00% 25 February 2026 

THREE NEW FIXED-RATE LONG-TERM OATs 

10 years OAT 0.00% 25 November 2030 

20 years OAT 0.50% 25 May 2040 

30 years OAT 0.75% 25 May 2052 

TWO NEW INDEX-LINKED OATs 

Euro area OAT€i 0.10% 1 March 2026 

France OATi 0.10% 1 March 2036

AVERAGE YIELD AT ISSUE OF FIXED-RATE SECURITIES

AGGREGATE 10-YEAR MATURITIES 

2020 -0.13% -0.12%

2019 0.11% 0.23%

2018 0.53% 0.81%

2017 0.65% 0.83%

2016 0.37% 0.48%

2015 0.63% 0.93%

2009–2014 average 2.17% 2.84%

1998–2008 average 4.15% 4.44%

Medium- and long-term debt



86  I  AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT   AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT  I  87 

KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

175

200

150

125

100

75

25

50

0

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2034 2035 2036 2038 2039 2040 2041 2045 2047 2048 2050 2052 2055 2060 2066

➜ BREAKDOWN OF MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEBT AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
Par value, in €bn 
Source: AFT

  Fixed-rate securities 
 Issued in 2020
  Index-linked securities 
 Issued in 2020  
 Green OAT 
 Issued in 2020

OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS AND FLOWS OF MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEBT 

IN €M 

PAR VALUE 

FIXED-RATE 
SECURITIES 

INDEX-LINKED 
SECURITIES 

TOTAL 

Outstanding at end-2019(1) 1,489,494 200,264 1,689,759

Issuance 269,386 20,123 289,509

  - auctions 257,386 17,123 274,509

  - syndicated issues 12,000 3,000 15,000

Buybacks(2) 29,264 245 29,509

  - over the counter 29,264 245 29,509

  - reverse auctions – – –

Issuance net of buybacks 240,122 19,878 260,000

Redemptions 110,248 20,210 130,458

Net flows 129,874 -332 129,542

Outstanding at end-2020(1) 1,619,368 199,932 1,819,301

Source: AFT

(1) Outstanding 
amounts in par value 
issued, not including 
index-linking 
supplements, unlike the 
outstanding amounts 
shown in other tables.
(2) Excluding buybacks 
of securities maturing 
during the year, which 
are recognised as 
redemptions.
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DETAILS OF MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM SECURITIES TRADING IN 2020

IN €M 
OUTSTANDING ISSUANCE BUYBACKS OUTSTANDING

END-2019 2020 2020 END-2020 
OAT 0.00% 25/02/2021 27,342 0 10,495 16,847
OAT 3.75% 25/04/2021 37,335 0 9,028 28,307
OAT 0.00% 25/05/2021 22,259 0 2,050 20,209
OATi 0.10% 25/07/2021 7,800 0 245 7,555
OAT 3.25% 25/10/2021 38,016 0 1,025 36,991

OAT 0.00% 25/02/2022 29,253 0 2,533 26,720
OAT 3.00% 25/04/2022 46,422 0 780 45,642
OAT 0.00% 25/05/2022 31,666 0 928 30,738
OAT 2.25% 25/10/2022 38,582 0 2,425 36,157
OAT 0.00% 25/02/2023 0 16,070 – 16,070
OAT 0.00% 25/03/2023 34,487 5,328 – 39,815
OAT 1.75% 25/05/2023 41,220 5,528 – 46,748

OAT 0.00% 25/03/2024 34,068 5,771 – 39,839
OAT 1.75% 25/11/2024 37,025 1,511 – 38,536
OATi 0.10% 01/03/2025 10,508 843 – 11,351
OAT 0.00% 25/03/2025 27,797 16,821 – 44,618
OAT 0.50% 25/05/2025 38,297 1,900 – 40,197
OAT 1.00% 25/11/2025 32,638 2,673 – 35,311

OAT 0.00% 25/02/2026 0 27,435 – 27,435
OAT€i 0.10% 01/03/2026 0 5,151 – 5,151
OAT 3.50% 25/04/2026 38,595 5,607 – 44,202
OAT 0.50% 25/05/2026 35,550 4,887 – 40,437
OAT 0.25% 25/11/2026 33,124 3,751 – 36,875
OAT 1.00% 25/05/2027 31,451 4,845 – 36,296
OAT 2.75% 25/10/2027 40,753 8,561 – 49,314

OATi 0.10% 01/03/2028 10,857 1,695 – 12,552
OAT 0.75% 25/05/2028 35,344 10,363 – 45,707
OAT 0.75% 25/11/2028 34,358 5,834 – 40,192

OAT€i 0.10% 01/03/2029 5,914 3,155 – 9,069
OAT 5.50% 25/04/2029 37,681 1,938 – 39,619
OAT 0.50% 25/05/2029 33,281 3,497 – 36,778
OAT 0.00% 25/11/2029 12,327 28,138 – 40,465

OAT 2.50% 25/05/2030 41,642 7,591 – 49,233
OAT€i 0.70% 25/07/2030 13,557 2,447 – 16,004
OAT 0.00% 25/11/2030 0 27,761 – 27,761
OAT 1.50% 25/05/2031 45,948 3,159 – 49,107

OAT€i 3.15% 25/07/2032 10,585 231 – 10,816
OAT 5.75% 25/10/2032 32,162 1,897 – 34,059
OAT 1.25% 25/05/2034 25,759 10,782 – 36,541

OATi 0.10% 01/03/2036 0 4,042 – 4,042
OAT 1.25% 25/05/2036 31,286 6,315 – 37,601

OAT€i 0.10% 25/07/2036 5,695 1,694 – 7,389
OAT 1.75% 25/06/2039 20,677 6,698 – 27,375

OAT 0.50% 25/05/2040 0 9,905 – 9,905
OAT 4.50% 25/04/2041 36,152 1,406 – 37,558

OAT€i 0.10% 25/07/2047 9,460 865 – 10,325
OAT 2.00% 25/05/2048 26,409 2,350 – 28,759
OAT 1.50% 25/05/2050 24,265 7,009 – 31,274
OAT 0.75% 25/05/2052 0 18,736 – 18,736

OAT 4.00% 25/04/2055 16,583 1,478 – 18,061
OAT 4.00% 25/04/2060 14,140 2,556 – 16,696
OAT 1.75% 25/05/2066 11,712 1,285 – 12,997

AGGREGATE 289,509 29,509

non-index-linked securities 174,838 29,264

index-linked securities 114,671 245

Source: AFT
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Borrowing requirement 

€309.5bn in 2020 including: 

➜ €136.1bn in redemptions of OATs (including index-linking supplements)

➜  €178.1bn in deficit financing (excluding future expense)

Funding sources

€260.0bn in OAT issuance in 2020 (net of buybacks) 

+€49.5bn in other funding sources in 2020 including: 

➜  €27.8bn increase in Treasury correspondents’ deposits (excluding appropriations for the 
Invest for the Future programme) 

➜  €30.4bn in other funding sources (mainly issue premiums net of discounts) 

➜  €54.7bn from an increase in BTFs outstanding 

Less:

➜  €63.4bn from an increase in the cash position (negative contribution to funding sources)

STATE CASH FLOWS

in €bn 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Borrowing requirement 196.8 185.6 187.0 185.5 179.1

Redemption of medium- and long-term debt 82.9 94.9 97.9 106.7 103.8

  - par value 82.2 93.0 95.3 103.8 103.8

  - index-linking supplements paid at maturity 0.8 1.8 2.7 2.8 –

Redemption of other debts 4.1 0.6 1.3 6.1 0.2

SNCF Réseau – redemptions 

Deficit to be financed 110.1 90.7 87.2 74.9 73.6

Other cash requirements -0.4 -0.6 0.6 -2.2 1.5

Funding sources 196.8 185.6 187.0 185.5 179.1

Medium- and long-term issuance net of 
buybacks 

188.0 184.0 178.0 168.8 172.0

Funds allocated to the CDP to reduce debt – – – – 1.5

Change in outstanding short-term State 
securities 

-27.0 -9.3 -11.2 7.2 1.4

Change in correspondents’ deposits 6.0 13.4 13.4 -4.2 -1.3

Change in cash position(1) 22.1 -3.9 -2.0 7.9 -1.4

Other net cash sources 7.7 1.5 8.9 5.7 6.9

➜ STATE CASH FLOWS 
Source: AFT, DGFiP

State borrowing
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

in €bn 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Borrowing requirement 189.1 194.1 183.1 192.0 220.5 309.5

Redemption of medium- and long-term debt 116.4 124.9 115.2 116.6 130.2 136.1

  - par value 114.1 124.5 112.8 115.9 128.9 130.5

  - index-linking supplements paid at maturity 2.3 0.4 2.4 0.7 1.3 5.6

Redemption of other debts 0.1 – – – – 0.5

SNCF Réseau – redemptions 1.7

Deficit to be financed 70.5 69.1 67.7 76.1 92.7 178.1

Other cash requirements 2.0 0.1 0.3 -0.7 -2.4 -6.9

Funding sources 189.1 194.1 183.1 192.0 220.5 309.5

Medium- and long-term issues net of 
buybacks

187.0 187.0 185.0 195.0 200.0 260.0

Funds allocated to the CDP to reduce debt 0.8 – – – – –

Change in outstanding short-term State 
securities 

-22.6 -18.7 -7.5 -13.6 -6.0 54.7

Change in correspondents’ deposits 6.7 1.6 4.7 9.9 11.5 27.8

Change in cash position(1) -5.2 4.6 -9.2 -11.1 -5.7 -63.4

Other net cash sources 22.4 19.7 10.0 11.8 20.6 30.4

(1) Including short-term investment; a positive value indicates a reduction in the amount outstanding.

➜ STATE BORROWING REQUIREMENT 
In €bn 
Source: AFT, DGFiP
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

DEBT SERVICE FIGURES 

➜ COST OF NEGOTIABLE DEBT SERVICE (OATs AND BTFs)
Implied yield (cost for the year as a % of the outstanding debt at the beginning of the year)
Source: AFT

 Cash basis accounting 
  Accrual basis accounting 

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

3.0%

2.5%

1.5%

2.0%

1.0%
20112010 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 20202012

1.7%

1.3%

Cash basis accounting 

€36.2bn in net cost charged to the “cost of State 
debt service and cash management” programme in 
2020, including: 

➜  €34.2bn for negotiable State debt

➜  €2.3bn decrease compared to the Initial 
Budget Act (€38.1bn) 

➜  €4.5bn decrease compared to the 2019 
outturn (€40.3bn euros)

Accrual basis accounting

Net expense of €23.3bn in 2020 for negotiable 
State debt alone (excluding cash and assumed 
debt), including: 

➜  €34.7bn for accrued interest on OATs 

➜ −€0.8bn for index-linking expenses 

➜  −€9.8bn for issue premiums and discounts 
(reduction in debt service costs) 

➜ −€0.8bn for interest on BTFs
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

COST OF STATE DEBT SERVICE AND CASH MANAGEMENT – CASH BASIS ACCOUNTING 

in €m 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Negotiable debt 
– net expense(1) 39,801 45,502 45,182 43,778 42,193 41,094 40,301 40,541 40,378 38,998 34,230

OATs and 
BTANs – net 
interest 
payments 

36,505 39,924 41,339 41,849 41,118 40,896 41,041 39,087 37,753 36,898 34,729

  - interest paid 39,330 42,897 43,958 43,735 43,339 42,702 42,195 40,291 38,764 37,978 35,666

  -  accrued 
interest 
received at 
issue (−)

2,825 2,973 2,620 1,887 2,221 1,806 1,154 1,205 1,011 1,080 937

OATs and 
BTANs – index-
linking expense 

2,267 3,967 3,638 1,772 932 499 13 2,309 3,348 2,764 458

BTFs – interest 
paid 

1,029 1,611 206 158 142 -301 -753 -855 -723 -664 -957

Other expenses 
and income 

Debt assumed – 
net expense 

412 265 231 180 83 81 80 80 79 79 480

Non-negotiable 
debt 

1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Invest for the 
Future – interest 
on funds 

165 408 645 667 688 751 754 750 752 752 754

Cash 
management – 
net expense 

104 66 234 242 181 204 282 297 316 409 706

   - Expenses 248 365 309 253 205 205 282 297 316 409 706

   - Income 144 300 75 11 24 1 0 0 0 0 0

Other 20 14 9 17 14 6 30 31 16 18 32

Total expense for 
debt and cash 
management 

40,503 46,256 46,303 44,886 43,159 42,136 41,447 41,697 41,541 40,256 36,202

Interest-rate 
swaps – net 
gain 

386 322 307 208 134 145 145 25 25 26 25

   - Income 800 619 488 290 185 155 155 28 29 30 29

   - Expenses 414 297 181 82 51 10 10 4 4 4 4

Source: AFT, DGFiP
(1) Excluding fees and commissions; excluding gains/losses on buybacks.
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

COST OF NEGOTIABLE STATE DEBT – ACCRUAL BASIS ACCOUNTING

in €m 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Negotiable debt – net cost(1) 40,762 44,529 43,588 39,207 38,305

OATs and BTANs – interest and 
similar expenses

37,006 38,507 39,411 37,993 37,450

   - accrued interest 38,176 40,285 41,690 41,016 40,667

   -  amortisation of issue 
discounts (+) 

1,234 1,372 1,491 1,400 1,530

   -  amortisation of issue 
premiums (−) 

2,404 3,149 3,771 4,423 4,747

OATs and BTANs – index-linking 
expense(2) 2,642 4,412 3,618 1,106 648

BTFs – accrued interest 1,114 1,610 559 109 208

in €m 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Negotiable debt – net cost(1) 36,126 34,365 33,499 34,062 29,350 23,283

OATs and BTANs – interest and 
similar expenses

36,135 34,038 31,834 30,387 28,206 24,897

   - accrued interest 40,687 40,222 38,612 37,670 36,219 34,654

   -  amortisation of issue 
discounts (+) 

1,621 1,474 1,389 1,288 1,274 1,141

   -  amortisation of issue 
premiums (−)

6,173 7,658 8,166 8,571 9,288 10,898

OATs and BTANs – index-linking 
expense(2) 170 955 2,535 4,441 1,788 -782

BTFs – accrued interest -179 -628 -871 -765 -643 -832

Source: AFT, DGFiP
(1) Excluding fees and commissions; excluding gains/losses on buybacks.
(2) The decrease in prices means that a gain was recorded in 2020 (counted negatively as a reduction in expenses).
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BTFs OUTSTANDING 

Outstanding at end-2020: €161.6bn 

Increase of €54.7bn in 2020 

BTF ISSUANCE 

51 auctions in 2020 

€7.1bn issued per auction on 
average

Average bid-to-cover ratio* in 2020:  
2.82
*  Bid amount to amount auctioned before non-

competitive tenders 

European Central Bank 
refinancing rate

End-2019: 0.00%

End-2020: 0.00%

SHORT-TERM DEBT FIGURES

AVERAGE YIELD AT ISSUE 

AGGREGATE 3-MONTH 
MATURITIES 

2020 -0.56% -0.57%

2019 -0.58% -0.57%

2018 -0.60% -0.60%

2017 -0.62% -0.63%

2016 -0.53% -0.54%

2015 -0.19% -0.19%

2009–2014 average 0.36% 0.31%

1998–2008 average 3.15% 3.10%

BTFs OUTSTANDING AND BTF FLOWS 

in €m 

Outstanding at end-2019 106,933

Issuance in 2020 353,011

<2-month BTFs 1,625

3-month BTFs 158,717

4-to-5-month BTFs 2,710

6-month BTFs 94,658

7-to-11-month BTFs 10,491

12-month BTFs 84,810

Redemptions in 2020 298,336

<2-month BTFs 1,900

3-month BTFs 151,170

4-to-5-month BTFs 2,710

6-month BTFs 78,732

7-to-11-month BTFs 6,549

12-month BTFs 57,275

Outstanding at end-2020 161,608

Source: AFT

Short-term debt
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

➜ BTFs OUTSTANDING 
In €bn
Source: AFT

 2019
 2020

 Yield at issue of 3-month BTFs (monthly average)
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

in €m 

By month Amount bought back* 

January 2020 0

February 2020 2,000

March 2020 985

April 2020 0

May 2020 0

June 2020 873

July 2020 7,127

August 2020 4,070

September 2020 2,635

October 2020 4,355

November 2020 4,740

December 2020 2,724

* Excluding securities maturing in 2020.

* Excluding securities maturing in 2020.

Total buybacks 29,509

Maturing 2021 22,843

Maturing 2022 6,666

Fixed-rate securities 29,264

Index-linked securities 245

By bond Amount bought back* 

OAT 0.00% 25 February 2021 10,495

OAT 3.75% 25 April 2021 9,028

OAT 0.00% 25 May 2021 2,050

OATi 0.10% 25 July 2021 245

OAT 3.25% 25 October 2021 1,025

OAT 0.00% 25 February 2022 2,533

OAT 3.00% 25 April 2022 780

OAT 0.00% 25 May 2022 928

OAT 2.25% 25 October 2022 2,425

in €m 

Over-the-counter buybacks of OATs
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KEY FIGURES FOR 2020

SHORT-TERM DEBT 

CODE MATURITY OUTSTANDING (€) 

FR0126310244 BTF 6 January 2021 6,901,000,000

FR0126310251 BTF 13 January 2021 8,020,000,000

FR0126461591 BTF 20 January 2021 4,640,000,000

FR0125848673 BTF 27 January 2021 5,477,000,000

FR0126461609 BTF 3 February 2021 6,897,000,000

FR0126310269 BTF 10 February 2021 6,617,000,000

FR0126461617 BTF 17 February 2021 6,743,000,000

FR0125848681 BTF 24 February 2021 6,755,000,000

FR0126461625 BTF 3 March  2021 9,417,000,000

FR0126310277 BTF 10 March  2021 6,283,000,000

FR0125848699 BTF 24 March  2021 8,170,000,000

FR0126461658 BTF 8 April  2021 7,307,000,000

FR0126001785 BTF 21 April  2021 10,971,000,000

FR0126461666 BTF 5 May  2021 7,411,000,000

FR0126001793 BTF 19 May  2021 8,329,000,000

FR0126001801 BTF 16 June 2021 10,585,000,000

FR0126310285 BTF 14 July 2021 7,449,000,000

FR0126310293 BTF 11 August 2021 6,688,000,000

FR0126310301 BTF 8 September 2021 8,685,000,000

FR0126461682 BTF 6 October 2021 6,595,000,000

FR0126461690 BTF 4 November 2021 8,022,000,000

FR0126461708 BTF 1 December 2021 3,646,000,000

TOTAL BTFs Outstanding (€) 161,608,000,000

Residual maturity (days) 122

Breakdown of negotiable State debt  
at 31 December 2020
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MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEBT (MATURING 2021–2027) 

CODE TITLE OUTSTANDING (€) 
INDEX 
COEFF. 

PAR VALUE 
OUTSTANDING (€) 

STRIPPED 
BONDS (€) 

CAC*

Maturing 2021 118,180,760,520

FR0013311016 OAT 0.00% 25 February  2021 16,847,000,000 0 ×

FR0013140035 OAT€i 0.10% 1 March 2021 7,910,782,620(1) 1.04557 7,566,000,000 0 ×

FR0010192997 OAT 3.75% 25 April 2021 2t8,307,000,000 0

FR0013157096 OAT 0.00% 25 May 2021 20,209,000,000 0 ×

FR0011347046 OATi 0.10% 25 July 2021 7,915,977,900(1) 1.04778 7,555,000,000 0

FR0011059088 OAT 3.25% 25 October 2021 36,991,000,000 0

Maturing 2022 163,010,668,450

FR0013398583 OAT 0.00% 25 February  2022 26,720,000,000 0 ×

FR0000571044 OAT 8.25% 25 April 2022 1,243,939,990 310,888,400

FR0011196856 OAT 3.00% 25 April 2022 45,642,000,000 0

FR0013219177 OAT 0.00% 25 May 2022 30,738,000,000 0 ×

FR0010899765 OAT€i 1.10% 25 July 2022 22,509,728,460(1) 1.13382 19,853,000,000 0

FR0011337880 OAT 2.25% 25 October 2022 36,157,000,000 0

Maturing 2023 178,726,501,503

FR0013479102 OAT 0.00% 25 February  2023 16,070,000,000 0 ×

FR0013283686 OAT 0.00% 25 March 2023 39,815,000,000 0 ×

FR0000571085 OAT 8.50% 25 April 2023 10,606,195,903 5,335,565,200

FR0011486067 OAT 1.75% 25 May 2023 46,748,000,000 0 ×

FR0010585901 OATi 2.10% 25 July 2023 20,569,305,600(1) 1.13970 18,048,000,000 0

FR0010466938 OAT 4.25% 25 October 2023 44,918,000,000 440,085,000

Maturing 2024 132,211,035,820

FR0013344751 OAT 0.00% 25 March 2024 39,839,000,000 0 ×

FR0011619436 OAT 2.25% 25 May 2024 34,810,000,000 0 ×

FR0011427848 OAT€i 0.25% 25 July 2024 19,026,035,820(1) 1.06178 17,919,000,000 0 ×

FR0011962398 OAT 1.75% 25 November 2024 38,536,000,000 42,000,000 ×

Maturing 2025 162,571,687,448

FR0012558310 OATi 0.10% 1 March 2025 11,791,759,330(1) 1.03883 11,351,000,000 0 ×

FR0013415627 OAT 0.00% 25 March 2025 44,618,000,000 0 ×

FR0012517027 OAT 0.50% 25 May 2025 40,197,000,000 0 ×

FR0000571150 OAT 6.00% 25 October 2025 30,653,928,118 2,801,064,400

FR0012938116 OAT 1.00% 25 November 2025 35,311,000,000 0 ×

Maturing 2026 154,100,000,000

FR0013508470 OAT 0.00% 25 February  2026 27,435,000,000 0 ×

FR0013519253 OAT€i 0.10% 1 March 2026 5,151,000,000(1) 0.99614 5,151,000,000 0 ×

FR0010916924 OAT 3.50% 25 April 2026 44,202,000,000 0

FR0013131877 OAT 0.50% 25 May 2026 40,437,000,000 0 ×

FR0013200813 OAT 0.25% 25 November 2026 36,875,000,000 0 ×

Maturing 2027 109,252,914,400

FR0013250560 OAT 1.00% 25 May 2027 36,296,000,000 0 ×

FR0011008705 OAT€i 1.85% 25 July 2027 23,642,914,400(1) 1.11734 21,160,000,000 0

FR0011317783 OAT 2.75% 25 October 2027 49,314,000,000 61,943,600

(1) Par value × indexation coefficients at 31 December 2020 (par value if coefficient is less than 1) 
*CAC: Like all euro area bonds, bonds issued after 1 January 2013 have collective action clauses (CACs), which means that they are not fungible 
with bonds issued prior to that date.
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TOTAL MEDIUM- AND 
LONG-TERM DEBT 

Outstanding (present value) 1,839,406,134,752

Outstanding (par value) 1,819,300,643,672
Stripped bonds outstanding  

(par value) 58,408,459,600

Strippable bonds outstanding 
(par value) 1,819,254,411,069

Residual maturity (days) 3,245 8 years and 325 days 

Total debt Outstanding (present value) 2,001,014,134,752
Outstanding (par value) 1,980,908,643,672
Residual maturity (days) 2,993 8 years and 73 days

MEDIUM- AND LONG-TERM DEBT (MATURING IN 2028 AND LATER) 

CODE TITLE OUTSTANDING (€) 
INDEX 
COEFF. 

PAR VALUE 
OUTSTANDING (€) 

STRIPPED 
BONDS (€) 

CAC

Maturing 2028 98,946,388,330

FR0013238268 OATi 0.10% 1 March 2028 13,017,679,200(1) 1.03710 12,552,000,000 0 ×

FR0000571226 OAT zero coupon 28 March 2028 29,709,130(3) 46,232,603 –

FR0013286192 OAT 0.75% 25 May 2028 45,707,000,000 0 ×

FR0013341682 OAT 0.75% 25 November 2028 40,192,000,000 0 ×

Maturing 2029 137,919,093,961

FR0013410552 OAT€i 0.10% 1 March 2029 9,123,323,310(1) 1.00599 9,069,000,000 0 ×

FR0000571218 OAT 5.50% 25 April 2029 39,618,880,458 2,302,646,100

FR0013407236 OAT 0.50% 25 May 2029 36,778,000,000 0 ×

FR0000186413 OATi 3.40% 25 July 2029 11,933,890,193(1) 1.29926 9,185,144,000 0

FR0013451507 OAT 0.00% 25 November 2029 40,465,000,000 0 ×

Maturing 2030 93,768,272,520

FR0011883966 OAT 2.50% 25 May 2030 49,233,000,000 0 ×

FR0011982776 OAT€i 0.70% 25 July 2030 16,774,272,520(1) 1.04813 16,004,000,000 0 ×

FR0013516549 OAT 0.00% 25 November 2030 27,761,000,000 0 ×

Maturing 2031 49,107,000,000

FR0012993103 OAT 1.50% 25 May 2031 49,107,000,000 51,900,000 ×

Maturing 2032 48,036,514,920

FR0000188799 OAT€i 3.15% 25 July 2032 13,977,192,320(1) 1.29227 10,816,000,000 0

FR0000187635 OAT 5.75% 25 October 2032 34,059,322,600 10,851,757,400

Maturing 2034 and later 393,575,296,880

FR0013313582 OAT 1.25% 25 May 2034 36,541,000,000 0 ×

FR0010070060 OAT 4.75% 25 April 2035 29,004,000,000 4,164,737,000

FR0013524014 OATi 0.10% 1 March 2036 4,042,000,000(1) 0.99388 4,042,000,000 0 ×

FR0013154044 OAT 1.25% 25 May 2036 37,601,000,000 0 ×

FR0013327491 OAT€i 0.10% 25 July 2036 7,596,187,560(1) 1.02804 7,389,000,000 0 ×

FR0010371401 OAT 4.00% 25 October 2038 26,534,000,000 4,686,841,400

FR0013234333 OAT 1.75% 25 June 2039 27,375,000,000 0 ×

FR0013515806 OAT 0.50% 25 May 2040 9,905,000,000 0 ×

FR0010447367 OAT€i 1.80% 25 July 2040 14,301,275,820(1) 1.19706 11,947,000,000 0

FR0010773192 OAT 4.50% 25 April 2041 37,558,000,000 5,960,299,000

FR0011461037 OAT 3.25% 25 May 2045 25,824,000,000 1,028,810,000 ×

FR0013209871 OAT€i 0.10% 25 July 2047 10,770,833,500(1) 1.04318 10,325,000,000 0 ×

FR0013257524 OAT 2.00% 25 May 2048 28,759,000,000 649,900,000 ×

FR0013404969 OAT 1.50% 25 May 2050 31,274,000,000 112,300,000 ×

FR0013480613 OAT 0.75% 25 May 2052 18,736,000,000 241,000,000 ×

FR0010171975 OAT 4.00% 25 April 2055 18,061,000,000 9,353,518,000

FR0010870956 OAT 4.00% 25 April 2060 16,696,000,000 8,743,304,100

FR0013154028 OAT 1.75% 25 May 2066 12,997,000,000 1,269,900,000 ×



NP  I  AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT   AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT  I  101 

SYNDICATED  
 BOND ISSUES 
SINCE 2010
➜  08 July 2020:

Syndicated issue of the OATi 
0.10% 1 March 2036 

➜ 27 May 2020:
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
0.50% 25 May 2040 

➜ 28 January 2020: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
0.75% 25 May 2052 

➜ 19 February 2019:
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
1.50% 25 May 2050

➜ 26 June 2018:
Syndicated tap issue of the OAT 
1.75% 25 June 2039 (Green OAT) 

➜ 28 March 2018:
Syndicated issue of the OAT€i 
0.10% 25 July 2036

➜ 16 May 2017: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT 1.75% 
25 May 2048

➜ 24 January 2017:
Syndicated issue of the OAT 1.75% 
25 June 2039 (Green OAT) 

➜ 28 September 2016: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT€i 
0.10% 25 July 2047 

➜ 12 April 2016: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
1.25% 25 May 2036 and the OAT 
1.75% 25 May 2066 

➜ 11 June 2014: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT€i 
0.70% 25 July 2030

➜ 26 March 2013:
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
3.25% 25 May 2045

➜ 9 February 2011: 
Syndicated issue of the OAT€i 
1.85% 25 July 2027 

➜ 10 March 2010:
Syndicated issue of the OAT 
4.00% 25 April 2060.

P
articipants compete in the auction on an equal footing through 
a transparent system of open bidding according to a planned 
issuance programme. The bid price system consists of supplying 
securities at the bid price or the effective bid rate as opposed to 

the marginal price or rate. This type of auction is known as an “auction 
with several prices and sealed prices”. The highest bids are served first, 
followed by lower bids and so on, up to AFT’s target amount. Participants 
pay different prices that are equal to their different bid prices.

BID PRICE AUCTIONS

Issuance  
techniques

T
he principal method of issuing French government securities 
since 1985 has been the bid price system (known as the Dutch 
method in France). Nowadays, issuance through bank syndicates 
is used only in special circumstances.

PROCEDURES

SYNDICATED ISSUES

➜  Auction announcements: For BTF auctions, AFT announces one business day prior 
to the auction the upper and lower limits on the amounts it intends to issue of each 
security designated in the quarterly calendar for BTF issues. For OAT auctions, AFT 
announces four days prior to auction the securities concerned and an upper and 
lower limit. 

➜  The running of auctions: Bids from participants (primary dealers) may be sent to 
the Banque de France up to auction time (10:50am for auctions of medium- and 
long-term OATs, 11:50am for auctions of inflation-indexed securities and 2:50pm 
for auctions of BTFs). The Banque de France delivers the bids to AFT, withholding 
the names of the bidders. AFT then determines the amount bid. AFT serves all of the 
bids over the price limit in OAT auctions or all of the bids under the yield limit in BTF 
auctions. It may proportionately reduce bids at the price limit or yield limit. 

➜  Publication of prices: Auction results are immediately announced to the bidders, 
displayed on the specialised agencies’ screens and posted to the AFT website. 
These disclosures report the quantities requested, the quantities served, the 
marginal price for each security (or marginal rate for BTFs) and the weighted 
average rate for the various securities auctioned.

B
ought deals, which are another issuance technique, are usually 
conducted by syndication. This is a specific commitment 
between a syndicate of banks and the issuer to buy securities for 
an agreed price. 

This technique is used to issue innovative securities or securities on less 
deep market segments, such as the market for very long maturities. 

Fact sheets



102  I  AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT   AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT  I  103 

FACT SHEETS

Proactive debt  
management

A
FT can carry out over-the-counter (OTC) 
buybacks and reverse auctions to pre-
finance future issuance programmes, 
thereby spreading the amounts to be 

issued over time more evenly. AFT factors in market 
conditions when doing so: buying back securities 
on the market depends on their liquidity and price. 
AFT publishes a monthly report on the amounts of 
each security bought back during the month. 

In 2020, AFT bought back €29.5bn in securities 
maturing in 2021 and 2022.

T
he goal is to replace the oldest securities, 
which are often the least liquid, with 
securities with stronger market demand. 
Such swaps are conducted via auctions or 

syndicated deals by offering newly issued securities 
in exchange for older securities that are then retired. 

The last swap was held on 4 December 2008. It 
entailed swapping OATs 4% 25 October 2038 for 
OATs 5.75% 25 October 2032. A total of €1.367bn in 
OATs 2038 were issued and €1.129bn in OATs 2032 
were bought back.

S
ince 2001, AFT has managed the average 
residual maturity of debt. This maturity 
has been fairly long as a natural result of 
the requirement that each issue be liquid, 

growing demand from investors for very long 
maturities and refinancing risk management. When 
the yield curve is clearly normal, with higher yields 
on the longer maturities and lower but more 
volatile yields on the shorter ones, reducing average 
maturity should help reduce the cost of debt service 
in the long run, all else being equal. On the other 
hand, this cost will be more variable. 

The aim of reducing the average residual maturity 
of debt is to strike a balance between lower interest 
expense and greater variability of this expense. Such 
a reduction should be implemented gradually over 
one economic cycle or longer, since interest rates 
vary according to economic conditions. 

The cumulative gains from the interest-rate swaps 
programme came to €4.36bn between 2002 and 
the end of 2020, including €4.33bn in realised 
income on completed swaps and €0.03bn in 
unrealised income based on the market value of the 
swap open position. 

At end-2020, this strategy was still suspended. The 
interest-rate swaps programme may nevertheless 
be revived if warranted by market conditions.

AFT can intervene on the secondary markets in several ways.

BUYBACKS INTEREST-RATE SWAPS

SECURITIES SWAPS
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E
very Friday at 11am, AFT announces the BTFs 
that will be auctioned the following Monday. 
The announcement includes the amounts 
to be auctioned with an upper and lower 

limit for each BTF to ensure that there is sufficient 
flexibility to meet demand. 

Bids of at least €1m are expressed as a money-
market straight-line yield to three decimal places, 
with ticks of 0.5 basis points, and as the exact 
number of days out of 360 (ACT/360). BTFs are 
discounted Treasury bills. The pro-rated discount is 
applied to the par value of the bill when the bill is 
issued. Therefore, no coupon payments are made. 

As of Monday 6 October 2014, settlement of BTF 
auctions has been at T+2 to bring primary market 
settlement dates into line with secondary market 
settlement dates.

B
TF purchases on the secondary market are 
governed by the same rules that govern 
primary market purchases. Trades are 
based on a money-market straight-line 

yield to three decimal places, with ticks of 0.5 basis 
points, and the exact number of days out of 360 
(ACT/360). Since 2 April 2012, the settlement date 
for BTFs on the secondary market is T+2, instead of 
T+1 as before.

BTFs
Fixed-rate discount Treasury bills (BTFs)  

are similar to short-term Treasury bonds.  
They have an initial maturity of up to one year.

MARKET OVERVIEW

AUCTIONS

TRADING

T
he maturity of BTFs is expressed in weeks. 
The most frequently issued maturities are 
13, 26 and 52 weeks. Bills with maturities 
of 20–24 weeks may be issued as half-year 

bills and bills with maturities of 48–52 weeks may 
be issued as one-year bills.

BTFs have a par value of €1 and are issued 
every week by auction according to a quarterly 
schedule that AFT publishes in advance. This 
schedule specifies the maturities of the bills that 
will be auctioned during the quarter. Unscheduled 
issuance of certain BTFs with shorter than standard 
maturities may take place to meet the State’s cash 
requirements. A quarterly BTF, a half-year BTF and a 
one-year BTF are normally issued each week. 

On 31 December 2020, total outstanding BTFs 
stood at €161.6bn. 

To ensure the fungibility of new and existing issues, 
the maturities of new bills are aligned on those of 
previously issued bills. In 2020, the market featured 
between 22 and 24 different BTFs at any time.
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F
or the sake of simplicity, as of 1 January 2013, 
new benchmark medium-term securities 
(those with two-year and five-year maturities), 
formerly issued as BTANs, have been issued 

as OATs, as have long-term securities (those with 
maturities of eight years or longer in 2020).

OATs are now the only form of medium-term and 
long-term State borrowing. They were formerly 
used solely for long-term borrowing between 
1985 and 2012. OATs are fungible securities with 
maturities at issue of 2 to 50 years. They are 
usually issued by auction. New issues are generally 
associated with existing issues. This enables the 
State to issue new bonds at a price in line with 
the latest market prices but identical in every 
other way to the initial issue. As a result, the State 
avoids issuing too many bonds with different 
characteristics and ensures the liquidity of those 
already issued.
 
OATs have a par value of €1. The value of the 
accrued coupon is calculated on the basis of the 
exact number of days over the exact number of 
days (ACT/ACT). The maturity dates and coupon 
dates of OATs are either the 1st or 25th of the month. 
OAT trades are settled by national and international 
central securities depositories.

O
n the Friday preceding an auction, AFT 
announces the bonds to be auctioned 
on the following Thursday and the 
upper and lower limits of the total 

amount to be auctioned. Auctions of long-term 
OATs (maturities of eight years or more in 2020) are 
held on the first Thursday of the month at 10:50am 
while auctions of medium-term OATs (maturities 
of two to eight years in 2020) are held on the 
third Thursday of the month at 10:50am. Bids of at 
least €1m are expressed on the basis of price as a 
percentage of par value net of accrued interest to 
two decimal places. Since 6 October 2014, OAT 
auctions have been settled at T+2, i.e. the following 
Monday.

OATs
OATs are fungible medium- and long-term Treasury bonds  

with maturities of 2 to 50 years.

OAT AUCTIONS

INDEXED TO THE FRENCH 
CONSUMER PRICE INDEX 
(OATI)

INDEXED TO THE EURO-AREA 
CONSUMER PRICE INDEX 
(OAT€I)
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OATI GENERAL  
CHARACTERISTICS

OAT€I GENERAL 
CHARACTERISTICS

T
he State issued the first OAT linked to the 
French consumer price index (OATi) on 
15 September 1998. This innovation was 
followed in October 2001 by the very first 

issue of an OAT linked to the euro-area consumer 
price index excluding tobacco (OAT€i).

Since then, AFT has issued index-linked securities 
on a regular and transparent basis, thus creating 
two real yield curves, one linked to French inflation 
and the other to euro area inflation. Such securities 
account for around 10% of AFT’s annual issuance 
programme. 

Since 2004, OATi and OAT€i auctions are held on 
a regular basis on the same day as auctions for 
medium-term OATs, but during a separate session 
held at 11:50am. As of 2016, the optional August 
and December auctions may include issuance of 
index-linked securities. In this case, the auction is 
held on the first Thursday of the month at 11:50am. 
OATis and OAT€is are designed for all types of 
investors looking to protect the purchasing power 
of their investments, improve their asset-liability 
management or diversify their investment portfolio. 
They are intended for resident or non-resident 
institutional investors, such as insurance companies, 
pension and social welfare funds, asset managers 
and banks, as well as retail investors. 

On 31 December 2020, the par value of outstanding 
OATi issues totalled €63.0bn and OAT€i issues 
stood at €157.4bn.

T
hese bonds have a par value of €1 and 
the real coupon yield is calculated as 
a fixed percentage of the index-linked 
principal. It is established at the time of 

issue and remains fixed to maturity. The coupon 
is paid annually and calculated as follows: real 
coupon yield × par value × indexation coefficient. 
The indexation coefficient is equal to the daily 
inflation benchmark of the day divided by the base 
benchmark. The daily benchmark is calculated by 
linear interpolation between the consumer price 
index excluding tobacco (CPI) for the month M−3 
and the CPI for the month M−2, and the base 
benchmark is the daily benchmark used to calculate 
changes in the price index. The benchmark index 
used is the consumer price index excluding 
tobacco for all resident households in France, 
which is published by INSEE (France’s national 
institute of statistics and economic studies) each 
month. 

AFT calculates and publishes the daily inflation 
benchmarks and indexation coefficients on its 
website.

OAT redemption is based on the following formula: 
par value × indexation coefficient. If the daily 
inflation index at maturity is lower than the base 
benchmark, redemption at par is guaranteed.

O
AT€is are identical to OATis apart from 
the benchmark index, which is the 
Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices 
(HICP) excluding tobacco for the euro 

area. This index is published by Eurostat on a 
monthly basis.

Index-linked  
OATs

The dated date for an OAT is the starting date for calculating the first 
coupon for the said OAT, i.e. the coupon date immediately prior to the 
first date of issue for the OAT in question. For example, an OAT issued  
for the first time on 1 April of year Y, with a coupon date of 25 May Y,  
will have a dated date of 25 May of year Y-1.



106  I  AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT   AGENCE FRANCE TRÉSOR • 2020 ANNUAL REPORT  I  107 

FACT SHEETS

A
FT, in partnership with Euronext and 
the primary dealers, has established a 
secondary market where retail investors 
can easily buy and sell OATs, which are 

bonds issued by the French Republic that are 
backed by the full faith and credit of the State. 
Retail investors can purchase fixed-rate OATs with 
maturities ranging from 2 to 50 years. These bonds 
have annual coupons and are redeemable at 
maturity. Retail investors may also buy index-linked 
OATs. 

Anyone can access the OAT market. OATs offer 
private individuals numerous advantages, including 
a regular income, protection against inflation, a 
source of capital to supplement their pension 
or finance a project in the future, or a means of 
diversifying their assets.

L
ike any other negotiable security, OATs can 
be exchange traded at any time for the 
market price. The government took steps to 
modernise the OAT market in 2005 to ensure 

that it meets retail investors’ needs. The retail OAT 
market is managed by Euronext. It operates under 
the securities regulations in force and complies 
with transparency and disclosure rules. This market 
provides: 

➜  Liquidity: OATs are highly liquid. Financial institutions acting 

as market makers ensure the market, overseen by Euronext, 

remains liquid.

➜  Acceptance of orders: Orders can be placed through traditional 

or online financial intermediaries.

A
rticle 28 of Act 2017-1837 of 30 December 
2017 (2018 Budget Act) altered the 
rules of taxation for capital gains and 
investment income. Since 1 January 

2018, capital gains and investment income have 
automatically been subject to personal income 
tax at a flat rate of 12.8% under the terms of Article 
200 A(1) of the General Tax Code (CGI), plus 
social security contributions at an aggregate rate 
of 17.2%. Nevertheless, the taxpayer may choose 
to have these gains and income taxed at the rate 
corresponding to their personal income tax bracket. 
This irrevocable choice must be made when 
declaring aggregate income, in accordance with 
the provisions of Article 200 A(2) of the General Tax 
Code. 

In respect of investment income, interest on OATs 
and government bonds received by individuals 
who are residents of France for tax purposes has 
been, with some exceptions (see below), liable 
to a flat-rate tax or progressive income tax in the 
year following its receipt after being subject, in the 
year of receipt, to a non-discharging withholding 
tax (“advance payment”) of 12.8% (plus social 
contributions totalling 17.2% on investment income). 
This mandatory withholding is applied against the 
personal income tax liability for the year in which 
it was made. If the amount withheld is greater 
than the tax liability, the difference is reimbursed in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 125 A(V)(1) 
of the General Tax Code. 

The OAT market for  
retail investors

AN ORGANISED SECONDARY 
MARKET

TAX TREATMENT OF OATs
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OAT  
strips

MARKET ORGANISATION 

FUNGIBILITY RULES

T
he market for OAT strips enjoys the same 
liquidity and security as the market for 
other French Treasury securities. Stripping 
and unstripping are managed by an 

economic interest group comprising Euroclear 
France and primary dealers. This group establishes 
the rules for trading such bonds. AFT participates in 
the group in an advisory capacity. 

The primary dealers that trade on this market act 
as market makers. OAT strips are listed on the 
Euronext Paris exchange and traded on the basis of 
a discount rate expressed as an annual percentage 
calculated on the basis of 365 or 366 days (ACT/
ACT). The price is rounded up to the fourth decimal 
place as a percentage of the par value. 

Bond stripping separates coupon payments and 
bond principal redemption payments, creating 
the same number of zero-coupon bonds. This 
technique makes it possible to trade the bond 
principal and the related interest payments 
separately. 

France was the first sovereign issuer in Europe to 
authorise stripping of its bonds in 1991 and has 
become a benchmark for this type of product in the 
euro area.

On 31 December 2020, outstanding fixed-rate OAT 
strips totalled approximately €58.41bn, equivalent to 
3.21% of outstanding fixed-rate strippable bonds.

 

A
t the end of 2009, AFT introduced new 
rules for stripping and unstripping fixed-
rate OATs in response to market demand. 
The new rules introduced a new type of 

bond that makes no distinction between principal 
and interest: a “fungible zero-coupon bond”. 

Stripped OATs are then divided into a number 
of these bonds with the same par value (€0.01) 
but different maturities, modelled on cash flows 
attached to the original OAT. All bonds with the 
same maturity are fungible. They may also be 
unstripped to reconstitute the original bond or a 
synthetic bond composed of bonds from different 
OAT issues. Coupons stripped from different OATs 
are fungible if they have the same maturity. 

Like all euro area bonds, the bonds issued after 
1 January 2013 include collective action clauses 
(CACs), which means that they are not fungible with 
bonds issued prior to that date.
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AFT’s management of cash flows

A
ll of the State’s cash flows (expenditure 
and revenue), along with those of Treasury 
correspondents (primarily local and regional 
authorities and government-funded 

institutions), are centralised in a single account with 
the Banque de France. AFT is responsible for the day-
to-day management of this account.

Ensuring the State’s financial continuity in 
accordance with France’s European commitments

AFT is responsible for managing the government’s 
cash holdings. This means ensuring that the 
government has the financial resources necessary to 
meet its commitments at all times, regardless of the 
circumstances. 

Article 123 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the 
European Union (TFEU) prohibits the Banque de 
France, which holds the State’s account, from granting 
the State overdrafts. This means that the Treasury 
Account must show a credit balance at the end of 
each day. 

Cash management that meets the highest 
international standards 

France has gradually introduced a pooling 
arrangement called “centralisation” to optimise public 
cash management. This involves channelling most 
public financial flows through the Treasury Account. 
Centralisation of public cash holdings is a best 
practice recommended by international institutions, 
including the World Bank and the IMF. 

In addition to the State, the vast majority of French 
public sector entities, including local authorities, local 
and national government-funded institutions, and 
hospitals, are required to deposit their cash holdings 
with the Treasury. Some entities also deposit some or 
all of their cash with the Treasury under the terms of 
agreements. This is the case for the European Union, 
which deposits some of its funds with the French 
Treasury. All of the entities that deposit their cash with 
the Treasury are called “Treasury correspondents”. 

Treasury correspondents’ deposits are a cash resource 
for the State. They enable the State to limit its reliance 
on market financing.

Promoting centralisation of public sector cash 
holdings 

Centralisation prevents situations where some entities 
post a borrowing requirement while others post a 
cash surplus, thereby reducing the aggregate general 
government debt. This has a favourable impact on 
the yields France obtains on the market and reduces 
the State’s reliance on market financing. It provides 
absolute security for Treasury correspondents’ 
deposits. 

Using cash holdings in the taxpayers’ best interest 

AFT optimises the cost of cash holdings for taxpayers 
by ensuring that an appropriate cash balance, 
including a safety cushion, is on hand to meet 
expected expenditures. 

For this purpose, AFT constantly updates its forecasts 
of cash flows for the next 12 months. At the end 
of each day, it also forecasts the cash flows for the 
next day. All day long, AFT monitors expenditure and 
revenue in real time. 

Centralisation of public cash holdings enables AFT 
to oversee both the State’s financial flows and those 
arising from the financial activities of each Treasury 
correspondent. It relies on a dedicated information 
system that identifies each flow. 

The cash management strategy, aimed at ensuring 
optimum security for the settlement of the State’s 
financial commitments and those of the Treasury 
correspondents, generally results in a surplus on 
the Treasury Account. AFT invests this cash on the 
interbank market every day to reduce the cost of 
the surplus. These investments may take the form of 
loans or securities repurchase agreements. AFT offers 
investments to its counterparties several times a day, 
depending on market demand.
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S
ecurities issuance gives rise to issue 
premiums and discounts when there is a 
difference between the coupon yield and 
the yield demanded by the market at the 

time of issue. 

Premiums and discounts adjust for the difference 
between the coupon payments and the market 
yield at the time of issue over the life of the security.
 
If the coupon yield is greater than the market yield 
at the time of issue, the price subscribers pay at the 
time of issue is greater than the “par” value they will 
receive when the security is redeemed at maturity. 
In this case, a cash inflow corresponding to an 
“issue premium” is recognised. In the opposite case, 
an “issue discount” occurs and the State receives 
less than the par value of the security at the time 
of issue. Issue premiums and discounts affect both 
new issues and issues of off-the-run securities. 
In the case of new issues, the differential between 
the market yield and the coupon yield is determined 
by two factors. Firstly, the coupon yields of new 
non-index linked securities are rounded to the 
nearest quarter of a percentage point (increments 
of 0.25%). Generally, this means that the coupon 
yield is different from the market yield. Secondly, 
the coupon yield is always positive or zero. This 
means that negative yields at the time of issue result 
in an issue premium.

The difference in the case of off-the-run issues 
stems from the fact that the market yield at the time 
of issue rarely matches the original coupon yield, 
which was set when the security was created and 
applies for its entire life. On one hand, yields vary 
and, on the other, the residual maturity of the off-
the-run security is shorter than the original maturity. 

The downward trend in yields in recent years 
means that the State has recorded more issue 
premiums than issue discounts. A growing segment 
of the French yield curve for new issues shows 
negative yields, which automatically generate 
issue premiums. The yields at issue for off-the-run 
securities are most often lower than the original 
coupon yields on average.

The State’s financial accounts record the premiums 
and discounts on the balance sheet. They are 
shown as revenue or expenditure in the State cash 
flow statement. 

The debt service recognised in budgetary cash-
basis accounting shows only the coupon payments 
made (issue premiums and discounts have no 
impact). On the other hand, the State’s financial 
accounts and Maastricht accounts amortise issue 
premiums and discounts over the entire term to 
maturity the securities in question. This means that 
the effective financial expense recognised under 
both accounting systems corresponds to the 
market yield at the time of issuance, regardless of 
the amount of the actual coupon payments.

Issue premiums  
and discounts

https://bit.ly/2T0NaE8

learn more...
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AFT’s supervisory  
duties

G
oal: maintain risk management quality 
standards and minimise incidents. 

AFT’s internal audit and risk management system 
must comply with market standards with regard to 
negotiable debt, cash and derivatives management 
transactions as well as trades on behalf of third 
parties. The system should make it possible to spot 
problems and incidents that could disrupt debt and 
cash management transactions as early as possible, 
mitigate them and assess their impact. The scope 
of the system has also been broadened due to the 
diversity of AFT’s transactions, the payment circuits 
it uses and the growing number of international 
counterparties. 

As part of drafting the Budget Act and the 
performance indicators submitted to Parliament, 
AFT states its goal as “achieving a constant quality 
of risk management that minimises the occurrence 
of incidents”. 

Several sets of indicators have been developed to 
assess whether or not this goal is achieved.

QUALITY INDICATORS 
RELATING TO AFT’S  
AUDIT SYSTEM

INDICATORS TRACKING  
DEBT AND CASH MANAGEMENT 
TRANSACTION EXECUTION 
INCIDENTS

➜  The first sub-indicator lists the number of incidents or 
breaches of AFT’s internal rules under its general activity 
framework (authorisations, risk limits, transaction control).

➜  Five other sub-indicators are assessed by an external 
auditor (KPMG for 2020) based on a verification of the 
adequacy of AFT’s procedures, given its activities and 
related risks. The Order of 3 November 2014 relating 
to internal control in the banking sector has been the 
benchmark for the provisions applying to AFT since 2015.

➜  First sub-indicator: the number of incidents that decrease 
the balance of the Treasury Account with the Banque de 
France.

➜  Second sub-indicator: the number of incidents that 
increase the balance of the Treasury Account with the 
Banque de France.

➜  Third sub-indicator: the number of incidents with no 
impact on the Banque de France account balance arising 
from information systems and communication networks 
used to manage transactions, compliance incidents, or 
other types of incidents, such as non-compliance with 
internal operating procedures.
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AFT’s information system is the mainstay of its operational activity. 
Consequently, it must provide staff with a high level of security 
with regard to:

➜ Timely availability of information

➜  Data integrity, by preventing any deterioration of the data entered in the 
long term 

➜ The level of confidentiality appropriate to the information being handled 

Periodic audits are conducted by the State Audit Office or by 
external auditors to ensure that the system access policies 
are compliant with the general framework for AFT’s operation 
regarding the segregation of activities and the procedures for 
granting and rescinding individual access privileges. 

Cyber threats create an additional specific need for a more 
technical audit. These audits are performed by the staff of the 
Senior Defence and Security Official (SHFDS) of the Finance 
Ministry or by the National Information System Security Agency 
(ANSSI). The purpose of the audits is to verify the hardware and 
software configuration to ensure that they meet state-of-the-art 
security standards.

Information system  
security policy
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GLOSSARY

AUCTION 
The principal method of issuing French government securities 
since 1985 has been the “bid price system”. Participants compete 
in the auction on an equal footing through a transparent system 
of open bidding according to a planned issuance programme. 
The bid price system consists of supplying securities at the bid 
price or the effective bid rate as opposed to the marginal price or 
rate. 

BOND 
A bond is a recognition of debt. The State, some public sector 
entities and major corporations issue bonds. The borrower 
promises to make annual interest payments until the bond 
matures. 

COLLECTION 
Occurs when a creditor is paid back the sum borrowed. 
Collection notice: request for payment of a receivable. 

COUPON 
In the past, a coupon was a piece of paper that would be 
detached from the security in return for payment of interest 
accrued or a dividend, or during another transaction (to prove 
that the bearer had traded in the coupon). Now that securities are 
paperless, the coupon refers to bond interest or share dividends. 
Coupon payment: payment of interest or dividend. 

DEBT 
Any sum of money borrowed by an individual or legal entity 
(debtor) that must be paid back to another individual or legal 
entity (creditor). Until the debt matures, the debtor will pay the 
creditor interest (a coupon) at an agreed rate (yield) every year on 
an agreed date.

DEBT AMORTISATION 
Payment of amounts due when a security reaches maturity. 
Synonym: redemption (for the debtor); collection (for the 
creditor). 

DELIVERY 
Delivery consists of handing over a security to the buyer following 
a financial transaction or trade. 

LEAD BOOK RUNNER 
When a syndicated bond is being issued, the banks that prepare 
the bond, collect orders, allocate the bond based on supply and 
demand and set the price are known as “lead book runners”. 
There are also “co-lead book runners”, who participate in the 
bond issue, but to a lesser extent, and have fewer responsibilities. 

LIQUIDITY 
A financial instrument or market is said to be liquid when buy and 
sell transactions can be carried out without triggering excessive 
variations in price. 

LOAN 
Sum of money lent by a creditor temporarily to a debtor. 
Synonyms: borrowings, credit; receivable, asset (for the lender); 
debt, liability (for the borrower). 

MARKET MAKER 
Market makers are spot market operators who supply a price 
whenever they are contacted, regardless of the market situation. 

MATURITY 
Date of redemption established when a loan agreement is signed. 
Synonym: redemption date. 

OPTION 
A call option gives the holder the right to buy an asset at a fixed 
price at a point in the future up to a certain date. A put option 
gives the holder the right to sell the same asset under the same 
conditions. Tradable options are contracts that can be exchanged 
on regulated markets. 

PAR VALUE 
Face value of a security. A company’s share capital is X million 
euros divided into N shares with a par value of X/N euros. A bond 
has a par value of N euros: all French Treasury securities have a 
par value of one euro. 
Par bonds are bonds that have a fixed rate of interest, in contrast 
to index-linked bonds. 

PRICE
Sum of money equivalent to the market value of a good or 
service. The price is set by the interplay of supply and demand. 
Bond prices vary inversely to bond yields. 

PRIMARY MARKET 
The primary market issues new securities. It is the market for 
capital increases and bond issues. Compared to the secondary 
market, which sells “second-hand” securities, the primary market 
sells only “new” ones. 

PRINCIPAL 
Value of a bond less the coupon amounts. 

RATING 
Assessment by agencies specialising in rating the soundness of 
corporate financial statements and financial instruments issued by 
economic agents. 
Rating agency: a firm specialising in corporate credit ratings, i.e. in 
awarding scores based on the state of a company’s accounts or 
the financial instruments issued by an economic agent. 

RISK 
Risk is the possibility, which is never zero, of losing all or part of an 
asset or its equivalent monetary value. Risk is at the very heart of 
financial activity: evaluating, spreading, assuming, diversifying and 
hedging risk are all tasks involved in the settlement of financial 
transactions. The price of a bond indicates the degree of risk 
incurred by the buyer. The riskier a particular transaction is, the 
more the collateral required will increase. 
Counterparty risk: The risk that the buyer will not pay for what 
he or she has purchased, that the seller will not deliver what they 
have sold, that the borrower will not repay their loan or that the 
lender will not supply the loan funds they have promised (and for 
which they have taken guarantees). Also called default risk. 

SECONDARY MARKET 
The secondary market is the market for securities already 
in circulation (created on the primary market). By ensuring 
investments remain liquid, the secondary market guarantees 
the quality of the primary market and the valuation of 
securities. Primary and secondary markets are therefore highly 
complementary. 
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GLOSSARY

SECURITY 
A financial instrument held for investment purposes. In France, 
securities are issued in electronic form. 

SETTLEMENT 
For financial trades and transactions, settlement consists of a 
payment by the buyer or subscriber to the seller for the securities 
acquired and delivery of the securities by the seller. 

STRIPPING 
Stripping is a technique that divides a bond into as many 
securities as there are coupon and redemption payments. The 
stripped bonds created in this way are sold and listed separately 
as zero-coupon bonds. There is specific demand for this type of 
instrument, called a strip, on the French debt market. 

SWAP
An interest rate swap is based on the comparison of a 
variable interest rate and a fixed interest rate. At maturity, the 
counterparties exchange the difference in interest amounts, 
without any exchange of principal. They are particularly suitable 
for hedging long-term risk in business. The market for swaps 
has seen considerable growth and the banks play a key role in 
market-making. Corporate treasurers like the flexibility of swaps, 
which enable them to choose the duration, benchmark variable 
interest rate and the notional value. A swap between a bank 
and a company can be settled at any time by calculating the 
present value of the future fixed-rate flows at the market rate and 
comparing this to the initial notional value. Swaps are also used 
on a regular basis to hedge the interest rate risk on variable or 
fixed interest rate assets. 

SYNDICATE
Group of banks that organise and oversee a large bond issue. It 
comprises lead book runners and co-lead book runners. 

SYNDICATED ISSUE 
A syndicated issue is where a bank or a syndicate of banks buys all 
the securities to be placed with the public from the issuer. This is 
the preferred placement method for corporate issuers, as it was 
for the State until 1985.

TEC 
The daily CNO-TEC N index, with a constant maturity of N years 
(N is between 1 and 30), represents the yield to maturity of a 
fictitious OAT with a maturity equal to N. The yield to maturity is 
obtained by extrapolating the annual yields to maturity of the two 
OATs with maturities closest to N. 

TRADE 
A stock market transaction involving the exchange of a certain 
quantity of a given security at a certain price between two 
parties, each represented by a financial intermediary (investment 
company). The trade is time- and date-stamped on Euronext and 
then sent for clearing and settlement. 
Synonyms: transaction, exchange. 

TRANSACTION 
A market operation involving the exchange of a certain quantity 
of a given security at a certain price between two parties, each 
represented by a financial intermediary (investment company). 
Synonyms: trade, exchange.  

VARIABLE 
Said of an interest rate that is not constant throughout the 
duration of a contract, but which changes depending on outside 
factors, such as market rates (Euribor, Eonia) or statistical indices. 

VOLATILITY (BOND PRICES) 
Bond price volatility stems mainly from the interest-rate risk that 
affects fixed-rate bonds. The price of a bond varies inversely 
to the market interest rate. Sensitivity is even greater when the 
coupon rate and the market interest rate are low.

YIELD
Percentage used to calculate the bond coupon, expressed as a 
percentage. The yield is established when the bond is issued. It 
can be fixed or variable. If excessive, it is deemed “usurious”. 

YIELD CURVE 
The yield curve illustrates the relationship between yields and their 
maturities. The curve generally, but not always, slopes upward 
because of the risk premium (i.e. long-term yields are higher than 
short-term yields). 
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

€STR
Euro short-term rate – benchmark interbank 
interest rate calculated by the European 
Central Bank 

ACOSS 
France’s central agency for social security 
bodies  

AFT 
Agence France Trésor 

APP
Annual Performance Plan

BoE 
Bank of England 

BoJ
Bank of Japan 

BTAN
Fixed-rate French Treasury note with interest 
paid annually

BTF 
Fixed-rate French Treasury bill 

CAC 
Collective action clause 

CAC 40 
French stock market index 

CADES 
France’s Social Security Debt Repayment 
Fund 

CDP 
France’s Public Debt Fund 

CGI 
France’s General Tax Code 

CITE 
Energy Transition Tax Credit 

CLS 
CLS Group (originally Continuous Linked 
Settlement)

CPI
Consumer price index 

DAX 
Deutscher AktienindeX – German stock 
market index 

DGFiP 
France’s Directorate General of Public 
Finances

ECB 
European Central Bank 

EIB 
European Investment Bank 

EONIA 
Euro overnight index average 

ESDM 
Economic and Financial Committee’s Sub-
Committee on European Union Sovereign 
Debt Markets 

ESM 
European Stability Mechanism 

ETF
Exchange traded fund 

Fed
The Federal Reserve – United States central 
bank

FTSE 
Financial Times Stock Exchange – British 
stock market index

GDP 
Gross domestic product 

GIC 
Government of Singapore Investment 
Corporation – sovereign wealth fund 

HICP 
Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices 

ICMA 
International Capital Market Association 

IMF 
International Monetary Fund 

INRAE
France’s national institute of agriculture, food 
and environment research

INSEE
France’s national institute of statistics and 
economic studies

IOER 
Interest on excess reserves – Fed policy rate

KfW 
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau – German 
Development Bank

MLF
Medium-term lending facility

OAT 
Long-term French Treasury bond 

OECD 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development 

OPEC 
Organization of the Petroleum Exporting 
Countries 

NPISH 
Non-profit institution serving households 

PBoC
The People’s Bank of China – Central Bank 
of China 

PEPP
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme
 
RNCE 
State Accounting Standards Manual 

SAAD 
Special debt account

SAFE
State Administration of Foreign Exchange – 
Chinese sovereign wealth fund

SCN 
Department with national scope 

SEA 
Military Fuel Unit 

SHDFS 
Senior defence and security official from 
France’s Finance Ministry

SMEs 
Small and medium-sized enterprises 

SNCF 
France’s National Railway Company 

SURE
Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks 
in an Emergency – A temporary European 
Union instrument 

TEC 
Constant maturity rate

TEEC 
Energy and Ecological Transition for the 
Climate 

TELSAT 
Electronic bidding system for French Treasury 
auctions

TFEU 
Treaty on the Functioning of the European 
Union 

TLTRO 
Targeted longer-term refinancing operation

V2X 
European market volatility based on the 
EURO STOXX 50 INDEX

VIX 
Volatility Index 

VNF 
France’s Waterways Office 

WPDM
Working Party on Debt Management – annual 
meeting of OECD countries

WTI
West Texas Intermediate – price benchmark 
for the oil market

WWF 
World Wildlife Fund
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